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The $33,885,000 Sewerage System Revenue Bonds, Series 2003 S4 (the “Series 2003 Bonds”) will be dated the Date of
Delivery, will bear interest payable semiannually on June 1 and December 1 of each year, commencing December 1, 2003, at
the rates, and will mature on June 1 in the years and amounts, as detailed on the inside cover.

The Series 2003 Bonds shall be issued by the City of Milwaukee, Wisconsin (the “City”) for the purposes of financing the costs of
improvements to the City’s Sewerage System, funding the Reserve Account and paying the issuance expenses incurred in connection
with the issuance of the Series 2003 Bonds.

The Series 2003 Bonds maturing on or after June 1, 2014 are subject to optional redemption on or after June 1, 2013 at par, as
more fully described herein. (See “SERIES 2003 BONDS-Optional Redemption Prior To Maturity” herein.)

The Series 2003 Bonds will be issued only as fully registered bonds and will be registered in the name of Cede & Co. as nominee of
The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York ("DTC"). DTC will act as the securities depository of the Series 2003 Bonds.
Individual purchases will be made in book-entry form only in denominations of $5,000 principal amount or any integral multiple
thereof. Purchasers of the Series 2003 Bonds will not receive certificates representing their interest in the Series 2003 Bonds
purchased. (See "BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM" herein.)
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on a parity therewith. (See “SECURITY” herein.)
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be available for delivery to DTC on or about July 10, 2003 (the “Date of Delivery”).

Payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds when due will be insured by a municipal bond insurance policy to be issued by
Financial Guaranty Insurance Company simultaneously with the delivery of the Bonds.
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MATURITY SCHEDULE

$33,885,000
CITY OF MILWAUKEE, WISCONSIN
Sewerage System Revenue Bonds, Series 2003 S4

The Series 2003 Bonds will be dated the Date of Delivery, will bear interest at the rates shown below, payable semiannually on
June 1 and December 1 of each year, commencing December 1, 2003, and will mature on June 1 of the years and in the
amounts shown below.

Year Amount Rate Yield
2005 $1,310,000 3.00% 1.35%
2006 1,345,000 3.00 1.55
2007 1,380,000 3.00 1.94
2008 1,415,000 3.00 2.25
2009 1,455,000 4.00 2.56
2010 1,500,000 4.00 2.82
2011 1,545,000 5.00 3.08
2012 1,600,000 5.00 3.22
2013 1,655,000 5.00 3.35
2014 1,710,000 4.50 3.44
2015 1,780,000 4.50 3.62
2016 1,850,000 5.00 3.74
2017 1,925,000 5.00 3.86
2018 2,005,000 5.00 3.96
2019 2,090,000 5.00 4.06
2020 2,190,000 5.00 4.15
2021 2,280,000 5.00 4.24
2022 2,375,000 5.00 4.32
2023 2,475,000 4.375 4.53



No dealer, broker, salesperson or other person has been authorized by the City to give any information or to make any
representation other than as contained in this Official Statement in connection with the sale of these securities and, if given or
made, such other information or representations must not be relied upon. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer
to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy nor shall there be any sale of these securities by a person in any jurisdiction in
which it is unlawful for such person to make such offer, solicitation or sale. The information and expressions of opinion herein
are subject to change without notice and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall,
under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the City since the date hereof.
These securities have not been registered pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, in reliance upon exemptions contained in such

Act.
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INTRODUCTION TO THE OFFICIAL STATEMENT

The purpose of this Official Statement, including the cover page, and Appendices, is to set forth certain information concerning
the City of Milwaukee (the “City”), located in Milwaukee County, Wisconsin, and to set forth information concerning the
offering of $33,885,000 Sewerage System Revenue Bonds, Series 2003 S4 of the City, dated the Date of Delivery (the “Series
2003 Bonds™). The following information is furnished solely to provide limited introductory information regarding the Series
2003 Bonds and does not purport to be comprehensive. All such information is qualified in its entirety by reference to the
more detailed descriptions appearing in this Official Statement, including the Appendices hereto.

SUMMARY STATEMENT

The following material is supported, where required, by the detailed information and financial statements appearing in this
Official Statement, including the Appendices hereto.

Issuer: City of Milwaukee, Wisconsin.

Issue: $33,885,000 Sewerage System Revenue Bonds, Series 2003 S4.
Dated Date: Date of delivery.

Maturity: June 1 as shown below.

Amounts and Maturities:

Year Amount Year Amount

2005 $1,310,000 2015 $1,780,000
2006 1,345,000 2016 1,850,000
2007 1,380,000 2017 1,925,000
2008 1,415,000 2018 2,005,000
2009 1,455,000 2019 2,090,000
2010 1,500,000 2020 2,190,000
2011 1,545,000 2021 2,280,000
2012 1,600,000 2022 2,375,000
2013 1,655,000 2023 2,475,000

2014 1,710,000

Interest Payment Dates: Each June 1 and December 1 beginning December 1, 2003.
Denominations: $5,000 or integral multiples thereof.
Purpose: The Series 2003 Bonds are issued for the purposes of financing the costs of improvements

to the City’s Sewerage System, funding the Reserve Account and paying the issuance
expenses incurred in connection with the issuance of the Series 2003 Bonds.

Security: Principal and interest on the Series 2003 Bonds will be payable solely from and secured
by the funds pledged therefor on a parity with the City’s outstanding Sewerage System
Revenue Bonds, Series 2001 and bonds hereafter issued on a parity therewith. (See
“SECURITY” herein.)



Authority for Issuance:

Form of Issuance:

Tax Status of Interest:

Redemption Feature:

Professionals:

Delivery:

Reoffering:

Continuing Disclosure Certificate:

The Common Council of the City has authorized the issuance and sale of the Series 2003
Bonds in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 66 of the Wisconsin Statutes (the
GLAct”).

The Series 2003 Bonds will be issued in Book-Entry-Only form, fully registered in the
name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company of New York, New
York, which will act as security depository for the Series 2003 Bonds. (See “BOOK-
ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM?” herein).

Under existing statutes and court decisions and assuming continuing compliance with
certain tax covenants described herein, interest on the Series 2003 Bonds is excluded
from gross income for Federal income tax purposes pursuant to Section 103 of the Code,
as amended (the “Code”) and is not treated as a preference item in calculating the
alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporations under the Code; such
interest, however, is included in the adjusted current earnings of certain corporations for
purposes of calculating the alternative minimum tax imposed on such corporations. (See
“TAX STATUS” herein).

The Series 2003 Bonds maturing on or after June 1, 2014 are subject to optional
redemption on or after June 1, 2013 at par, as more fully described herein. (See
“SERIES 2003 BONDS-Optional Redemption Prior To Maturity” herein.)

Bond Counsel Hawkins, Delafield & Wood
New York, New York

Quarles & Brady LLP
Milwaukee, Wisconsin

Financial Advisor Robert W. Baird & Co.
Milwaukee, Wisconsin

Trustee Bank One Trust Company, National Association
Milwaukee, Wisconsin

Delivery will be on or about July 10, 2003 at the expense of the City, through the
facilities of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York.

The public reoffering prices or yields of the Series 2003 Bonds are detailed on the inside
front cover of the Final Official Statement.

In order to assist bidders in complying with the continuing disclosure requirements of
SEC Rule 15¢2-12 and as part of the City’s contractual obligation arising from its
acceptance of the successful bidder’s proposal, at the time of the delivery of the Series
2003 Bonds the City will provide an executed copy of its Continuing Disclosure
Certificate. (See “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” herein).



SERIES 2003 BONDS

THE FINANCING PLAN
The Series 2003 Bonds shall be issued by the City of Milwaukee, Wisconsin (the “City”) for the purpose of financing the costs
of improvements of any plant and equipment within or without the corporate limits of the City for the collection,

transportation, storage, treatment and disposal of sewage or storm water and surface water, including necessary lateral, main
and interception sewers.

SOURCES AND USES

Sources of Funds

Par Amount of Bonds $33,885,000.00
Net Premium 2,420,831.90
TOTAL SOURCES $36,305,831.90

Uses of Funds

Project Fund Deposits $33,049,541.88
Deposit to Debt Service Reserve Fund (DSRF) 2,813,131.25
Costs of Issuance

(including Underwriter's Discount & bond insurance premium) 443,158.77
TOTAL USES OF FUNDS $36,305,831.90

Approximately $12,000,000 of the Amount Available for Projects will be used for reimbursement of prior expenditures

THE RESOLUTIONS

By way of a Bond Resolution adopted on August 2, 2001 as amended by a resolution adopted on April 15, 2003 (the “Bond
Resolution”) and a Series Resolution adopted on March 4, 2003, the Common Council has authorized and approved the sale of
the Series 2003 Bonds including providing certain of the details and form of the Series 2003 Bonds and setting out certain
covenants with respect thereto. Pursuant to the Bond Resolution, bonds may be issued thereunder in series from time to time.
The City has issued and there are presently outstanding $29,095,000 Sewerage System Revenue Bonds, Series 2001 (the
“Series 2001 Bonds™). Bonds of all series issued or to be issued under the Bond Resolution are hereinafter referred to as the
“Bonds”.

Reference should be made to the Bond Resolution for definitions of terms not defined herein. As defined in the Bond
Resolution, “Net Revenues” means with respect to any period, the Revenues during such period less amounts required to pay
Operation and Maintenance Expenses. “Operation and Maintenance Expenses” means the costs and expenses of operating and
maintaining the Sewerage System, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing: (i) all expenses includable in the
operation and maintenance expense accounts of the City relating to the Sewerage System according to generally accepted
accounting principles, exclusive of debt service, capital expenditures, depreciation and tax equivalents; and (ii) to the extent not
included in the preceding clause (i) or paid from the Bond proceeds or otherwise, the City's share of the costs and expenses of
operating and maintaining any plants and properties jointly owned with others. “Aggregate Debt Service” means, for any
period and as of any date of computation, the sum of the amounts of Debt Service for such period with respect to all Series of
Bonds.

A summary of certain provisions of the Bond Resolution is set forth under “Summary of Bond Resolution” in Appendix D.
MATURITY AND INTEREST RATES

The Series 2003 Bonds are to be dated the Date of Delivery and will bear interest from that date at the rates, and shall mature
each June 1 in the amounts and on the dates as set forth on the inside front cover of this Official Statement. Interest on the

Series 2003 Bonds will be payable on December 1, 2003 and thereafter semiannually on June 1 and December 1 of each year
and is calculated on the basis of 30-day months and a 360-day year.



OPTIONAL REDEMPTION PRIOR TO MATURITY

The Series 2003 Bonds with principal maturity dates on or after June 1, 2014, will be subject to redemption prior to their
maturity at the option of the City on any date on or after June 1, 2013, at a price of par plus accrued interest to the date fixed
for their redemption. If less than all outstanding Series 2003 Bonds are called for redemption, the Series 2003 Bonds shall be
called in such order of maturity as shall be determined by the City. If less than all of the Series 2003 Bonds of any maturity are
called for redemption, the particular Series 2003 Bonds of such maturity to be redeemed shall be selected by lot. Notice of
redemption shall be mailed, postage prepaid, to the owners of any Series 2003 Bonds to be redeemed in whose name such
Series 2003 Bonds are registered as of a record date, which shall be 45 days prior to the redemption date.

SECURITY

Pledge of Revenues, Funds and Other Moneys

(A)  The Series 2001 Bonds and the Series 2003 Bonds will be payable on a parity with additional Series of Bonds hereafter
issued pursuant to the Bond Resolution (collectively, herein referred to as the “Bonds”). The Bonds are limited special obligations
of the City payable solely from and secured by the funds pledged therefor. There are pledged as security for the payment of the
principal and Redemption Price (if any) of, and interest on, the Bonds in accordance with their terms and the provisions of the
Bond Resolution, subject only to the provisions of the Bond Resolution permitting the application thereof for the purposes and on
the terms and conditions set forth in the Bond Resolution: (i) the proceeds of sale of the Series 2003 Bonds pending application
thereof in accordance with the provisions of the Bond Resolution or of a Series Resolution (ii) the Net Revenues, and (iii) all
Funds and Accounts held under the Bond Resolution other than (a) the Rebate Fund and (b) the Subordinate Obligation Fund,
including the investments, if any, in such Funds and Accounts; and the bondholders shall have a lien on, and a security interest in,
such proceeds, Net Revenues, and Funds and Accounts for such purpose and subject to such provisions of the Bond Resolution.
Such lien and security interest for the payment of the Bonds shall be prior and superior to the lien and security interest for the
payment of Subordinate Obligations. The Bonds are additionally secured by a mortgage lien upon the Sewerage System, which
shall be perfected by the recording of the Bond Resolution in the records of the City.

(B)  The pledge of, and lien on, and security interest in, the proceeds of the Series 2003 Bonds and the Net Revenues as received
by the City and the Funds and Accounts herein, other than the Rebate Fund and the Subordinate Obligation Fund, shall be valid
and irrevocable: (i) from and after the time that, if required by State law, a financing statement is filed with respect to such pledge,
lien and security interest as required by State law, and, upon such filing; or (ii), if no financing statement is so required by State
law, upon delivery of the proceeds of the Series 2003 Bonds, and all the Net Revenues as received by the City and the Funds and
Accounts herein, other than the Rebate Fund and the Subordinate Obligation Fund, shall immediately be subject to the lien of the
pledge without any physical delivery thereof or further act, and the lien of the pledge shall be valid as against, and prior to the lien
of, all parties having claims of any kind in tort, contract or otherwise against the City, irrespective of whether such parties have
notice thereof.

(C) The Bonds shall be equally and ratably payable and secured under the Bond Resolution without priority by reason of date
of adoption of a Series Resolution authorizing a Series of Bonds or by reason of their Series, number or date, date of issue,
execution, authentication or sale thereof, or otherwise; provided, however, that nothing in the Bond Resolution shall prevent the
City from affording any particular Series of Bonds or particular Bonds additional or different security through a support facility or
escrow funds. Bonds which are not a part of a Series for which an escrow fund, or other funds and accounts has been created to
provide additional or different security shall not be entitled to the benefits of such escrow fund, or other funds and accounts except
to the extent specifically provided in the Series Resolution authorizing such Series.

(D) The principal and Redemption Price (if any) of, and interest on, the Bonds shall be payable only from the Special
Redemption Fund and not from any funds of the City other than the Special Redemption Fund and the Bonds shall not constitute a
general obligation of the City, or create a charge upon any other revenues or property of the City, except the Net Revenues and
other moneys and securities pledged under the Bond Resolution. No holder of the Bonds shall have the right to compel the
exercise of the taxing power of the State or any political subdivision thereof, including the City, in connection with any default
with respect to the Bonds. Each Bond shall recite in substance the provisions of this subsection (D).



(E) To additionally secure the Bonds, at the time of delivery of the Series 2003 Bonds there shall be on deposit in the Special
Redemption Fund for credit to the Reserve Account therein, an amount equal to the Reserve Account Requirement for the Series
2003 Bonds which shall equal the lesser of (i) an amount equal to the maximum annual principal and interest requirements for the
Series 2001 Bonds and Series 2003 Bonds, (ii) an amount equal to 10 percent (10%) of the principal amount of the Series 2003
Bonds, or (iii) 125% of the average annual principal and interest requirements for the Series 2001 Bonds and Series 2003 Bonds.
The Reserve Account shall be additionally funded from the proceeds of the Series 2003 Bonds.

(F)  No holder of a Series 2003 Bond shall be required to see that the moneys derived from such Series 2003 Bonds are applied
to the purpose or purposes for which such Bond is issued. The validity of the Series 2003 Bonds shall neither be dependent upon
nor affected by the validity or regularity of any proceedings relating to the acquisition, purchase, construction, reconstruction,
improvement, betterment or extension of the Sewerage System nor the use and application of the proceeds of the Series 2003
Bonds. The Series 2003 Bonds shall contain a recital that they are issued pursuant to the Act, which recital shall be conclusive
evidence of their validity and of the regularity of their issuance.

COVENANTS TO SECURE THE BONDS

The City, in the Bond Resolution, covenants and agrees with the holders of all Bonds, including the Series 2003 Bonds issued
pursuant to the Bond Resolution, and to the extent provided in a Series Resolution, all support facility providers, as follows:

Rates and Charges

(A) The City shall fix, charge and collect such Sewerage Services Charges as shall be required in order that in each Fiscal
Year the Net Revenues shall be not less than the Net Revenue Requirement for such Fiscal Year. The failure in any Fiscal
Year to comply with the foregoing rate covenant in this paragraph (A) shall not constitute an event of default if the City shall
comply with the Bond Resolution as described in paragraph (B) below. “Net Revenue Requirement” means with respect to any
Fiscal Year or any period, an amount equal to the greater of: (i) the sum of (a) the Aggregate Debt Service in such Fiscal Year
or such period and (b) the Required Deposits for such Fiscal Year or such period; or (ii) 1.20 times the Aggregate Debt Service
in such Fiscal Year or such period plus 1.20 times the aggregate Support Facility Reimbursement Obligations outstanding as of
the end of such Fiscal Year or such period.

(B) Prior to the end of each Fiscal Year, the Commissioner of Public Works of the City shall complete a review of the
financial condition of the Sewerage System for the purpose of estimating whether the Net Revenues for such Fiscal Year and
for the next succeeding Fiscal Year will be sufficient to comply with the rate covenant described in paragraph (A) above and
shall by a Written Certificate of the City make a determination with respect thereto. Such review shall take into consideration
the completion of any uncompleted improvement and the issuance of future Series of Bonds if necessary to finance the
completion of such improvements. Such Written Certificate shall set forth a reasonably detailed statement of the actual and
estimated revenues, operation and maintenance expenses, aggregate debt service, and any other estimates or assumptions upon
which such determination was based, and shall be filed with the City Clerk on or before July 1 in each year. If it is determined
in such Written Certificate that the Revenues may not be so sufficient, the Commissioner of Public Works of the City shall
forthwith make a study for the purpose of determining a schedule of Sewerage Service Charges which, in the opinion of the
Commissioner of Public Works, will cause sufficient Revenues to be collected in the following Fiscal Year to comply with
such rate covenant described in paragraph (A) above and will cause additional Revenues to be collected in such following and
later Fiscal Years sufficient to eliminate the amount of any deficiency at the earliest practicable time, or the Commissioner of
Public Works may elect to cause the Consulting Engineer to make such a study and render such opinion. The Common
Council of the City shall as promptly as practicable but no later than the one hundred twenty (120) days following such
determination by the Commissioner of Public Works, or receipt of the Consulting Engineer's recommendation, adopt and place
in effect a schedule of Sewerage Service Charges as described in this paragraph (B). The Commissioner of Public Works of
the City filed the Written Certificate with the City Clerk in July 2002 and evidenced compliance with the rate covenant
described in paragraph (A) above.



Service to the City

The reasonable cost and value of services rendered to the City by the Sewerage System by furnishing sewer services for public
purposes, shall be charged against the City and shall be paid by it in quarterly installments as the service accrues, out of the
current revenues of the City collected or in the process of collection, exclusive of the revenues derived from the Sewerage
System and out of the tax levy of the City made by it to raise money to meet its necessary current expenses. It is found and
determined in the Bond Resolution that the reasonable cost and value of such service to the City in each Fiscal Year shall be
the amount necessary in the Fiscal Year which, together with the other revenues of the Sewerage System, will produce Net
Revenues in each Fiscal Year equal to not less than 1.00 times the maximum aggregate Debt Service on the Bonds then
outstanding plus 1.00 times the aggregate Support Facility Reimbursement Obligations then outstanding. However, such
payment out of the tax levy shall be subject to (a) approval of the Public Service Commission, or successors to its function, if
necessary, (b) yearly appropriations therefor and (c) applicable levy limitations, if any; but neither the Bond Resolution nor
such payment shall be construed as constituting an obligation of the City to make any such appropriation over and above the
reasonable cost and value of services rendered to the City and its inhabitants or make any subsequent payment over and above
such reasonable cost and value. Such compensation for such service rendered to the City shall, in the manner provided above,
be paid into the Revenue Fund created by the Bond Resolution.

FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS

Establishment of Funds and Accounts

(A) There was created under the Bond Resolution a special fund known as the "Sewerage System Revenue Fund" (the
"Revenue Fund") into which all Revenues collected by the City have been and shall be deposited, from which the Revenues
shall be appropriated and expended for operating expenses of the Sewerage System, other purposes of the Sewerage System,
and in which certain working capital and operating reserves for purposes of the Sewerage System have been and shall be
maintained. The Revenue Fund is considered to be a fund held under the Bond Resolution for purposes of the pledge made in
Bond Resolution.

(B) There was created and established under the Bond Resolution the following additional funds of the City to be
maintained so long as any Bonds are outstanding:

(D) Operation and Maintenance Fund;
) Rebate Fund;

3) Sewerage System Special Redemption Fund (the "Special Redemption Fund") and Reserve Account
therein;

@) Subordinate Obligation Fund; and
5) Surplus Fund.

The Operation and Maintenance Fund, the Sewerage System Special Redemption Fund and Reserve Account therein and the
Surplus Fund are considered to be funds held under the Bond Resolution for purposes of the pledge made in the Bond
Resolution.

(C) There was also created a special fund known as the "Sewerage System Construction Fund" (the "Construction Fund")
into which the proceeds of revenue bonds of the City issued to pay the costs of improvements specified to be expended from
such Fund. The Construction Fund is considered to be a fund held under the Bond Resolution for purposes of the pledge made
in the Bond Resolution.



Flow of Funds

(A) Revenues shall be collected by the City and deposited, as soon as practicable, into the Revenue Fund. From the amounts
deposited in the Revenue Fund, the City shall transfer to the Operation and Maintenance Fund sufficient moneys to pay the
current operation and maintenance expenses of the Sewerage System, transfer to the Rebate Fund such amount as is necessary
to pay the rebate amount due the United States Treasury Department under Section 148 of the Code, if any, or to set aside as a
reserve for such payment and make the transfers to other Funds and Accounts as provided in subsection (B) of Section 6.02 of
the Bond Resolution.

(B) In each month, the City, after making the transfer, if any, to the Operating and Maintenance Expenses for such month
and setting aside an amount sufficient to pay the Operating and Maintenance Expenses expected to be incurred for the balance
of such month and making the transfer, if any, to the Rebate Fund as provided in the Bond Resolution, shall retain, apply or
transfer on the fifth (5th) day prior to the end of each month, unless otherwise described below, a sufficient amount of moneys
in the Revenue Fund in the following order of priority:

(1) To the Special Redemption Fund, if and to the extent required so that the balance therein shall equal
the Accrued Debt Service for all Bonds outstanding and the interest accrued on all Bond Anticipation Notes
outstanding on said date;

2) To the Reserve Account in the Special Redemption Fund, if and to the extent required by a Series
Resolution either (i) an amount such that the balance in the Reserve Account shall equal the Reserve Account
Requirement on said date, or (ii) an amount such that if the same amount were deposited in each month the amount of
any deficiency in the Reserve Account shall be eliminated at the end of the twelfth (12th) month following the first
credit;

3) In the Revenue Fund, a reasonable and necessary amount for working capital and operating
reserves;

@) To the Subordinate Obligation Fund, the amount, if any, required to be deposited in such Fund
pursuant to the resolution authorizing issuance of the Subordinate Obligations payable from such Fund; and

5) To the Surplus Fund, such amounts as shall remain in the Revenue Fund.
(C)  All reasonable and necessary Operation and Maintenance Expenses shall be paid from the Operation and Maintenance
Fund as the same become due and payable and, except for the Rebate Fund, prior to any transfer or payment to other funds and
accounts set forth therein.
(D) The City may, if provided in a Series Resolution authorizing the Bonds of a Series, directly pay out of the Revenue Fund

reimbursements to Support Facility Providers whose Support Facilities have been drawn upon, after payments have been made
to the Special Redemption Fund.
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ADDITIONAL BONDS

On April 15, 2003, the City’s Common Council adopted a resolution that amended the terms of the Bond Resolution under
which Additional Bonds could be issued (the “Amendment”). The consent required to make the Amendment effective was
received from the insurer of the Series 2001 Bonds as permitted by the Bond Resolution. On April 16, 2003, a notice of the
Amendment was published in The Bond Buyer. Bondholders had 60 days from the date the notice was published to challenge
the amendment. No challenges were submitted before the June 15, 2003 end of the 60-day protest period.

Conditions for the Issuance of Parity Bonds Other Than Refunding Bonds (As Amended)

(A) One or more Series of Bonds, exclusive of Refunding Bonds issued pursuant to Section 3.05 of the Bond Resolution, may
be issued at any time and from time to time for any lawful use or purpose relating to the Sewerage System, including, without
limitation, payment of all or a portion of the Costs of Improvements, but only upon compliance as to each such Series with the
provisions of Section 3.03 of the Bond Resolution and provision of the following documents or moneys or securities:

(1) A certified copy of the Series Resolution authorizing the issuance of the Bonds of such Series.

2) If any Bonds of such Series are Option Bonds, a Support Facility in such an amount as would
provide sufficient moneys for the purchase or redemption of all Option Bonds of such Series if the Holders thereof
elected to tender for purchase or redemption the entire Aggregate Outstanding Principal amount of the Option Bonds
of such Series.

3) An opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that: (a) the Bond Resolution, including the applicable
Series Resolution authorizing the Series of Bonds, has been duly and lawfully adopted by the Common Council of the
City and is a valid and legally binding instrument of the City, enforceable in accordance with the terms thereof; (b) the
Bond Resolution creates a valid pledge and lien which it purports to create of the Net Revenues, moneys, securities
and funds held or set aside under the Bond Resolution, subject to the application thereof to the purposes and on the
terms and conditions permitted by the Bond Resolution; and (c) the Bonds of such Series are valid and legally binding
limited special obligations of the City, enforceable in accordance with the terms thereof, are entitled to the benefits of
the Bond Resolution and the Act, have been duly and validly authorized, issued and authenticated in accordance with
law and the Bond Resolution, and do not violate the provisions of the Bond Resolution.

(4) Either:
(I) a Written Certificate of an Authorized Officer of the City based:
(1) on audited figures, provided that such audited figures are for the most recent Fiscal Year

for which an audit is available, and are for a period ending within 18 months of the date of
the issuance of the proposed Series of Bonds; or

(i1) on figures taken by an independent certified public accountant from the City’s books and
records, showing that the Net Revenues for any consecutive twelve (12) months’ period out
of twenty-four (24) months immediately preceding the month in which such Bonds are
issued;

were not less than the greater of:

(x) the sum of: (1) the maximum Aggregate Debt Service on all Bonds then Outstanding and
on the proposed Series of Bonds in any Fiscal Year and the twelve (12) month period
selected; and (2) the Required Deposits for such Fiscal Year or the twelve (12) month
period selected; and

(y) 1.20 times the maximum Aggregate Debt Service on all Bonds then Outstanding and on the
proposed Series of Bonds in any Fiscal Year and the twelve (12) month period selected,
plus 1.20 times the aggregate Support Facility Reimbursement Obligations outstanding as
of the date of the Written Certificate of the City;

or (IT) a Written Certificate of an Authorized Officer of the City or Certificate of the Consulting Engineer
that the Net Revenues to be derived in each of the five (5) Fiscal Years following the earlier of:

6) the end of the period during which interest is capitalized or, if no interest is to be
capitalized, the Fiscal Year in which the proposed Series of Bonds are issued; and
(ii) the date on which substantially all Improvements to be financed with the proceeds of the

proposed Series of Bonds are expected to commence operations, or, if the proceeds of such
Series of Bonds will not be used to fund the Costs of Improvements, the Fiscal Year in
which the proposed Series of Bonds are issued;

are estimated to be not less than the greater of:
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(x) the sum of: (1) the maximum Aggregate Debt Service on all Bonds then Outstanding and
on the proposed Series of Bonds in any such Fiscal Year; and (2) the Required Deposits for
any such Fiscal Year; and

(y) 1.20 times the maximum Aggregate Debt Service on all Bonds then Outstanding and on the
proposed Series of Bonds in any such Fiscal Year, plus 1.20 times the aggregate Support
Facility Reimbursement Obligations outstanding;

as of the date of such Written Certificate of the City or certificate of the Consulting Engineer, as the case may

be. Adopted Sewerage Service Charges shall be taken into account at the time, or times, they are scheduled to

be effective.
(the “Additional Bonds Requirement”). For purposes of this subsection (4): If any changes have been made and are in
effect at the time of the issuance of the proposed Series of Bonds in the Sewerage Service Charges (exclusive of
changes in the rates and charges for the privilege of connecting to the Sewerage System) which were not in effect
during all or any part of the periods referred to in Section 3.04 (4)(I)(i) or (ii) of the Bond Resolution, or (ii), the Net
Revenues for either of such respective periods may be adjusted to reflect the results which would have occurred in the
Net Revenues if such changes in the Sewerage Service Charges had been in effect during all of such respective
periods.

(5) Such further documents, moneys and securities as are required by the provisions of any Series
Resolution.

(B) In determining Debt Service on Variable Rate Bonds then Outstanding and Variable Rate Bonds then proposed to be
issued for purposes of the Additional Bonds Requirement, the interest rate shall be calculated as: (i) if any Variable Rate Bonds
are then Outstanding and have been Outstanding for at least twenty-four (24) months, the highest average interest rate borne by
such Variable Rate Bonds for any 30-day period, or (ii) if no such Variable Rate Bonds are then Outstanding, the Revenue
Bond Index at the time of calculation.

Refunding Bonds

(A) The City by means of a Series Resolution adopted in compliance with the provisions of Section 3.03 of the Bond
Resolution may issue a Series of Refunding Bonds at any time for the purpose of refunding (including by purchase) at any time
all or any portion of Bonds Outstanding, including amounts to pay principal, redemption premium and interest to the date of
maturity or redemption (or purchase) and the expense of issuing the refunding bonds and of effecting such refunding; provided,
however, that the provisions of subsection (A) of Section 3.04 of the Bond Resolution shall be complied with upon the issuance
of such Series; provided, further, however, that clause (4) of subsection (A) of Section 3.04 of the Bond Resolution need not be
complied with if the Refunding Bonds proposed to be issued do not mature later than the Bonds to be refunded and Debt
Service in any Fiscal Year on the Refunding Bonds proposed to be issued does not exceed Debt Service in any Fiscal Year on
the Bonds to be refunded by more than ten percent (10%).

(B) The City by means of a Series Resolution adopted in compliance with the provisions of Section 3.03 of the Bond
Resolution may issue a Series of Refunding Bonds at any time for the purpose of refunding (including by purchase) at any time
all or any portion of outstanding Subordinate Obligations, including amounts to pay principal, redemption premium and
interest to the date of maturity or redemption (or purchase) and the expense of issuing the Refunding Bonds and of effecting
such refunding; provided, however, that the provisions of subsection (A) of Section 3.04 of the Bond Resolution shall be
complied with upon the issuance of such Series.

© The proceeds of the Refunding Bonds of each Series issued pursuant to Section 3.05 of the Bond Resolution shall be

applied for the purposes of making deposits in such Funds and Accounts under the Bond Resolution and shall be applied to the
refunding purposes thereof as shall be provided by the Series Resolution authorizing such Refunding Bonds.

Bond Anticipation Notes

Bond anticipation notes ("Bond Anticipation Notes") may be issued by the City at such time as the City shall have by a Series
Resolution duly adopted authorized the issuance thereof. The principal of such Bond Anticipation Notes may be paid from the
proceeds of such Bond Anticipation Notes (or any renewal thereof) or from the proceeds of the Bonds in anticipation of which
such Bond Anticipation Notes were issued.
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Subordinate Obligations

(A) The City may at any time or from time to time, issue evidences of indebtedness payable out of, and which may be
secured by a pledge of, such amounts in the Subordinate Obligation Fund as may from time to time be available for the purpose
of payment thereof. The City may, by resolution, provide for various priorities in the liens and pledges securing Subordinate
Obligations, and nothing in the Bond Resolution shall be construed so as to require that the payment of, or pledges securing,
Subordinate Obligations be on a parity.

(B) Any issue of Subordinate Obligations may have such rank or priority with respect to any other issue of Subordinate

Obligations as may be provided in the resolution securing such issue of Subordinate Obligations and may contain such other
provisions as are not in conflict with the provisions of the Bond Resolution
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THE SEWERAGE SYSTEM

History of Utility

The City’s Sewerage System (the “Sewerage System”) traces its history back to the 1860’s. In 1998, the Sewerage System was
changed from a department of the City to an Enterprise Fund. The City’s Sewerage System consists of three types of sewers:
combined, sanitary and storm, most of which are located within the boundaries of the City. Combined sewers collect both
wastewater from homes and businesses and storm runoff water in a single pipe and convey this flow to an intercepting sewer
operated by the Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage District (MMSD). Sanitary sewers collect only wastewater from homes and
businesses and convey this flow to an intercepting sewer operated by the MMSD. The intercepting sewers convey the flow to area
treatment plants. Storm sewers collect only storm runoff water and convey this flow to rivers, streams, etc.

Combined sewers serve approximately 35 square miles of the City and separate sanitary and storm sewers serve approximately
60.8 square miles. It should be noted that a few of the City’s sewers run through a portion of adjacent communities in order to
connect to an intercepting sewer or to outlet into a river. In addition, some property in other communities that is adjacent to a
common boundary to the City may receive service from City facilities if it is not available from their own community.

General Information

The Sewerage System consists of a network of combined, sanitary and storm sewers and other facilities necessary to collect
wastewater from homes and businesses and storm water runoff from City streets and other surfaces. The Sewerage System then
conveys this flow to the intercepting sewerage system operated by the Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage District. In addition to
the sewer pipes, the Sewerage System also includes a variety of lift stations, pumps, detention basins, storm water inlets and catch
basins, storage and operating facilities required to efficiently perform this conveyance function.

For the most part, the sewers use gravity to move the flow downstream. In a few areas of the City, the existing intercepting sewers
and slope of the land does not allow only the use of gravity to move the flow. In five locations, there have been installed pump
stations to lift flow from a low point up to a point where it can continue to flow by gravity. Two of the lift stations are along the
lakefront, one is on the east side of the City and two are located on the far northwest side of the City.

Eighty-three by-pass pumps are installed in the sanitary sewers. The by-pass pumps operate in extreme wet weather, discharging

excess flow from the sanitary sewers to either a storm sewer (79 locations) or directly to an intercepting sewer (4 locations).
These by-pass pumps were installed to prevent sanitary sewers from backing up into homes during extreme wet weather.

Distribution of Major Assets as of December 31, 2000

As of December 31, 2000, major assets of the Sewerage System were distributed as follows:

Pipelines $99,646,816 55%

Manhole/Catch Basins 53,971,721 30

Junction Chamber 26,683,250 15
Total $180,301,787 100%
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Types of Sewers

Miles of Sewers

<=21” 21” Diameter < and > => 54

Type of Sewer Total Diameter 54” Diameter Diameter

Combined 547 304 177 66

Sanitary 935 923 12 0

Storm 955 640 241 74

Age of Sewers (in Miles)
26 to 51 years to 76 years to

Type of Sewer <26 Years 50 years 75 years 100 years >100 Years Total
Combined 127 87 61 132 140 547
Sanitary 106 456 263 110 — 935
Storm 65 518 249 123 — 955
TOTAL 298 1,061 573 365 140 2,437

Need for Improvements

The City continuously evaluates the condition of the Sewerage System and schedules projects to replace portions of the
Sewerage System that are no longer functioning adequately. The City is working to identify and remove the sources of
infiltration and inflow, or clear water, that allow this water to enter the sanitary Sewerage System. This additional flow can
result in bypasses from the sanitary Sewerage System. In addition, the City operates under a Wisconsin Department of Natural
Resources' Storm Water Discharge Permit, which requires the City to address water quality by reducing pollutants washing off
streets and other impervious surfaces.

CUSTOMER DATA

Sewer System customers are categorized into four classifications: residential (including single-family and duplexes), commercial,
industrial and government. A summary of each classification is listed below:

2002 Billings Number of Accounts
Customer
Classification Amount Percent Number Percent
Residential $13,114,352.00 51.18% 128,606 89.5%
Commercial 8,276,995.72 32.30 12,988 9.0
Industrial 2,603,046.31 10.16 1,460 1.0
Government 1,628,535.25 6.36 570 0.4
TOTAL $25,622,929.28 100.0% 143,624 100.0%
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Largest Users

Below is profile of the Milwaukee Sewer System’s 15 largest customers for the year 2002.

Billing as
Usage (100 Percent of Total

Customer cubic feet) Billing Billed
Red Star Yeast & Products 1,844,117 $1,535,965.05 5.99%
Milwaukee Public Schools 607,069 505,627.77 1.97
Milw County - DPW 599,993 499,734.17 1.95
City of Milwaukee Housing Auth 590,973 492,221.41 1.92
S E WIS Products Co Inc 428,650 357,022.59 1.39
WE Energies Co. 396,679 330,393.94 1.29
Falk Corp 380,180 316,651.92 1.24
Emmber Foods Inc 297,441 247,738.61 0.97
St Lukes Physicians Office Bldg 260,249 216,761.10 0.85
Metropolitan Assoc. 239,405 199,400.42 0.78
Master Lock Co 218,234 181,767.10 0.71
Marquette University 200,212 166,756.20 0.65
Towne Realty Inc. 192,733 160,527.32 0.63
US Veterans Admin 185,763 154,722.00 0.60
University of WI - Milwaukee 179,543 149,541.36 0.58
TOTAL 6,621,241 $5,514,830.96 21.52%

Source: City of Milwaukee, Department of Public Works.
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History of Usage and Total Billings

The following are the historical billed amounts for the fifteen largest Sewer Fund customers for 2001 and 2002.

2001 Billed 2002 Billed
Customer Amount Amount
Red Star Yeast & Products $1,117,134 $1,535,965
Milw County - DPW 396,436 499,734
City of Milwaukee Housing Auth 319,926 492,221
Milwaukee Public Schools 314,602 505,628
S E WIS Products Co Inc 243,623 357,023
WE Energies Co. — 330,394
Falk Corp 217,690 316,652
Emmber Foods Inc 156,372 247,739
St Lukes Physicians Office Bldg 154,515 216,761
Metropolitan Assoc. — 199,400
Master Lock Co 120,226 181,767
Marquette University 111,901 166,756
Towne Realty Inc. — 160,527
University of WI - Milwaukee 110,848 149,541
US Veterans Admin 107,591 154,722
Maynard Electric 94,686 —
Tower Automotive 88,974 —
AMPCO Metal Inc. 76,934 —

$3,631,458 $5,514,831

Rate Information

The rate for the City Sewer Maintenance Fee is based upon actual water consumption. Water consumption acts as a proxy for
the amount of water returned to the sewer system. To account for the fact that not all water consumed is returned to the
Sewerage System, several adjustments are made to account for non-sewer related water consumption.

Residential water consumption is based upon actual consumption adjusted for historical winter quarter consumption, which
tends to more accurately reflect the amount of water actually returned to the Sewerage System. This compensates for water
consumed by residential users that does not return to the Sewerage System, such as watering of lawns and gardens.

Industrial and commercial properties can modify their consumption amount through a certification process, which adjusts
consumption to more accurately reflect the amount of water actually returned to the Sewerage System. The certification
process is similar to that used by the Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage District (“MMSD”), except that the City’s certification
process does not include MMSD’s measure of sewerage strength. This measure does not apply to the City’s sewer
maintenance expenses, as the strength of sewerage has no impact on the operational cost of sewer maintenance.

After identifying water consumption, the sewer rate is calculated by dividing total sewer maintenance costs by total adjusted
water usage. This yields a rate per 100 cubic feet of water consumed. This rate is then multiplied by an individual’s property’s
actual adjusted water usage to determine its sewer maintenance fee. The same rate is applied to all property classifications.

Sewer Fund costs include operating, maintenance, capital improvement and debt service costs for the City’s sewer system, as
well as a contingency fund to cover unanticipated expenses and administrative costs for the City of Milwaukee Water Works
(the City’s water utility, which records the actual billing and collection information, revises the fee amounts as necessary, and
provides customer service).
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The 2002 budgeted Sewer Fee rate was $0.8329 per 100 cubic feet of water consumed. This translated into an average annual
residential fee of $76.63. The 2000 Sewer Fund budget was the first to include capital maintenance costs in addition to
operating and maintenance costs. The 2000 City Budget transferred the Relief and Relay Sewer capital program to the Sewer
Fund because this program funds on-going capital maintenance and preservation of the City’s Sewerage System. In order to
finance this capital program, the Sewer Fund budget and rate increased. The 2002 City Budget transferred funding of street
sweeping and leaf collection activities from the General Fund to the Sewer Fund. These activities are part of the city’s storm
water management efforts and provide direct benefits to the storm sewer system. Although amounts for street sweeping and
leaf collection are collected by the Sewerage System, the services provided are not considered an operation and maintenance
expense of the Sewerage System. Transfers to the City to reimburse the General Fund for services provided occur after the
payment of debt service on Bonds. Other factors influencing the increase in the 2002 Sewer rate included inflationary cost
increases, declining water consumption, increases in equipment expenses, and funding of a mandatory Sanitary Manhole
Rehabilitation project required by MMSD.

The 2003 budgeted Sewer Fee rate is $1.1094 per 100 cubic feet of water. This translates into an average annual residential fee
of $85.20. The 2003 Sewer Fund budget includes operating, maintenance and capital costs. In addition to inflationary cost
increases, the 2003 Sewer rate increase was the result of decreased water consumption, decreased reimbursement for
infiltration and inflow expenses from MMSD, increased contingency funds, increased capital debt service costs, and increased
capital cash financing. Increased capital cash financing is part of a capital cash conversion policy that aims at the gradual
increase in cash financing of annual sewer repair and replacement capital needs with a proportional decrease in annual revenue
bond financing. A cash conversion policy is being implemented for the Sewer Maintenance Fund’s capital program in order to
realize long-term savings by avoiding unnecessarily high debt service costs.

Average Residential Billing

The following includes historical average residential billings.

Annual Average

Billing
Year (Total Residential)
1998 $26.89
1999 $35.55
2000 $55.66
2001 $64.79
2002 $76.63

Source: City of Milwaukee Department of Administration, Budget and Management Division.

Collection and Billing

Sewer maintenance charges are billed by the Milwaukee Water Works on a combined Municipal Services statement. These
charges are based on consumption. Charges for Water Service, Sewer Treatment, Solid Waste and Snow and Ice Control are
also included on the statement. Approximately 97% of the statements are billed on a quarterly basis with the remaining
accounts billed monthly. All accounts are given 21 days to pay the bill to avoid late fees. If payments are late, a quarterly 3%
late payments penalty will be charged. In October of each year, accounts that are two or more quarters delinquent will have
their arrears placed on the property tax roll and billed to properties, including a 10% delinquency penalty.

The order of partial payments is dictated by the City of Milwaukee Ordinance Section 309-54-8.b. This directs application in

the following order: Water Works (Fund 0410); Metropolitan Sewerage District Sewer User/Treatment (Fund 0460); Sewer
Maintenance (Fund 0490); Solid Waste Charge (Fund 0470) and Snow and Ice Control (Fund 0001).
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SEWERAGE SYSTEM REVENUE BOND INDEBTEDNESS

Set forth below is the City’s Sewerage System revenue indebtedness, including payments due on existing debt, as well as on the
Series 2003 Bonds.

Total Projected

Outstanding Revenue Debt Series 2003 Bonds Debt Service

Year Principal Interest Principal Interest Requirements
2003 $1,000,000 $1,339,784 $596,423 $2,936,207
2004 1,035,000 1,304,171 1,522,781 3,861,952
2005 1,080,000 1,259,059 $1,310,000 1,503,131 5,152,190
2006 1,135,000 1,203,684 1,345,000 1,463,306 5,146,990
2007 1,190,000 1,152,996 1,380,000 1,422,431 5,145,427
2008 1,235,000 1,105,984 1,415,000 1,380,506 5,136,490
2009 1,285,000 1,055,584 1,455,000 1,330,181 5,125,765
2010 1,340,000 1,003,084 1,500,000 1,271,081 5,114,165
2011 1,395,000 948,384 1,545,000 1,202,456 5,090,840
2012 1,450,000 891,484 1,600,000 1,123,831 5,065,315
2013 1,520,000 822,584 1,655,000 1,042,456 5,040,040
2014 1,600,000 740,680 1,710,000 962,606 5,013,286
2015 1,685,000 654,452 1,780,000 884,081 5,003,533
2016 1,775,000 563,627 1,850,000 797,781 4,986,408
2017 1,875,000 466,643 1,925,000 703,406 4,970,049
2018 1,970,000 369,957 2,005,000 605,156 4,950,113
2019 2,070,000 273,206 2,090,000 502,781 4,935,987
2020 2,170,000 168,500 2,190,000 395,781 4,924,281
2021 2,285,000 57,125 2,280,000 284,031 4,906,156
2022 — — 2,375,000 167,656 2,542,656
2023 — — 2,475,000 54,138 2,529,138
TOTAL $29,095,000 $15,380,988 $33,885,000 $19,216,000 $97,576,887

Future Financing

The capital financing needs to be supported by revenue bonding include only repair and replacement of existing City Sewerage
System facilities. Any expansion of the Sewerage System financed through bonding is currently financed through issuance of the
City’s general obligation bonds, and any future expansion is expected to be financed in this manner. The Series 2003 Bonds
represent approximately two years of revenue bond financed capital needs of the Sewerage System.

The City expects to spend approximately $18,000,000 annually for Sewerage System repair and replacement needs, with
$11,000,000-$16,000,000 of this amount to be financed annually through revenue bonds.
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SEWER MAINTANANCE FUND
BALANCE SHEET

DECEMBER 31, 2002 (Unaudited)
(Thousands of Dollars)

The following financial information has been prepared in accordance with GASB 34 changes, however, as of the date of the Official
Statement, the audit has not yet been completed. Due to GASB 34 changes, the information is not directly comparable to 2001
financial information presented in Appendix B. The City does not intend to prepare Sewer Maintenance Fund financial information
for 2001 that would be comparable to information provided for 2002.

2002
Assets
Current Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents $588
Receivables (net):
Accounts 6,956
Unbilled Accounts 2,848
Accrued Interest Receivable 7
Due from other funds 492
Deferred Charges 334
Total Current Assets $11,225
Noncurrent Assets:
Restricted Assets $3,715
Infrastructure 282,603
Machinery and Equipment 1,288
Furniture and Furnishings 63
Construction work in progress 8,348
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (86,673)
Total Noncurrent Assets $209,344
Total Assets $220,569
Liabilities
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable $1,590
Accrued Expenses 1,437
Total Current Liabilities $3,027
Current Liabilities Payable from Restricted Assets:
Revenue Bonds Payable $1,000
Accrued Interest Payable 113
Total Current Liabilities Payable
From Restricted Assets 1,113
Noncurrent Liabilities:
Revenue Bonds Payable $28,095
Total Noncurrent Liabilities 28,095
Total Liabilities $32,235
Net Assets:
Invested in capital assets net of related debt $176,534
Restricted net assets 3,715
Unrestricted 8,085
Total Net Assets $188,334

Source: Office of the Comptroller, City of Milwaukee.
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SEWER MAINTENANCE FUND
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND
CHANGES IN RETAINED EARNINGS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002 (Unaudited)
(Thousands of Dollars)

The following financial information has been prepared in accordance with GASB 34 changes, however, as of the date of the
Official Statement, the audit has not yet been completed. Due to GASB 34 changes, the information is not directly comparable
to 2001 financial information presented in Appendix B. The City does not intend to prepare Sewer Maintenance Fund financial
information for 2001 that would be comparable to information provided for 2002.

2002
Operating Revenues
Sewer Maintenance Fees $27,922
Other 85
Total Operating Revenues $28,007
Operating Expenses
Employee Services 6,857
Depreciation 3,776
Services, supplies and materials 8,426
Total Operating Expenditures $19,059
Operating Income (Loss) $8,948
Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses)
Interest Income 300
Interest Expense (1,320)
Net Gain (Loss) on disposal of fixed assets (60)
Total Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses) $(1,080)
Income (Loss) before Contributions and Transfers 7,868
Capital Contributions (1,351)
Operating Transfers In —
Operating Transfers Out (3,845)
Change in Net Assets $2,672
Total Net Assets-Beginning $185,662
Total Net Assets-Ending $188,334

Source: Office of the Comptroller, City of Milwaukee.

21



RESTATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002 (Unaudited)
(Thousands of Dollars)

The following financial information has been prepared in accordance with GASB 34 changes, however, as of the date of the Official
Statement, the audit has not yet been completed. Due to GASB 34 changes, the information is not directly comparable to 2001
financial information presented in Appendix B. The City does not intend to prepare Sewer Maintenance Fund financial information
for 2001 that would be comparable to information provided for 2002.

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Receipts from customers and users $28,606
Other operating cash receipts 85
Payments to suppliers (8,015)
Payments to employees (6,807)
Payments to other funds (12,051)
Net Cash Provided by (used for) Operating Activities $1,818
CASH FLOWS FROM NON CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Transfers to other funds ($3,845)
Net Cash Provided by (used for) Non Capital and Related Financing Activities ($3.,845)
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment ($15,971)

Interest paid (1,357)
Net Cash Provided by (Used for) Capital and Related Financing Activities ($17,328)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Interest Income $293
Net Cash Provided by (Used for) Investing Activities $293
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents ($19,062)
Cash and Cash Equivalents-Beginning $23,365
Cash and Cash Equivalents-Ending $4,303

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Year End Consists of:

Unrestricted Cash $588
Restricted Cash 3,715
$4,303

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO NET CASH

USED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Operating Income (loss) $8,948
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash used by operating activities:

Depreciation 3,776
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Receivables 966
Due from other funds (283)
Inventories 3
Deferred charges 15
Accounts payable 393
Accrued liabilities 51
Due to other funds (12,051)
Net Cash Used by Operating Activities $1,818

Non-cash Activities:
The Sewer Maintenance Fund donated or disposed of fixed assets with a net value of $585.

Source: Office of the Comptroller, City of Milwaukee.
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SEWER MAINTENANCE FUND
PRO FORMA OPERATIONS & DEBT SERVICE-LEVEL DEBT SERVICE

(Dollars in Thousands)
Historical Projected
1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
Operations Revenues $8,997.0 $15,582.0  $18,899.0  $28,007.0 $28,559.0  $28,650.0 $28,864.0  $28,980.0  $29,160.0
Operating Expenses $8,895.0 $11,114.0  $14,093.0 $15,283.0 $15,741.5 $14,482.0 $14916.0 $15364.0 $15,.825.0
Net Income Available for Debt Service $102.0 $4,468.0 $4,806.0  $12,724.0 $12,817.5 $14,168.0 $13,948.0 $13,616.0 $13,335.0
Prior to the issuance of the 2003 Bonds
Maximum Annual Debt Service - - - $2,343.4
Debt Service Coverage - - - 5.43X
After issuance of the 2003 Bonds
Maximum Annual Debt Service $5,152.2 $5,152.2 $5,152.2 $5,147.0 $5,145.4
Debt Service Coverage 2.49X 2.75X 2.71X 2.65X 2.59X
Assuming issuance of Additional Bonds
(2)
Maximum Annual Debt Service $5,290.0 $6,690.0 $8,090.0 $9,490.0
Debt Service Coverage 2.68X 2.08X 1.68X 1.41X
Minimum Debt Service Coverage - - - 1.20X 1.20X 1.20X 1.20X 1.20X 1.20X

(1) Excludes depreciation and operating transfers. No taxes are assessed against this enterprise.
(2) Future Additional Bonds assumes bonds as discussed in the section entitled "SEWERAGE SYSTEM REVENUE BONDS INDEBTEDNESS — Future Financing".
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BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM

The information contained in the following paragraphs of this subsection “Book-Entry Only System” has been extracted from
a document prepared by The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”) entitled “SAMPLE OFFERING DOCUMENT LANGUAGE
DESCRIBING BOOK-ENTRY ONLY ISSUANCE.” The City makes no representation as to the completeness or the accuracy
of such information or as to the absence of material adverse changes in such information subsequent to the date hereof-

DTC, New York, NY, will act as securities depository for the Series 2003 Bonds. The Series 2003 Bonds will be issued as
fully-registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name as may be
requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One fully-registered certificate will be issued for each maturity of the
Series 2003 Bonds, in the aggregate principal amount of such annual maturity, and such certificates will be deposited with
DTC.

DTC, the world’s largest depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a
“banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a
“clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” registered
pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for
over 2 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments
from over 85 countries that DTC’s participants (“Direct Participants™) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade
settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic
computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for physical
movement of securities certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks,
trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository
Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”). DTCC, in turn, is owned by a number of Direct Participants of DTC and Members of
the National Securities Clearing Corporation, Government Securities Clearing Corporation, MBS Clearing Corporation, and
Emerging Markets Clearing Corporation, (NSCC, GSCC, MBSCC, and EMCC, also subsidiaries of DTCC), as well as by the
New York Stock Exchange, Inc., the American Stock Exchange LLC, and the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.
Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust
companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either
directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants”). DTC has Standard & Poor’s highest rating: AAA. The DTC Rules applicable to
its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. More information about DTC can be found at
www.dtce.com.

Purchases of Series 2003 Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will receive a
credit for the Series 2003 Bonds on DTC’s records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Series 2003 Bond
(“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records. Beneficial Owners will not
receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written
confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect
Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the Series 2003
Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial
Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in Series 2003 Bonds, except in
the event that use of the book-entry system for the Series 2003 Bonds is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Series 2003 Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the name
of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.
The deposit of Series 2003 Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do
not effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Series 2003
Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Series 2003 Bonds are
credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for
keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to Indirect Participants,
and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements among them,

subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the securities within an issue are being redeemed, DTC’s practice is
to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such issue to be redeemed.
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Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to Series 2003 Bonds unless
authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s Procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus
Proxy to Issuer as soon as possible after the record date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights
to those Direct Participants to whose accounts Series 2003 Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached
to the Omnibus Proxy).

Redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments on the Series 2003 Bonds will be made to Cede & Co., or such
other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC’s practice is to credit Direct Participants’
accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from Issuer or Agent, on payable date in
accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be
governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in
bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC [nor its nominee],
Agent, or Issuer, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of
redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an
authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of The City or Agent, disbursement of such payments to Direct
Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the
responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Series 2003 Bonds at any time by giving
reasonable notice to Issuer or Agent. Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor depository is not obtained, Series
2003 Bond certificates are required to be printed and delivered.

The City may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry transfers through DTC (or a successor securities
depository). In that event Series 2003 Bond certificates will be printed and delivered.

NEITHER THE CITY, THE PAYING AGENT NOR THE UNDERWRITERS WILL HAVE ANY RESPONSIBILITY OR
OBLIGATION TO PARTICIPANTS, TO INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS OR TO ANY BENEFICIAL OWNER WITH
RESPECT TO (1) THE ACCURACY OF ANY RECORDS MAINTAINED BY DTC, ANY DTC PARTICIPANT OR ANY
INDIRECT PARTICIPANT; (2) THE PAYMENT BY DTC, ANY DTC PARTICIPANT OR ANY INDIRECT
PARTICIPANT OF ANY AMOUNT WITH RESPECT TO THE PRINCIPAL OF, PREMIUM, IF ANY, OR INTEREST ON
THE SERIES 2003 BONDS; (3) ANY NOTICE WHICH IS PERMITTED OR REQUIRED TO BE GIVEN TO HOLDERS
OF THE SERIES 2003 BONDS; (4) ANY CONSENT GIVEN BY DTC OR OTHER ACTION TAKEN BY DTC AS THE
HOLDER OF THE SERIES 2003 BONDS; OR (5) THE SELECTION BY DTC, ANY DTC PARTICIPANT OR ANY
INDIRECT PARTICIPANT OF ANY BENEFICIAL OWNER TO RECEIVE PAYMENT IN THE EVENT OF A PARTIAL
REDEMPTION OF SERIES 2003 BONDS.

(The remainder of this page has been intentionally left blank.)
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LEGAL MATTERS

LITIGATION STATEMENT

The City, and its boards, officers and employees have been defendants in numerous lawsuits over the years. Experience has
shown that a relatively small number of suits commenced are reduced to judgment. The City does not carry a blanket policy of
insurance against tort liability. However, §893.80, Wisconsin Statutes. limits the amount recoverable in Wisconsin against a
political corporation and its officers, officials or employees for acts done in their official capacity to $50,000 in tort liability for
non-automobile cases and to $250,000 in automobile cases.

The City Attorney's office has currently reviewed the status of pending or threatened litigation, claims and assessments to
which the office has devoted substantive attention in the form of legal consultation or representation. Those which individually
represent maximum potential loss exposure in excess of $1 million which existed on June 20, 2003 are:

U.S. Department of Justice Pattern and Practice Investigation-Milwaukee Police Department. The Equal Employment
Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) conducted a pattern and practice investigation from December 1993 to September 1996.
The investigation resulted in a finding of probable cause that the Fire and Police Commission (“FPC”) and Milwaukee Police
Department discriminated, based on race, in the areas of hiring, discipline, retaliation, and terms and conditions of
employment. The EEOC sought $5 million in total remedies for the class claims and nearly $2 million to the individual hiring
charging parties. Additionally, the EEOC requested remedies for the 15 individual “terms and conditions” charging parties in
an amount totaling over $2.5 million. The EEOC also sought an additional $1 million in compensation to the “terms and
conditions” class members. The EEOC referred the matter to the United States Department of Justice (“DOJ”) in February
1997. Additional individual EEOC charges have also resulted in reasonable cause determinations and have been referred to the
DOJ. The DOJ conducted a further, lengthy investigation and stated by letter dated January 2, 2001 that suit had been
authorized against the City and the FPC. DOJ alleges that between 1991 and 1996, African-Americans were discriminated
against in terms of differential and less favorable treatment in the hiring process (failing background investigations), and in
terms and conditions of employment such as discipline, discharge, and assignment. In 2001 DOJ requested $6.15 million in
compensatory damages for a class of 100 victims of discriminatory terms and conditions of employment and an unspecified
sum in back pay for a group of approximately 39 African-Americans who failed background investigations. The City
considered that request unreasonable and urged DOJ re-consider its position. Since that time, DOJ has not responded.
However, DOJ has declined to pursue litigation on behalf of seven of the charging parties and issued individual right to sue
letters to them. To date, one suit has been served upon the City.

Claim of the Estate of Mario Mallett. On April 19, 2002, a claim was filed with the City Clerk by the estate of Mr. Mario
Mallett pursuant to the December 27, 2001 death of Mr. Mallett. Mr. Mallett’s death occurred while he was in the custody of
City police officers. The estate claims that Mr. Mallett's death was caused by the negligence of officers, in the manner in which
Mr. Mallett was taken into custody and transported to a hospital. The City has given substantive attention to this claim, and
anticipates that a lawsuit will be filed that raises both state negligence and federal civil rights causes of action.

Milwaukee Police Association v. City of Milwaukee, et. al. The Milwaukee Employes' Retirement System (MERS) is in the
process of purchasing a computerized information system to assist in the administration of the City's pension system. The cost
is expected to be in the range of $11 to $12 million. According to an agreement between the City and the MERS, the cost of
the system is to be paid entirely by MERS. In this lawsuit, the Milwaukee Police Association alleges that the agreement
between City and MERS limits MERS's obligation to pay for the information system to no more than $3 million. If the suit is
successful, the City might be liable to pay the remaining $8 to $9 million.

With regard to other pending or threatened litigation and unasserted claims, it is the opinion of the City Attorney that such

litigation and claims will not be finally determined so as to result individually or in the aggregate in a final judgment against
the City which would affect its financial position or that of the Sewerage System.

LEGAL OPINION
The legal opinion of Hawkins, Delafield & Wood, New York, New York, and Quarles & Brady LLP, Milwaukee, Wisconsin,

Bond Counsel, will be delivered to the purchasers of the Series 2003 Bonds. A draft of the legal opinion for the Series 2003
Bonds is included herein as Appendix C.

26



TAX STATUS

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under existing statutes and court decisions and assuming continuing compliance with certain tax
covenants described herein, interest on the Series 2003 Bonds is excluded from gross income for Federal income tax purposes
pursuant to Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) and is not treated as a preference item in
calculating the alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporations under the Code; such interest, however, is
included in the adjusted current earnings of certain corporations for purposes of calculating the alternative minimum tax imposed
on such corporations. In rendering their opinion, Bond Counsel has relied on certain representations, certifications of fact, and
statements of reasonable expectations made by the City and others in connection with the Series 2003 Bonds and Bond Counsel
has assumed compliance by the City with certain ongoing covenants to comply with applicable requirements of the Code to assure
the exclusion of interest on the Series 2003 Bonds from gross income under Section 103 of the Code.

Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any other Federal or state tax consequences with respect to the Series 2003 Bonds.
Bond Counsel renders their opinion under existing statutes and court decisions as of the issue date, and assumes no obligation to
update their opinion after the issue date to reflect any future action, fact or circumstance, or change in law or interpretation, or
otherwise. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion on the effect of any action hereafter taken or not taken in reliance upon an opinion
of other counsel on the exclusion from gross income for Federal income tax purposes of interest on the Series 2003 Bonds.

Certain Ongoing Federal Tax Requirements and Covenants

The Code establishes certain significant ongoing requirements that must be met subsequent to the issuance and delivery of the
Series 2003 Bonds in order that interest on the Series 2003 Bonds be and remain excluded from gross income under Section
103 of the Code. These requirements include, but are not limited to, requirements relating to use and expenditure of gross
proceeds of the Series 2003 Bonds, yield and other restrictions on investments of gross proceeds, and the arbitrage rebate
requirement that certain excess earnings on gross proceeds be rebated to the Federal government. Noncompliance with such
requirements may cause interest on the Series 2003 Bonds to become included in gross income for Federal income tax
purposes retroactive to their issue date, irrespective of the date on which such noncompliance occurs or is discovered. The City
has covenanted to comply with certain applicable requirements of the Code to assure the exclusion of interest on the Series
2003 Bonds from gross income under Section 103 of the Code.

Certain Collateral Federal Tax Consequences

The following is a brief discussion of certain collateral Federal income tax matters with respect to the Series 2003 Bonds. It
does not purport to address all aspects of Federal taxation that may be relevant to a particular owner of a Series 2003 Bond.
Prospective investors, particularly those who may be subject to special rules, are advised to consult their own tax advisors
regarding the Federal tax consequences of owning and disposing of the Series 2003 Bonds.

Prospective owners of the Series 2003 Bonds should be aware that the ownership of such obligations may result in collateral
Federal income tax consequences to various categories of persons, such as corporations (including S corporations and foreign
corporations), financial institutions, property and casualty and life insurance companies, individual recipients of Social
Security and railroad retirement benefits, individuals otherwise eligible for the earned income tax credit, and taxpayers deemed
to have incurred or continued indebtedness to purchase or carry obligations the interest on which is not included in gross
income for Federal income tax purposes. Interest on the Series 2003 Bonds may be taken into account in determining the tax
liability of foreign corporations subject to the branch profits tax imposed by Section 884 of the Code.

Legislation affecting municipal bonds is regularly proposed. There can be no assurance that legislation enacted or proposed by
the United States Congress after the date of issuance of the Series 2003 Bonds will not have an adverse effect on the tax-
exempt status or market price of the Series 2003 Bonds.

Original Issue Discount

"Original issue discount” (OID") is the excess of the sum of all amounts payable at the stated maturity of a Series 2003 Bond
(excluding certain "qualified stated interest" that is unconditionally payable at least annually at prescribed rates) over the issue
price of that maturity. In general, the "issue price" of a maturity means the first price at which a substantial amount of the
Series 2003 Bonds of that maturity were sold (excluding sales to bond houses, brokers, or similar persons acting in the capacity
as underwriters, placement agents, or wholesalers). In general, the issue price for each maturity of Series 2003 Bonds is
expected to be the initial public offering price set forth on the inside cover page of this Official Statement. Bond Counsel
further is of the opinion that, for any Series 2003 Bonds having OID (a "Discount Bond"), OID that has accrued and is properly
allocable to the owners of the Discount Bonds under Section 1288 of the Code is excludable from gross income for Federal
income tax purposes to the same extent as other interest on the Series 2003 Bonds.
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In general, under Section 1288 of the Code, OID on a Discount Bond accrues under a constant yield method, based on periodic
compounding of interest over prescribed accrual periods using a compounding rate determined by reference to the yield on that
Discount Bond. An owner's adjusted basis in a Discount Bond is increased by accrued OID for purposes of determining gain
or loss on sale, exchange, or other disposition of such Series 2003 Bond. Accrued OID may be taken into account as an
increase in the amount of tax-exempt income received or deemed to have been received for purposes of determining various
other tax consequences of owning a Discount Bond even though there will not be a corresponding cash payment.

Owners of Discount Bonds should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the treatment of original issue discount for
Federal income tax purposes, including various special rules relating thereto, and the state and local tax consequences of
acquiring, holding, and disposing of Discount Bonds.

Bond Premium

In general, if an owner acquires a Series 2003 Bond for a purchase price (excluding accrued interest) or otherwise at a tax basis
that reflects a premium over the sum of all amounts payable on the Series 2003 Bond after the acquisition date (excluding
certain “qualified stated interest” that is unconditionally payable at least annually at prescribed rates), that premium constitutes
"bond premium" on that Series 2003 Bond (a “Premium Bond”). In general, under Section 171 of the Code, an owner of a
Premium Bond must amortize the bond premium over the remaining term of the Premium Bond, based on the owner’s yield
over the remaining term of the Premium Bond, determined based on constant yield principles. An owner of a Premium Bond
must amortize the bond premium by offsetting the qualified stated interest allocable to each interest accrual period under the
owner’s regular method of accounting against the bond premium allocable to that period. In the case of a tax-exempt Premium
Bond, if the bond premium allocable to an accrual period exceeds the qualified stated interest allocable to that accrual period,
the excess is a nondeductible loss. Under certain circumstances, the owner of a Premium Bond may realize a taxable gain upon
disposition of the Premium Bond even though it is sold or redeemed for an amount less than or equal to the owner’s original
acquisition cost. Owners of any Premium Bonds should consult their own tax advisors regarding the treatment of bond
premium for Federal income tax purposes, including various special rules relating thereto, and state and local tax
consequences, in connection with the acquisition, ownership, amortization of bond premium on, sale, exchange, or other
disposition of Premium Bonds.

State Tax Matters

Interest on the Series 2003 Bonds is not exempt from State of Wisconsin income tax or franchise tax.

NO DESIGNATION AS QUALIFIED TAX-EXEMPT OBLIGATIONS

The Issuer will not designate the Series 2003 Bonds as “qualified tax-exempt obligations” for purposes of Section 265 (b)(3) of
the Code relating to the ability of certain financial institutions (within the meaning of Section 265(b)(5) of the Code) to deduct
from income for federal income tax purposes, 80% of the interest expense that is allocable to carrying and acquiring tax-exempt
obligations.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

In order to assist an underwriter in complying with Rule 15¢2-12 of the Securities and Exchange Commission, the City will
provide a Continuing Disclosure Certificate (the "Certificate") to the purchaser of the Series 2003 Bonds (see "Appendix E -
Form of the Continuing Disclosure Certificate"). The Certificate will constitute a written agreement, or contract, of the City for
the benefit of holders of, and owners of beneficial interest in, the Series 2003 Bonds to provide certain information as described
in the Certificate. The continuing obligation to provide annual financial information and notices as described in the Certificate
will terminate with respect to the Series 2003 Bonds when the Series 2003 Bonds are no longer outstanding. Any failure by the
City to comply with the Certificate will not constitute a default with respect to the Series 2003 Bonds. The City has not failed
to comply in any material respect with any previous written contract similar to the Certificate.
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FINANCIAL ADVISOR

Robert W. Baird & Co. has been retained as Financial Advisor to the City in connection with the issuance of the Series 2003
Bonds. The Financial Advisor has requested and the City has consented to the Financial Advisor submitting bids, on behalf of
underwriters, for the Series 2003 Bonds.

UNDERWRITING

The Series 2003 Bonds have been purchased at competitive bidding conducted on June 19, 2003.

The award of the Series 2003 Bonds was made on June 20, 2003 to ABN AMRO Financial Services Inc., its co-managers and
associates, if any.

The yields on the Series 2003 Bonds are detailed on the inside front cover of this Final Official Statement.

BOND INSURANCE

Concurrently with the issuance of the Series 2003 Bonds, Financial Guaranty Insurance Company ("Financial Guaranty") will
issue its Municipal Bond New Issue Insurance Policy for the Series 2003 Bonds (the "Policy"). The Policy unconditionally
guarantees the payment of that portion of the principal of and interest on the Series 2003 Bonds which has become due for
payment, but shall be unpaid by reason of nonpayment by the issuer of the Series 2003 Bonds (the “Issuer”). Financial
Guaranty will make such payments to U.S. Bank Trust National Association, or its successor as its agent (the "Fiscal Agent"),
on the later of the date on which such principal and interest is due or on the business day next following the day on which
Financial Guaranty shall have received telephonic or telegraphic notice, subsequently confirmed in writing, or written notice by
registered or certified mail, from an owner of Series 2003 Bonds or the Paying Agent of the nonpayment of such amount by the
Issuer. The Fiscal Agent will disburse such amount due on any Bond to its owner upon receipt by the Fiscal Agent of evidence
satisfactory to the Fiscal Agent of the owner's right to receive payment of the principal and interest due for payment and
evidence, including any appropriate instruments of assignment, that all of such owner's rights to payment of such principal and
interest shall be vested in Financial Guaranty. The term "nonpayment" in respect of a Series 2003 Bond includes any payment
of principal or interest made to an owner of a Series 2003 Bond which has been recovered from such owner pursuant to the
United States Bankruptcy Code by a trustee in bankruptcy in accordance with a final, nonappealable order of a court having
competent jurisdiction.

The Policy is non-cancelable and the premium will be fully paid at the time of delivery of the Series 2003 Bonds. The Policy
covers failure to pay principal of the Series 2003 Bonds on their respective stated maturity dates, or dates on which the same
shall have been duly called for mandatory sinking fund redemption, and not on any other date on which the Series 2003 Bonds
may have been otherwise called for redemption, accelerated, or advanced in maturity, and covers the failure to pay an
installment of interest on the stated date for its payment.

This Official Statement contains a section regarding the ratings assigned to the Series 2003 Bonds and reference should be
made to such section for a discussion of such ratings and the basis for their assignment to the Series 2003 Bonds. Reference
should be made to the description of the Issuer for a discussion of the ratings, if any, assigned to such entity's outstanding
parity debt that is not secured by credit enhancement.

The Policy is not covered by the Property/Casualty Insurance Security Fund specified in Article 76 of the New York Insurance
Law.

Financial Guaranty is a wholly-owned subsidiary of FGIC Corporation (the "Corporation"), a Delaware holding company. The
Corporation is a subsidiary of General Electric Capital Corporation ("GE Capital"). Neither the Corporation nor GE Capital is
obligated to pay the debts of or the claims against Financial Guaranty. Financial Guaranty is a monoline financial guaranty
insurer domiciled in the State of New York and subject to regulation by the State of New York Insurance Department. As of
March 31, 2003, the total capital and surplus of Financial Guaranty was approximately $1.028 billion. Financial Guaranty
prepares financial statements on the basis of both statutory accounting principles and generally accepted accounting principles.
Copies of such financial statements may be obtained by writing to Financial Guaranty at 125 Park Avenue, New York, New
York 10017, Attention: Communications Department (telephone number: 212-312-3000) or to the New York State Insurance
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Department at 25 Beaver Street, New York, New York 10004-2319, Attention: Financial Condition Property/Casualty Bureau
(telephone number: 212-480-5187).

RATINGS

The City has requested underlying ratings on the Series 2003 Bonds from FITCH Ratings, Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. and
from Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group. FITCH Ratings, Inc. has assigned a rating of “AA” on the Series 2003 Bonds,
Moody’s Investors Service has assigned a rating of “Aa3” on the Series 2003 Bonds and Standard & Poor’s Rating Group has
assigned a rating of “AA-", on the Series 2003 Bonds.

Moody’s Investors Service has assigned its municipal bond rating of “Aaa” to this issue of Series 2003 Bonds with the
understanding that upon delivery of the Series 2003 Bonds, a policy insuring the payment when due of the principal of and interest
on the Series 2003 Bonds will be issued by Financial Guaranty Insurance Company.

Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group has assigned its municipal bond rating of "AAA" to this issue of Series 2003 Bonds with the
understanding that upon delivery of the Series 2003 Bonds, a policy insuring the payment when due of the principal of and interest
on the Series 2003 Bonds will be issued by Financial Guaranty Insurance Company.

FITCH Ratings, Inc. has assigned its municipal bond rating of "AAA" to this issue of Series 2003 Bonds with the understanding
that upon delivery of the Series 2003 Bonds, a policy insuring the payment when due of the principal of and interest on the Series
2003 Bonds will be issued by Financial Guaranty Insurance Company.

The ratings, when issued, reflect only the views of the respective ratings agencies, and an explanation of the significance of
such rating may be obtained therefrom. There is no assurance that the ratings will remain in effect for any given period of time
or that they will not be revised, either upward or downward, or withdrawn entirely, by the respective agencies, if, in their

judgment, circumstances so warrant. A revision or withdrawal of the credit rating could have an effect on the market price of
the Series 2003 Bonds.

LEGISLATION

The City is not aware of any pending legislation that would cause significant adverse consequences to either the Series 2003
Bonds or the financial condition of the City’s Sewerage System.

CLOSING DOCUMENTS AND CERTIFICATES

Simultaneously with the delivery of and payment for the Series 2003 Bonds by the Underwriter thereof, the City will furnish to
the Underwriter the following closing documents, in form satisfactory to Bond Counsel:

(1) asignature and no litigation certificate;

(2) atax certificate;

(3) acertificate of delivery and payment;

(4) the opinion as to the legality of the Series 2003 Bonds under Wisconsin law and as to the tax-exempt status of the
interest thereon for federal income tax purposes with respect to the Series 2003 Bonds, rendered by Hawkins,
Delafield & Wood, New York, New York and Quarles & Brady LLP, Milwaukee, Wisconsin, Bond Counsel, in

substantially the form as set forth in Appendix C;

(5) copies of this Official Statement issued in conjunction with the Series 2003 Bonds within seven business days
after the sale of the Series 2003 Bonds in accordance with SEC Rule 15¢2-12(b)(3);

(6) a Continuing Disclosure Certificate; and

(7) a statement to the effect that this Official Statement, to the best of its knowledge and belief as of the date of sale
and the date of delivery, is true and correct in all material respects and does not contain any untrue statement of a
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material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made herein, in light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

REPRESENTATIONS OF THE CITY

To the best of its knowledge, the information in this Official Statement does not include any untrue statement of a material fact,
nor does the information omit the statement of any material fact required to be stated therein, or necessary to make the
statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
Additional information may be obtained from the undersigned City Comptroller upon request.

W. MARTIN MORICS, City Comptroller and Secretary
City of Milwaukee, Public Debt Commission
City Hall - Room 404, 200 East Wells Street
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202
(414) 286-2301

/s/ W. Martin Morics
Comptroller
City of Milwaukee, Wisconsin

June 20, 2003
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APPENDIX B

Audited Financial Statements of
the City of Milwaukee, Wisconsin
for the Year Ended December 31, 2001
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CITY OF MILWAUKEE
Financial Statements
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777 East Wisconsin Averwe
Mikwvaukes. W1 53202

Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Honorable Members
of the Common Council
of the City of Milwaukee

We have audited the accompanying general purpose financial statements of the City of
Milwaukee (a municipality incorporated under the laws of the State of Wisconsin) as of and

for the year ended December 31, 2001, as listed in the table of contents. These general

purpose financial statements are the responsibility of the City's Comptroller. Our

responsibility is to express an opinion on these general purpose financial statements based on -
our audit,

We conducted our zudit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the general purpose financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the general purpose financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit

provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the general purpose financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the City of Milwaukee as of December 31, 2001,
and results of its operations and cash flows of its proprietary fund types for the year then
ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United' States of
America,

As described in footnote 1 of the notes to the financial statements, during the year ended
December 31, 2001, the City adopted the provisions of Governmental Accounting Standards
Board Statement No.33, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Nonexchange Transactions,
and Statement No.36, Recipient Reporting for Certain Shared Nonexchange Revenues.

As described in footnote 13 of the notes to the financial statements, the City restated the
beginning retained earnings of the enterprise funds.

KPmMe P

Milwaunkee, Wisconsin
May 31, 2002
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CITY OF MILWAUKEE Exhibit 1
COMBINED BALANCE SHEET -
ALl FUND TYPES, ACCOUNT GROUPS AND DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS
DECEMBER 31, 2001
WVWITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR DECEMBER 31, 2000
{Thousands of Dollars)

Governmental Fund Types

Special Debt Capital
General  Revenue Service Projects

ASSETS AND OTHER DEBITS

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 5 29769 5 21,962 $ 50433 S 27.889
Investments 65,513
Receivables (net):

Taxes 21,091 8,597
Accounts . 19,014 2,036 2,286
Unbifled accounts 1,835
Special gssessments 13610
NOEES AN KIANG . oeceiie it e st sas tereas shssis s e meses mm s et oe 670 6,207 17,637
Accrued interest ... 604 2 228
Due from other funds 23988
Due from primary govemment .......
Due trom component units 3,395 18,5939
Due from other govemmenta! agencies ... 98y 11,881 10,451
Other receivables 12,222
Inventory of matenals and supples w“ 5,652 203
invenlory of proparty for msafe ... 25
Prepaid flems 1,019
Other assets
Restricied Assats:
Cash and cash equivaients
investments ... 281
Loans recetvables _—
Land
Buidings
Improvemants other than buikiings
Machinery and equipment
Furniture 20d furnishings
Consuction work in progress
Noautility property ... “
Accumuiated depreciation ... ............
Other Debits;
Resounes available in Govemmental Funds
Resources to be Provided for:
Relirement of general obligalion debt ...
Unfunded compensated absences ...
Unfunded cialms and judgments ...

Total Assels and Other Dekits $ 120,547 $ 50,785 $ 152,816 $ 58,439

LIABILITIES, FUND EQUITY AND OTHER CREDITS

iabalit

Accounts payable ... 5 21,716 $ 4953 3 S 10,406
Accrued wages ... 28,155 322 424




Exhibit 1 (Continued)

Fidugiary Totals Totals

Fund Type Actourt Groups  (Memorandum (Memorandum QOnly)

Proprietary Trust Germral General Only) Reporting Entity
Fund Type and Fixed Long-Term Primary Component 2000
Enterprise Agency Assels Oblgations Govemumeat Units 2001 {Restated)
$ 26,803 $ 315964 5 s § 472820 $ 33744 S 506,564 § 373,253
5,405 70,924 18,230 89,154 91,756

124,485 154,173 154,173 172,865

2492 43,308 7,235 55,543 55,915
9,597 11,432 11,432 11,036
13.610 13610 13.233

467 25,081 83,770 88,851 82,400

36 87D 416 1,285 1,635

554 24,552 24,552 13,177

- 973 973 2,112

22,394 22394 17,270

23,313 16,686 39,939 40,620

12,222 12,222 12,6594

2616 8,471 8,471 8,370

26 11,274 11,300 10,954

29 1,048 2,021 3,069 2,173

367 367 w7 2

367 w7 1,128 1.435 1,368
23365 23,365 1,809 25,174 3.585
374,371 374,652 14,543 389,185 402,772

- - 40

19,7119 39,6594 53,413 40,007 98,420 98,132
80,455 152,870 213,325 294058 507,383 464 463

2E5,856 265,856 265,856

278,431 Zrs 481 278,481 271,681
153,864 97.353 291,217 4,599 295816 290,978
78 Fi] 134 192 1

20,145 §2929 103,054 38,507 141,591 125,201
540 540 540 540
(246.498) {246,488) (139,898) (386,396) {278,601}
128,874 128,874 128,874 117,488

437 555 437,555 437,555 405,015

33,360 33,360 33,360 30,533

36,945 25,945 36,845 43,520

$ 701,356 $ 820,692 $ 352,856 § 636,734 $ 2,890,258 $ 409,216 $ 329941 $ 2,886,506

$ 12636 $ 1182 s 5 £ 50863 s 18237 $ 65100 $ .79
3,445 32,346 18 32,364 30,986
866 865 4,280 5146 6,505



CITY OF MILWAUKEE
COMBINED BALANCE SHEET -

DECEMBER 31, 2001
WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR DECEMBER 31, 2000
(Thousands of Daltars)

Exhibit 1 (Conlinved)
ALL FUND TYPES, ACCOUNT GROUPS AND DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS

Governmental Fund Types

Special
General Ravenue

Due to other funds $ $ 5543
Cue o primary govermment
Due to component units 973
Due {o other govemmental agencies 776
Eands and notes payable - current
Generat obRgalion debt payable - current
Deferred revenug 1832 12,733

Unfunded clafms and judgments
Revenue bonds payable

COther payables .
Advances from other govemmental agencies
Cther liabihties .........

Debt
Service

5 1,194

Capitat
Projects

s 817

6,284

15,010

12,22

Total Liabiltties . $ 51,703 $ 28,300

$ 37830

5 44,963

Fund Equity and Othar Credits:
Contributed capital Ctbe vt ekt oS ee e e sem e b et $ $
Investrnent in general fixed assets ...
Retained Eamings:
Unresenved
Reserved for restricted assets oo
Fund Balances:
Reserved for debt sarvice - 2002 (2001) ... 13,381
Reserved for future retirement of genarai obligation dett oo, 507
Reserved for deinquent taxes receivable 8,597
Reserved for entumbrntes, prepaids, and camyovers ... ..., 22460
Reserved for mventory .o s 5,678
Reserved for martgage rust . S 281
Resarved for anvironmental remediation 303
Reserved for tax stabilization - 2002 {2001} 11,000
Reserved for tax stabilization - 2003 {2002) and subsequent years'
budgets ... 29,122
Unreserved:
Special assessmen? (defici)
Undesignated .

42,137
72.849

21,658
203

{12.365)

Totat Fund Equity and Other Credils .. R $ 65844 $ 22485

$ 114,886

3 9476

Totat Liabilities, Fund Equity and Other Credits  w.vvmvimea—.  § 120,547 $ 50,785

$ 152,816

§ 54,439

The notes lo the financial statements are an integral pant of this stalement.
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Exhibit 1 {Continuad)

Fiduciary Totals Totals

Fund Type Account Groups  (Memorandum {Memorandum Oniy)

Proprigtary Trust General General Only) Reparting Entity
Fund Type and Foxed Long-Term Primary Compaonen? 2604
Eaterprise Agency Assets Obfigations Government Units 2001 (Restatsd)
$ 14198 ] S $ $ 24552 $ $ 24552 s 1317
. 22354 22 354 17,270

a3 a73 2,112

124,805 131,865 10,602 142,674 63,085

- 2672 2672 2454

9659 9,659 9,659 9.496

61 200,640 266,912 923 279,835 261,072

. - 6,258

112,000 112,000 8420 120,420 110,642

67,905 566,429 §34,324 634,334 596,573
33,360 33,360 33,360 30,534

36,945 36,945 36,945 43,520

44,361 44 369 11,461 55,822 28,451
12,222 12222 12,694

- 7,963 7,963 1,358

- 4514 4.914 3,324

$ 153,131 $ 438.597 S - S 636,734 $ 1,391,258 $ 95,081 S 1485349 $ 1,212,308
$ 303614 8 ] $ § 303614 S289516 5 593,130 0§ 413,258
352,856 352,856 352,856 329,186

221,246 221,246 24,609 245 855 248,121

73,365 23,365 23,365

55,518 55,518 43,481

73,356 73,356 74,007

B.597 8.587 7.963

44,118 44,118 43,154

5,881 5881 6212

281 28 281

303 303 304

374,371 7437 374,371 387,461

11,000 11,000 5500

29,122 29122 17.909
(12,385) {12,385) {11,745}

7. 724 7,724 7,724 9,094

$ 548225 5382095 5352856 S - $1488967 5314125 S 1,813092  $ 1,574,198
$ 701,356 $ 820,692 $ 3523856 § 635,74 $ 2,890,225 § 409,216 $ 3,295,441 § 2,586,506




CITY OF MILWAUKEE

COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -
ALL GOVERNMENTAL FUND TYFES AND EXPENDABLE TRUST FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED BECEMBER 31, 2001

WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMEER 31, 2000

{Thousands of Dofars)

Revenues:
Property taxes
Other taxes .. o
Spedial assessments
Licanses and pemnils
Intergovemmental
Charges for services
Fines and forfeits
Other .

Total Revenues ..

Expenditumes:
Cument
General government
Public safely
Pubkic wosks
Health
Cuflure and recreation
Canservation and develcpment
Cther .
Gapital oullay
Debt Service:
Principal relirement ...........
Inlerest _,

Tolal Expenditures

Excess of Revenues over (under) Expenditares ..o,

adragrry

Other Financing Sources {Uses):
Pioceeds of bonds and notes
Paymant to refunded bond escrow agent
Cperating transfers in
Operating transfers ot . ....covinciseseseressesemss oo
Cperating transfers to component units
Contributions received
Caontributions ysag ..............

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) ..o,

Excess of Revenues and Other Sources aver {under) Expandilures
AN OterUses e cems s e e

Fund Balances - January 1

Resithmal Equity Transfers from Other FUnds ...oeevereeceeeernnssnas
Resttiz| Equity Teansfers (o Othes Funds ...

Fund Balances - December 31

The notes (& the financial stalements ars an inlegrat part of Ihis siatament
B-8

Exhibit 2
Special
Gensral Ravenue
$ 118,804 $
12,658
10,485
278,969 61,220
54,594
4,408
12,408 858
§ 492,35 $ 62218
$ 162,628 3 1619
209,521 13,758
87,453 3,566
11,237 11,800
16,948 2202
92 28,280
$ 485,709 $ 61225
$ {3,353 % 933
$ ron $ 13.585
24,365
(104) {13,045)
(150)
675
{452}
$ 31395 5 540
$ 28042 5 1,533
38 94 21,008
1921
{13} (56}
$ 65,844 $ 22,485



—. Governmeptal Eynd Types
Debt Capita!
Skrvice Projects
$ 69631 $ 2161
1|358
3,807
8,504
26.342 6,255
$ 97.391 $ 20737
L 2 S
104,479
71,504
26,561
5 9B 457 $ 104,479
$ {1.09) $ (83,742)
5§ 23216 § 75853
(23.216)
23,685
{16,628) {2,883
$ 12,058 $ 73970
$ 10,962 $ (.77
104,443 22732
3,484
[3.903) 3,484)
$ 114,986 $ 9476

Fiduciary

Expandable
Trust

11.618

$ 11618

26,195

5 26,185

§ (14.577)

104

$ (14.473)
396.555

13

5 382,095

Exhibit 2 (Continued)

Tatals
{Memorandum Only)
R ting Enti

2001

$ 190,656
14,046
3.807
10,485
348,693
54,594
4,408
57,631

$_ 684320

§ 164,249
223279
81,018
23,037
19,150
36202
26,195
104,479

71,904
26,581

§ 786,085

$ L0775

5 120725
(23.216)
53,155
(32,660)
{150)

675

{462)

§  118.067

$ 15292
583632

5418
{7.456)

$ 597,886

2000

§ 158,718
13,859
3,830
10,154
HBIT
45,383
18,038
69.462

S 567,658

$ 159,103
235,157
105,374

23,568
19,764
M,074
23,054
77,629

70,143
23,733

§ 771.599

3(103.900;

s 91227
37,842
(34.961)
{150}

536

(685)

3 93.80%

S (10,081
597,123

473
{3.873)

$ 503,632



CITY OF MILWAUKEE Exhibit 3
COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENLIES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -
BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL AND BUDGETED SPECIAL REVENUE FUND TYPES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001
{Thousands of Dollars)
General Fund
Actual on Variance -
Amended Budgetary Favorable
Budget Basis (Unfavorabla)
Revenues:
Property taxes ... $ 118804 § 118,804 s -
Other taxes 12,113 12,688 575
Licenses and pemits 8817 10,485 1,668
Intemovemmental .. 278. 732 278,969 237
Charges for services 58,401 54,504 {207
Fines and forfeits  ......... 5,510 4,408 (1.102)
Other ... 13,085 12.408 {671
Tolal Ravenues ... $ 492462 $ 492,356 §__{108)
Expenditures:
Cument
Genertal govemmant $ 171,803 $ 162628 § 9175
Public safety 210,274 209,521 753
Public works .. e 87,574 B7 453 121
Health .. ... 11,370 11,237 133
Culture and raa'eahon - r— TR 17,351 16,948 403
Cansevation and development 8,688 7.922 766
Tolal Expenditures $ 507,080 $ 495,709 $ 11,351
Excess of Revenues over (bnder) Expendilures  ._._._. $ (14,598} § 353) S 41,245
Olher Finanging Sowrces (Uses).
Operaling transfers in s 2708 5 24365 S 1657
COpesating transfers ouvt {104) {104) -
Cperating transfers to companent Yots ....oeeeceeeeeoenes {150) {150} -
Contributions received 675 675 -
Confributions used ... (453) {462) 1
Use of fund balance - reserved for tax stabikzalion ... 5.500 , -
Total Other Financing Sources (USES) . cveoveeviveercaes $ 28166 $ 25824 $ 1658
Excess of Revenues and Other Sources over {under)
Expenditures and Other USes e $ 13,558 S 2647 $ 12,903
Fund Balances - Ja.nuary 1 {(Excludes Reserved for Tax
Stabilization) . AR nk by endra ey v v ree e TR b et br s 40,465 40,455 -
Residual Equity Transfers from Olher Funds ..o 10 1,921 1,911
Residyal Equity Transfers lo Other Funds  .....oocicercvineen. {13) (13)
Fund Balances {Deficits} - December 31 v $ 54,043 $ €8,844 $ 14,501

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of Lhis slatement.
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Special Revanue Funds

Actuzl on Variance -

Amended Budgetary Favorable
Budget Basls {Unfavorable)
L $ S -
61,647 61,220 427

$ 61647 S 61,220 5 (420
5 1,558 $ 1558 s -
13,797 13,758 39
357 3,566 5
12,233 14,800 433
2.208 2202 -]
28,280 28280 -

$ 61,647 $ 61,164 § 483
$ - 3 56 $ 56
$ 4 5 -
5 - $ - $ -
E - $ 56 § 56
{56) (56)

$ - $ - $ -

Exhibit 3 (Conlinued)

Towls

{Memorandum Only)

Reporting Entity

Actual on Variance -

Amended Budgetary Favorable
Budgat Basis (Unfavorable}

$ 118,804 $ 118,504 $ -
12,113 12,688 575
8,817 10,485 1,658
240,379 340,189 (190)
$5,401 54,554 (607}
5,510 4,408 (1,102)
13,085 12,408 (67

$ 554,109 § 853,576 $ {533
$ 173,361 5 164,186 $ 9,175
224 071 273,279 792
91,145 91,19 125
23,603 23,037 566
19,559 19,150 403
36,968 36.202 765

$ 568,707 $ 556,873 $ 11.934
$ {14,598) $ (3.29T) $ 11,301
$ zZ2.708 § 24385 5 1657
(104) (104) -
(150 (150 -

675 675 -

(463) {4562) 1

$ 28,166 § 29,824 5 1,658
5 13,568 % 26,527 § 12,959
40,465 4D 465 -
10 1,921 1.911

- 69) ]

$ 54,043 $ 6BE44 $ 14,81
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CITY OF MILWAUKEE Exhibil 4

COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN RETAINED EARNINGS -

ALL PROPRIETARY FUND TYPES AND DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001

WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000

(Thousands of Doffars}
Totals
{Memocandum Only)
Enterprise . _Reponting Entity
Primary Component 2000
i Government Units 2001 {Restated)
Operating Revenves:
Charges for services § 187,16 § 22157 $ 209,173 $147.234
Cperating Expenses:
Mitwavkea Mabopolitan Sewerage District charges ... $ 2487 3 $ 2487 $ 86M
Empioyee setvices 33,583 852 34475 11,913
Administrative and general 5202 20,025 25,227 25,303
Housing assistance payments 18,292 18,292 17,016
Depreciation 14,687 15,555 30,442 29,190
Transmission and distibvtion ........oo.coece, 16,492 16,492 16,683
Maintenance and Wlifities 15,112 15,112 1333
Services, supplies and materials - 34,249 104 34,453 13,352
Payment in keu of laxes 8,922 8,922 9,156
Water teatment  ....... 8,285 8,295 7,919
Water pumping ........ 4,950 4,950 5031
Billing and collection ......... 4,084 4,084 3,532
Bad debls (510) (510} 858
interast expense and subsides ... 80 80 -1
Rehabilitation costs (COSErecovenios) .....ccoceeeeeane 6,460 6,460 4,174
Show expenses .._....... 148 148 188
Other operaling e.xpenszs a7z 3z 1,220
Total Operating Expenses .. $ 159.675 $ 76.530 $ 232205 $ 185,154
QOperating Income {Loss) $ 3. ${54.373) $ (23.032) § {37.965)
Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses):
Federat grants and subsidies 3 $ 59,417 $ 59417 $ 35280
Interest incoma e rennees 617 3,928 4,545 6,429
Interest expense . (4,654) {1,930) {6.604) (7.088)
Lizss on eardy repayments of Ta:( Inc:emanhl Districls .. (816) (816)
Net gain (loss) on sale ol fixed 2sSelS o rniivreens {197) (197 (12,163}
Contritutions 129 128 139
Other _, {401) 3.634 3233 1,341
Tolal Nonpperating Revenees (Expenses) ..........coe.. S {4,438) § 64,145 $ 59707 $ 23,908
Incoene {Lass) before Cperating Transfers ... 5 26,503 $ 9772 $ 36675 $ (14,057
Operaling Transfers n 8,018 9,018 5,457
Operaling Transfers Out (29,513) (29.513) (12,348)
Operaling Transfers from Primary Govemmenl .................. 150 150 150
Net Income (Loss) bafoce Capilal Contributions. .......... $ 6408 $ g8 5 16,330 $ {16,788}
Capital Contribulions Immbe ety ar o P pnrae 3593 3,041 6,634
Net Incocre (Loss) S 10,001 3 12,963 $ 22964 5 (16,788}
Retained Eamings - January 1, as reslaled .......oooeeeee.... 236,475 11,645 248,121 264.909
Residual Equity Fransfer to Other Funds  ......o..o.oovvvineee {1,885} {1,865) -
Retained Eamlngs - December 31 aocenneeen. S $ 244811 § 24,508 $ 269,220 $248121

The noles to the linancial slatements are an integrat part of this slatemert
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CITY OF MILWAUKEE

COMBINED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS -

ALl PROPRIETARY FUND TYPES AND DISCRETELY PRESENTEDR COMPONENT UNITS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001

WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000

(Thousands of Doliars)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Operating income (loss)

Adjustments {o Reconcile Operaling Income (Loss) to Cash
Provided by (Used for) Operating Activites:
Depreciation

Bad deblexpense .

({Gain} kss on properties

Other NONOPErating MrEVERUES (BXPENSESY wrmre s oo e veremsns b

(Increass) decrease in receivables
(Increases) decrease in due from other funds ..,

{Increase) decrease In due fromn primary govemnment
(Increase) decrease in due from other govammental agencies ...,
(Increase) decreasa in inventory of matesials and SUPPIES ....voieecoe.e..
(Increase) decreasa in inventory of property for reszie ...
{increase) decrease in prepaid items

(Increase) decrease in defemmed charges

{Increase) decreasa in olher assels

Increase (decease) in accounts payable

lnerease (dearease) in accrued wages ..

Increase (decreqse) in acorued expenses

increase (decrease) in due to other funds

Increase (decrease) in due o primary govemment

tnerease (decrease) in due to other governmental 3gentes .o,

increase (detrease) in dalemred reveaue

Increase (decrease) in other liabllites

Net Cash Provided by (Used for} Operating Activites ..o

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES;
Operating transfers to other funds ........
Other nonaperaling revenues (expenses)

Contributions -
Proceeds from bonds and notes payable

Retitement of bonds, noles and revenue bonds
Residual Equity transfer to cther funds
Nel increase (decrease) in due Lo primary govermnment

Loss on earty repayment of Tax incremental Districts .,

Operating transfer ffom primasy GOVEIMMENL ... isiveneoscseineesereessoessem s reseas

Net Cash Provided by (Used for) Noncapital Financing Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Capital contributions ...
Proceeds from bond anticipalion notes |

rtab

Proceeds from sale of bonds and notes ...

Proceeds from sale of revenue bonds

Bormdissuance costs ..,

Acquisilion of property, plant and eQUIBMENT . ...e.veereceeee e reee e e e

Retirement of bonds, notes and revenue bonds
Payment lo refunded bond escrow agent ... ...

Exhibit 5
Totals
(Memorandum Cnly)
Enterprise Repotting Entity
Primary Component 2000
Government Units 2001 {Restateqd)
$ 31,341 £(54,373} $(23,032) (37,965
14,887 15,585 30,442 29,190
{510) G610} 859
(197 (197) 14,724
560 560 425
{2.411) {11.030) {13,448) (12,246)
50 50 (158)
1,138 1,139 {2,094)
2412 2,412 (9.070)
(433) (433) 1.063
513 513 4220
7 {355) 278) (126)
(355} (385} )
=31 (599) 17 176
{499) 7590 719 6,263
208 209 53
866 (2.225) {1,358) 1523
9,465 9,485 (2.298)
5,304 5,304 1,502
5,208 £.208 {5.319)
10 {7.601) {7,591) 6,200
1,520 1.520 2,385
$ 5,373 $(37.556) $ 16,817 5 .699)
$5(20755) 3 ${20,755) $ (3.152)
9,297 9,297 4979
54,195 54,195 31,066
10,596 10,5% 1.765
(3.647) {3.847) {773)
{1,865) {1,863)
{182) {182) 29%
(818) (815
150 150 150
S{22620) § 69593 § 46573 § 3153
$ 4,028 5 858 S 4,985 $ 34,567
- 6,258
10,440 10,440 4,891
29,862 29,862
(416) (416}
{20,931) {35,118) {55,549) (64,867
(15.783) {58} {15,841) (8.713)
(7,685} (7.689)



CITY OF MILWAUKEE
COMBINED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS -

Exhibit 5 (Conlinued)

ALL. PROPRIETARY FUND TYPES AND DISCRETELY PRESENTED CONPONENT UNITS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 34, 2001

WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000

{Thousands of Doflars)

Totals
{Memorandum Only)
Enterprise Reporting Entity
Primary Component 2000
Goverrunent Units 2001 {Restated)
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES (Conbnued}
Retirement of general obligation debt 5 $ $ - $ {8,950)
IFEIESE PRI .ovoitisisesiem i e e e ve st s b e cee s or st s ae st sesee e see et oo oo s . {4.644) (1,850} {6,594) {6.073)
Sale of 1and and olNET ASEEES ......eeericee e e eeestse e e eeer s et e - 26
Transfer to fiscal agent - (29,975) (29,975)
Transfer from fisczl agent §.258 6258
Operating transfers to other funds 260 260 2n
Repairs and restacabons {1,354) (1,354) (422)
Decrease in fiscal agent funds 487 487 11,135
Net proceeds from sale of property, plant and eqQUIDMEBAL ..o ossersens - (1,271)
Net Cash Provided by (Used for) Capital and Related Fnancing Activilies .. $ (29,584) £(35.681) $(65,265) (33,048
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Interest income 5 612 5 3528 5 4,540 $ 6§399
Increase {decrease) in fiscal agent funds ..o ceeeee s i 23,385 23,365
Purchases of investments {26,849) {26,849 {17,243)
Proceeds from the sale and maturity of investments ... 4,000 22,384 26,384 13,648
New ioans made {9,332) {9,332} {11,916}
Loan payments received 13,465 13,455 6,511
{Increase) decrease in acorusd interest 51 51 (1))
Capital expenditures on propecties ......... {1.568) (1.568) (2,460}
Proceeds from the sale of properties .- 753 753 877
Other 1,365 1,265 1,028
Net Cash Provided by (Used for) Investing Adivities $ Zr9TT 5 4197 §$ 32174 5 (3,178
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents .......oeeeeeeeceeecescerseeen, $ 30146 S 553 $3089% S5 (6392
Cash and Cash EQuivalents 3l JANUANY T ...vvceevimereeoasenssstseeseerns eeeeemeeentaresvenn 20,022 35,00¢ 55,022 61,414
Cash and Cash Equivalents at December 31 $ 50,168 $ 35,553 $ 85721 $ 55,022
Cash and Cash Equivalents at December 31 Consist of
Unresiricted &ash $ 26,803 $ 33744 $ 60,547 $ 51,205
Restricded cash ., 23,365 1,809 25,174 3817
$ 50,168 $ 35553 5 B5 T2 $ 55,022
Non-cash Activites:
Erterprise Funds:

The Port of Milwaukee dispased of 530 fulty depreciated fixed assets during the year.

During the year, wates mains and related propesty, instalied by others were deeded to the Water Works in the amount of $138.
During the year, the city lansterred $179,871 000 (net bock value) of infraslructure assels to the Sewer Maintenance Fund.

Component Units:

Pabst Theater recorded equipment purchases of $1,616 paid directly by the City of Miwaukee.

Tha noles to the financizl statements are an infegral part of this statement.
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CITY OF MILWAUKEE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accompanying general puppase finandial statements have been prepared in conformity with actounting princigles geperally accepted in
Lhe Uniled States of America. The following is a summary of the significant accounting palicies,

A. Reporting Entity

The City of Mitwaukee (the "Cily”) was incomporaled on January 31, 1845, and oparates under a CounciMayer form of government. These
financial statemenis present the City (the primary govemment) and other arganizations, including component units, for which the natune and
significance of their relationship with the primary government are such that their exclusion would cause Lhe meporling entity’s financial
statements to be misteading or incomplete. The component units discussed below are legally separate organizations for which the elected
officials of the City are accountable, The CRy is considered financially acoountsble if & appoints @ voing majostty of the omanization's
govemning bedy and is abie to impose its wi on the organization, or there is a potenltial for the omganization to provide specific financial
benefits 1o or burdens on the City. The City may be fmanclally accountable # an organization is fiseally depandent on the primary
govemmeant,

Blended Component Units

The City does not have any component units thal are considered “blended.”
Discretely Presented Component Units

The companent units columns in the general purpose financial statements include the Snandial dala of the City's component tmits. They are
reported in 2 separate cokmn te emphasize that they are legally separate from the City.

COMPONENT UNITS ENTERPRISE FUNDS

Housing Authorfty - This entity is used to account for the Fedasml and State granls relating peimarily lo tow income housing and reatai
assistance programs. The entire governing board is appoimed by the Mayor of the City. The daily operations of the Housing Autharity of the
City of Minvaukee (HACM} are managed by City employses.

Milwaukee Economic Davelopment Corporation - The Miwaukee Economic Development Corporation (MEDC) is a nonstock, nenprofil
crganizalion formed (o promote economic devetopment within the City. The prindipal objective of the Corperation is to benefit the community
by fastering increased employment thraugh expansion of business and industry within the melsopofitan Milwaukee area. MEDC's primary
source of funds i interest on loans orniginally granted through the City.

Neighborhood Impravement Development Corporation - The Neighborhood Improvement Development Comeration (NIDC) s a nonprofit
corporation estabiished 10 promote reinvestment in both housing and commercial structures within the City. NIDC programs encourage
private lending institutions and property owners 1o make impeovements o the community’s homes and businesses. Comorate officers of
NIDC are provided by the Ciky and daily operations are managed by City emplovees.

Pabst Thealer - The City esiablished the Pabsl Theater as a municipal theater pursuant o Wisconsin Statutes. A separate board (Pabst
Theater Board) Is responsible for the maintenanee, supervision and operation of the theater. The Chy Issued debt to finance building repairs
and annually provides significant subsidies to the Pabst Theates,

Redevelopment Authodly - The Redevelopment Aulhority of the City of Miwaukee (RACM) is responsile for activities related fo the
prevention and eliminalion of blight and sum conditions in the City. The City appoinls all members of the Board and approves the budget.

Financial statements of the individual compenent units can be obtained from their respactive administrative offices,

The general purpose financial statements exclude the accounis of the Wisconsin Center Dislict, Milwaukee Public Schools, the Milwaukee
Melropotitan Sewerage Dishict, Work Festivals Inc. (Summerfest”} and the Employes' Retirement Sysiem of the City of Mitwaukee, because
these entilies cperate with separate goveming boands and do not meet Ihe crileria established by the Governmanial Agcounting Standards
Boand (GASB) Statement 14 as component units of the City. The Milwankee Metropolitan Sewerage District (MMSD) is a specdial purpose
municipal corporation created o provide sewerage treatment sesvices in the Milwaukee metropolitan area. The City is respansible for paying
usage charges within s jurisdiclion. These amounts, in um, are billed by the City to its waler customers. The City has no equity inlerest in
MMSD. Financial statements for MMSD can be oblained from its adrministrative office.

8. Fund Accounting
The accounts of the City are organized on the basis of funds aad aceaunt groups, Each fund is a separate fisca) and accounling enlity with 2

sel-balancing set af accounts inckading assels, liabikties, equities, revenues and expenditures o expensas, which are segregated for the
pupose of camying on specific acliviies or alaining cerlain abjectives in accondance with specific regulations, restictions or limitations.
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CITY OF MILWAUKEE
NOTES TQ THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001

Account groups are used to establish accounting corbrol and accounlability for the City's general fixed assets and general long-temm
obligations. The varous funds are grouped in Lhe accamgpanying finandial statements into eighl generic fund types and three broad fund

categories as follows:
GOVERNMEKNTAL FUND TYPES

General Fund - The General Fund is used {o account for all Fnandal resounces, except thosa required 10 be accounted for in ancther fund.

Special Revenue Funds - Special Revenue Funds am used 1o acoount for the proceeds of specific revenue sources (other than special

assessments, expendable trust or major capital projects) requing separate accounting becatse of legal or regulatory provisions or
admintstrative action,

Grant and Aid Projects - This Fund is usad to account for Federal and State grants whose proceeds are legally restricted to expenditures for
specific purposes and which are not accounted for in olher special ravenue funds,

Community Davelopment Block Grant » The Community Development Block Grant Program receives annual grans pursuant to the Federal
Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, This fund also includes ameunts received under Lhe Seclion 108 Loan Program. The
City's Department of Administralion is responsibi for the planning, execution and evaluation of the Program.

Dalinquent Tax - This Fund was established as a reserve against uncollectad delinguent property taxes. Fund resourees, censisting initially
of bond proceeds, are usad {o pwchase delinquent property taxes from the General Fund, Collections on these purchased receivables and
refated interest therecn are transfered to the General Qbligation Debt Service Fund to provide for the related debt service requirements.

Debt Service Funds - Debt Service Funds are useéd to gocount for the accumulation of resources and the paymeant of principal and interest
on long-emn genaral obigation debt and expenditures incumad in conneclion with administration of the Public Dabt Amentization Fund.

General Qbiigation Debt - Principal and interes! on the City's cuistanding long-temm general obligation debt are paid from this Fund.

Fublic Debt Amariizabion - The Public Debt Amertization Fund is govemed by Section 67.101 of the Wisconsin Statutes for the retirement of
the public debt. Sea Mote 5 lor further discussion.

Capital Projests Funds - Capital Projects Funds are used to account for the fnandial resouw/ces segregated for the acquisition or
construction of major capital faciities other than thoss financed by proprietary funds. Capital Pigjects Funds are identified as follows:

Bridges — Yo account for the financing, construction and repair of bridges and viaduets.

Buidings and Grounds - To account for the financing, consiruction and fepair of buidings and improvements to city-owned land and
playgrounds.

Sewers — To account for the financing and construction of new and replacement storm, sanitary and combined sewer projects.
LUrban Renewal - To account for the financing and costs of aciivities undartaken to prevent and eliminate blight and slum conditions.

Streels - Ta account for the finanting and construction of new and replacement streets, alleys and sidewalks; and for the cost of installation
of street lights, traffic lights, parking signs and communication equiprment.

Tax incremental Districts - To actount for the financag and costs of redeveloping blighted areas which are eligible under the Wisconsin Tax
Incremental law, Section 66.46 of the Wisconsio Slalules.

Special Assassments — To account for the fnancing and construction of the Gity's assessable projects.  Upon complelon, owners of
benefiied property are assessed for consbruction costs incurred.

PROPRIETARY FUND TYPES

Enterprise Funds - Enterprise Funds are used ta account for operations that provide services which are financed prmanily by user charges,
or aclivities where periodic measurement of net incomne is apgrapriale for capital maintenance, public palicy, management control or other
purposes.

Metropolitan Sewerage District User Charge - The Metmpolitan Sewerage District User Chamge Fund is used o account for sewerage
treatment charges by the MEwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage District to Lhe City on a “wholesale® user charge basis and the subsequant biling
by the City to customers on a “relaif” basis. The City adds administrative exgense o the District's charges and includes the sewer user
charges on the quaderty water bills.



CITY OF MILWAUKEE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001

Parking - The Parking Fund was established o sccount for revenues derived from parking meters, parking pemits, rentals and leasing of
parking fadlities and other revenues attributable to parking. The revenues ame used to defray administrative and operational costs related o
pazking operations, and to atquire, landscape and construct parking 1ots and structures,

Port of Milwaukee - All activities necessary (o operate and maintain the Port of Milwaukee and other related harbor activities are accounted
for in this Fund,

Sewer Maintenance — The Sewer Maintenance Fund, in accordance with Wiscansin State Stalutes Section 66.076, pammits municipalities to
implement sewer fees to recover the costs of operatfon, maintenance, repair, and depreciation of sewer collection and transportation facilities,
Sewer maintenance costs are recovered theough a user fee rather than through the property tax,

Solid Waste ~ The Sofid Waste Fund is usad o accounl for the entie Department of Public Works — Sanitation Division. Stite Statutes,
Section 65.076, permits municipafities to knplement a spacial charge for curent services which may allocate all or patt of the senvice costs
onte the praperlies served. The Cy established the fund to recovar approxmately 25% of solid waste collection costs thtough a user fea,
The remaining costs as well a5 smow and ice removal will be subskiized through the genaral fund, The fund was desed effectiva Decamber
31, 2001,

Water Works - All activities necassary to provide water services to residents of the City and cutlying areas are accounted for in this Fund,
Fund activities inctude administration, biling and coBeclion, operations, maintenance and financing.

FIDUCIARY FUND TYPES

Trust and Agency Funds - Trust and Agency Funds are used o acesunt for assets hefd i Irust or as an agent by the City for others.
Expendable trus? funds are accounted for and repaited in essentially the same manner as govemmental funds. Agency funds are custodial in

nature and are used to account for assets held by the City as an agent for individuals, ptivate organizations, other gavernmental vnits and
ather funds.

Expendabie Trust Funds
Property Tax Calfection - This Fund is used to acoount for advance property tax collections for the subsequent year's budget

Deposils and Other Trust Funds - This Fund is used to accourt for the receipt and disposition of perdormance deposits, and for deposits Ihe
City halds in the capacity of trusiee for various individuals, governmantal entities and nenpublic organizations.

Deferrad Compensation - The City's defefred compensation plan far City employees is accounted for in this fund in accordance with GASE
Ne. 32, Azcounting and Financial Reportng for Intemal Revenue Code Section 457 Deferred Compensation Plans.

Agency Fund - Monies collectad by the City for other govetmental enbities are repored in the Agency Funds.
AGCOUNT GROUPS

General Fixed Assets Account Group - General fixed assels of the City, other than those reporied in U enterprise fund are reported in
this account group.

General Long-Term Obligations Account Group - General fong-term debt and cedain unfunded liabilties of govemmental bnds are
accounted for in the General Long-Term Qbligations Account Group.

C. Meaasyrament Focus

The measuramant focus of all governmental and expendable Wrusl funds is the Row of cumrent finandial resources concepl.  Under this
measurement focus, sources and uses of financial resources, including capital eullays, bond proceeds and retirement are reflecled in
operations. Resources not availabia te finance expenditures and commitments of the curment period are recognized as deferred revenue ora
resesvation of fund equity. Liabilifies for claims, judgments, compensated absences and pension contribulions, which wil ol be curenty
liquidated using expendable available fnancial resources, are showa in lhe Genera! Long-Term Obligations Account Group. The related
expendiiies are recognized when the fiabilities are kquidated,

The measurement focus of proprietary funds and component unit enterprise funds is on the delerminalion of net income, financial position
and cash flaws. Under this measurement focus, revenues and expenses are matched using the accrual basis of accounting. Ali feed assets
are capitalized at histotical cost and depreciated over ther useful lives.



CITY OF MILWAUKEE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED CECEMBER 31, 2001

0. Basis of Accounting

Al governmenta), expendable trust, and assets and liabiliges of agency funds utidize the modified accrual basis of acoounting, Under this
method, revenues are recognized in the accounting period in which they become susceptible to acerual; that is, when they become both
measurable and avaiiable to fitance expendidures and commitments of the curent petiod. Significant revenues susceptibie to acorual inchude
most governmental pevenues and charges for servites. Licenses and penmits, fines and foffeits generaily are recorded as revenues when

Wedhushbmmuﬂymnmmawmbbmﬂamauymm. Spedal assessments are recognized as revenues whean lhey are
dus,

Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, expenditures are recognized: when the related liabilty is incurred, if measursble, except for
interest on general long-tarm debt and unfunded claims, judgments, compensated absences and peasion contributions, which are recorded in
the general long-enn debt account group and expensed when due,

The proprietary funds and companent unit enterprise funds follow the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of accounting,
fevenues are recognized in the accounting petied in which they ane eamed and expensas are recognized in the period they are incuaed,

Cash and cash equivalents

For purposes of the slatements of cash flows, all highly bquid Investments (including restricted cash and investments) purchassd with a
matusity of three monihs of less ame consldered 1o be cash equivalents, The City manages a cash and investment pool to maximze retum ona
funds while providing Gquidity to meet day to day cbligations. Each fund's equity in the City's investment pool & considered (o be @ cash
equivalent, since the funds can depost or effectively withdraw cash at anylime without prier nolice or penalty. The Housing Authority
cansiders amounts an deposit with fiscal agents to be investments and not cash equivalents due Lo their restrictive naturg.

Irvestments

Investments, primarily cansisting of fixed income securilies, are reported at fair value. Fair value 5 the amount 2t which an investment could
be exchanged i a quwent transaction between wilkog parties, other (han in a forced of Fquidation sale, Commercial paper, which is short-
tenm, defined as having an anginal maturity of one year or less, and highly kquid is samled at amortized cost

Investment income, including changes in the fair value of investments, is recognized as revenue in the Statements of Revenues,
Expenditures, and Changes In Fund Balances and the Slatements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes 'n Retained Eamings. Realized
gains and losses, defined as the difference between the proceeds of the sale and the origina! cost of the investments sold, are alsc nchided
in invesiment income.

Accrued inferest on investments is reconded as eamad, sinca It is bolh measurable and available. lavestrent transaclions ane recorded on
tha trade date,

Wisconsin Statutes permit the City to invest funds net immediately needed in any of Lhe following:

- Time deposits maturing within three years in any credit union, bank, savings bank, rust company or savings and loan assochation which
ans avthorized to frensaci business in the State of Wisconsin.

. Bonds or securlies issued or quzranieed by Lhe Federml govemment

»  Bonds or securities of any counly, city, drainage district, fechnical college district, village, town or school distict of the State of
Wisconsin, as well as bonds issued by a local exposition district, a el professlonal baseball park district, or the University of
Wisconsin Hospitals 2nd Clinics Authority.

. Local Gevemment Pooled - Investment Fund of the State of Wisconsin,
. Repurchass agreements with public depositaries, if the agreement is secured by federal bonds or securities.

+  Any Security which matures or which may be tendaced for purchase at the aption of the halder within nol more than seven years of the
date on which R is acquired, i that security has a rating which is the highest or secand highest rating category assigned by Standard &
Poor's Carporation, Moody's Investars Service, Inc. of other simist nationally recognized rating agency or if that secunity is senior to, or
on 2 parity with, a security of the same issuer which has such a rating.

+  Secynlies of opan-end management investment companies or investment trusts (mutual funds) if the portfolio is Emited to {a) bands and
securiies. issued by the federal government or a comymissian, board or other insbumentality of tha federal govemment, (b} bonds that
are guaranteed as 1o principal and interest by the federal govermnmant or 2 commission, beand or other instumentality of the federal
govemment, and () repurchase agreements that are filly collateralized by these bonds or securities.



CITY OF MILWAUKEE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001

Property taxes

Properly taxes are recordad as receivables and deferred revenues in 2 tust fund in the year Jevisd because Lhe taxes are msticted 1o
funding the suctesding year's budget approgriations, Property tax payments receivad prior to year end are also reflected in 2 trust fund.
Fropedy taxes are recognized in the appropriate goverynental funds as tevenues in the succeeding year when they are coflected and
avalable (o finance City services. If not eoliected at year end, the delinquent property taxes are reflected as recaivables and defermed
revenues. Definquent property taxes and related interest are recognized as revenues when collected,

The allowance for uncoliectible property taxes is based on an analysls of the definquent property taxes and, in management's judgment,
fepresents an amount adequale to provide for potential uncoliectitée taxes. The afowance is increased by provisions charged to revenues
and is reduced by taxes mcsivable written off.

Propeity taxes receivable purchased from other taxing asuthorities are prasented in the accompanying financial stalements net of an
allawzance for estimated vhcoflaciible amounts.

The City, through its Special Revenue Fund - Delinguent Tax, issues general obligation short-tefm promissory notes to finanes the purchase
of Lie mast recent delinguent taxes from #s General Fund.  Collections on these definquencies are used for the associated debt service
requirements

Unbilled services

Unbilled waler and sewer sarvices al year end amre recognzed as revenues and recefvables in the accompanying fnancial statemenls,

Special assessments

Special assessments consist of tapital projects constructed through non-5pecial assessment debt. Special assessments are recorded as
feceivables and defemed revenyes when the related capital outlays are made and are recorded as revenues when due and payable. All
special assessments are due when billed and may be pakd on an installment basis with serest Special assessment receivables Lhat
become delinquent are added 1o the general kax roll. The method of enforcing collections is lhe same as for general ity kaxes with like force
and effect.

Nctes and loan receivables

The General Fund, the Special Revenue Fund - Community Devatopment Block Grant, and Neighborhood improvement Development
Cerporalion hold notes and Yoans receivable from individuals, small businesses and comerations in the Milwaukee area which are secured by
primary or secondary security interests in reat estate or other assets, The City periodically analyzes the collectibiity of the noles and loans
thal are not Insured and providas allewances as considered NECESSATY.

The City creates tax incremental disticts {TID) 10 issue debt to fund redeveloproent projects, Pursuant Lo a coapemafion agreement between
the City, he Redevelopment Authority of the City of Miwaukee (Authority), and the Miwaukee Econemic Developmen! Corperation
{Corporation), the City provides the Authority and the Comporation with the funds necessary to carry out the loan to a private developer lo
finance the redevelopment projecds. Loan repayments 1o the Authority and the Corporation from the privale developer, including interest
income as wek as other preject income, are transfemed to the City until the City's toan has been repaid or bhe TID explres, The City reflects
these lpans as notes receivable and deferred revenue in an amount estimated to be repaid from the Authority and the Corporation.

Inventories

Inventories of malerials and supples are staled at moving average cost, based upon perpetual recomkeeping syslems and periodic cycle
counts of quantities on hand. Invenlofies are accounled for under ke tonsumplion method, whesmeby inventory acquisitions are recorded in
inventary secounts intially and chamged as expeaditures or expenses whan requisilioned for use. Inventodes in govemmental funds ame
reseved for in fund balance, because inventones are nol expendable avaitable financial msources.

Prepaid items

Cash payments benefiting future perieds have been tecorded as prepaid iterms. They will be reflected as expenditures or expenses when
incurred in the subsequenl year. Prepaid Hems in goverrmental funds are reserved for in fund balance, because prepaids are nol
expendable available finandial resources,

Property, plant and equipment

Gereral fixed assets are recorded as expenditures in the govemmental funds when purchased or constructed. Subsequently, the general

fixed assels, except for infrastructuses, are capitalized in the General Fixed Assels Ascoumnt Group. Infrastruciure assets such as roads,
bridges, cumbs, gutiers, slreets, sidewalks and drainage ang lighting systems are not recorded in the General Fixed Assels Account Group.
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Assels are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost. Assets received as gifts or donations are recurded alt fair market value at
time of receipt

Depreciation Is nol recorded on general ficed assets,
Fixed assets of the proprietary funds and component units are capitalized at cost whan purchased or constructed. When the fixed assels are

petired or sold, the related cost and acounutaled depreciation are removed from the accounts, and the gain or loss on disposition is generally

reflected in operations. Maintenance and repair costs are charged to cperations as incurred and renewals and improvements are added to
the assel accounts. Interest cast was nol capitalzed during construction for 2001,

Deprediation is provided over the estimated useful lives using the straightine method. The estimated depreciation fives in vears are as
follows:

Port of Water Sewer Component

Parking Milwaukee Vorks Maintenance Units

Buiklings and improvements _.............. - 20-40 10-50 45-58 7T-EQ

Machinery and equipment 10 340 6-56 37 320
Water transmission and distribufion Systems ..................... © 84-110

Pension contributions

Pension contrbutions made on behalf of the emplovees ane recorded in all funds 2s an expenditure when Lhe fiability is incured. The
employers share of the annual conlrbutien is necorded in the proprietary funds as an expense when Lhe fiabilty is incurred and m the
govemmental funds as &n expenditure when the Fabilly is liquidated with expendable avsilable financlal resources.

Compensated absences

Vacation pay is recorded as a liability in the General Long-Term Obligations Account Geoup as the bemefits accrue 10 the employees.
Accrued vacation pay is recognized as an expendifure when liquidated with expendable available fnandal resources. Al year end, zcorued
vacation pay that will not be liquidaled with expendable available financial resources is reported as a Eabdity in the General Long-Tern

Obligalions Account Group, Vacation benefits are reconded as expenses in the proprietary funds over the perieds the benefits acerue o the
employaes.

City employens accrue slk leave in accordance with labor agreements or Section 350-37 of the Code of Ordinances, Sick leave is recorded
as an expanditure ar expense when paid. Upon retirement, employees are entitted 1o payment for 2 pottion of accumylated sick leave as
terminal leave. The fiabilty for terminal legve is dascribed in Note 6.

Chaimns and judgments

Claims and judgrments are recorded as liabilties when they are both probable and estimable. Claims and judgmenls that are expedied to be
liquidaled with expendable avalable financizi msources are recorded during the year a5 expenditures in the governmental funds. If they are
rot expedied 1o be Bquidated with expendabte available financil resources, 2 kability is recorded in the General Long-Temm Chbligations
Account Group. The retated expenditure is recognized when the Gability is lquidated. Claims and judgments are recorded in the propnielary
funds as expenses when Lhe rafated labisties are incurmed.

The City accrues environmental remediation obligations when related Fabilities are probable and reasonably estimable. These aceruals
generally ara recogmized no later than complation of a remedial feasibility study and are adjusted as furher information develops o
Graumstances change. Casts of future expenditures for environments! remediation oliligations are not discounted lo their present value.

Encumbrances and camryovers

Encumbranca accounting is employed in the govemmental funds, Encumbrances of purchase orders, contracts and other commitments for
lhe expenditure ot funds are recorded as resesvations of fund balance wntl expended. Encombrances are not reflected as expenditures.
Expenditures are recorded and encumbrances are liquidated when the services or matedals are received. Appropralions not encumbered
and nat camied over by actlon of the Cominon Countil lapse at year end. Unencumbered appropdations, authorized fer cany-over, are
recorded as reservations of fund balance.
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Intergovernmental revenues

Non-exchange transactions, in which the City receives vakse without directly giving equal valua in mtum, include property bax revenue, grants,
and other conlributions. On an accrual basis, revenue fram property Bxes is recognized in the pedod for which the levy is intended to
finance, which 5 the year after the taxes are levied. Taxes levied in 20071 that will be collecied in 2002 are recarded as receivable and
defered revenue. Deferred revenue arises when assets are recognized before revenue recognition criteia have been satisfied. Revenue
from grants and other contributions are recognized in the year in which all eligibility requiretnents have been salisfied and the resources are
avatable. Eligibiity requirements include timing requirements, which specify the year when the resources are required to be used or the
fiscal year when use is fist permitted, malching requirements, in which the City must provide locl resources to be used for a specified
purpase, and expenditure mequirements, in which the resources are provided to the City on a reimbursement basis.

Interest on general cbiligation fong-term and special assessment debt

Interest on generl cbligation long-term and special assessments debt is recored as an expenditure when due and payable om the primary
govemment.

Interfund transactions

Transaclions between funds are categorized as {1) quasi-external, (2) reimbursements, {3) advances or leans and {4) cperating and residusal
equity transfers.

Quasi-external transactions primarity consist of bilings for sarvices rentered belween departments and payments in fieu of taxes and are
accounted for as reverues and expendinwes or expenses in the funds involved ¥ lhey are similar to transaclions with third pasties.
Reimbursements for expenditures made on behalf of another fund are recoded as expenditures in the reimbursing fund and as reduddions of
expenditures in the reimbursed fund. Advances or loans between funds are sccounted for as shoet er long-term interfund receivables and
payables,

Transfers to and from funds and compenent units Lo finance current operations are accounted for as operaling transfers. Operating transfers
ame addiions of deductions 1o the excess of revenues over expenditures in the govermental funds, and to net income in the proprietary
funds. Transfers between the govemmental and proprietacy unds for the purchase or construction ef ficed assets and other long-lerm capital
needs and the relumn of capital 1o the governmental funds are accounted lfor as residual equity transfers, Residual equity transfers are
addiions or dedudlions lo fund balances in lhe governmental funds and 1o either contributed capital or retained eamings. as appropriale, in
the proprietacy funds,

Sudgets and budgetary accounting

City departments am requlred to submit their annual budget requests for the ensuing year to the Mayer by the second Tuesday in May. The
Oepanment of Administration, Division of Budget and Management Analysis, acting as siaff for the Mayor, reviews the request in detail with
the departments during Jure 2nd July. Afler all of the requests have been reviewed, the Mayor submits his proposed Executive Budget to
the Common Councd. The City Chatter requires that this be done on or before September 28, The Common Council must complete its
review and adopt the budget on or before November 14, Onge adopled, Common Council approval is required to amend the total
appropriabons by a department, the legal leve) of controf for each budget  During the year, various amendments were made to the budget
including canryovers of appropriations and encumbeances, and intemal transfers.

Anral budgels are [agally adopted by the Common Gouncil for soma but not all govemmertal funds. Annual budgets are not adopted for
Spedal Revenue Fund - Delinquent Tax, Debt Service Fund - Public Debt Amortization and Capital Projacts Funds. The Dedt Service Fund -
General Ubligation Debt uses a nonappropriated budget. Budgets for Capitz Projects Funds are prepared for lhe project &fe. rather than for
the slandard curent fiscal year, Therefore, pioject appropriations for these budgets lapse at the conclusion of the project.  All cther
appropriations lapse at the end of the coment fiscal year. Governmenkal funds for which annual hudgets have been adepted are included in
the accompanyig Statemant of Revenues, Expendiires and Changes in Fund Balances - Budgat and Actual,

As of December 31, 2001, the Deb! Service Funo - General Obligation Debt has a fund balance of $42.137,000 reserved for 2002 debt
senvice,

All adapled budgets for the govemmental funds are prepared in accocdance wilh the modified accrual basis of accounting, except for the
ireatment of the fund balance - reserved for tax stabilization, For budge! purposes. the fund balanee - reserved for tax stabilization is
reflected as othes financing =ources whereas for accounting purposes, it is reflected 35 pari of fund balance. The difference between the fund
balance on a GAAP basis compared 1o budget basls is $5,500,000 at January 1, 2001,

For 2001, expenditures did not axceed appropiations in the General Fuad.
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GASB Pronouncements

The Govemmental Accounting Standards Beard (GASE) Statement No_ 20 (Statement) “Accounting and Financial Reporting for Proprietary
Fuads and Other Governmenlal Enftites that use Proprietary Fund Accounting” provides that proprietary funds should apply ali GASB
pronocuncemeants, as well as the following pronouncements issved on or before Novemnber 30, 1989, unless those pronouncements confiict
with ar contradict GASB pronouncements: Stalements and Interpretations of the Financial Accounting Standards Boarng {FASB), Aocounting
Principles Board (APB) Opmians, and Accounting Research Bullstins (ARB's) of the Commitiee on Accounting Procedure. The City has
elecied to 2pply only FASB, APB and ARB matedials issued on or before November 30, 1989 to the propristary funds and companent units.

Accounting Changs

The City implemenied GASS Statement No. 33, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Nonexchange Transaclions, and GASE Statement
No. 36, Recipient Reporting for Certaln Shared Nonexchange Revenues (an amendment of GASE Sitement No. 33).  The implementation
msulted In 3 change in presentalion of capilal contributions on the statements of revenue. expenses and changes in relained eamings.
Capital contribulions are reflecied as past of non-oparaling revenue as oppesed to conbibuted capital.

Hew Accounting Pronouncements

GASB recently issued Statement No. 34, Basic Finangial Statements.and Management's Discussion and Analysis - for State and Locg!
Govemnments, Stalement No. 37, Basic Financial Stalements - and Management’s Discussion and Analysis - for State and Local
Govemments, StatementOmnibus, and Staternent No. 38, Cerlain Financral Staternent Note Disclosures. The City will implement GASE 34,

37, and 38 for the year ended December 31, 2002 Management is currenlly evaluating the impact of these statements on the results of
operalions and financial condbon.

Reclassification

Certam ampunis in the prior year have been reclassified 10 be consistenl with Lhe curent year preseniation.
Total columns on the Combined Statements - Ovarview

Tolal columns on the Combined Statements - Qverview are caplionsd Memcrandum Only and are presented for analysis puposes only.
Dala in thesa columns do not present financial position, results of cperations or cash flows in conformity with accounting principals generally
accepled in the United States of America. Sech data are nol comparable to a consolidation because interfund eliminations have not been
made in the aggreqgation of the data,

Comparative memorandum tolal data for the pror year have been gresented in the accornpanying fAnancial stalements to provide 2a
understanding of changes in the Ciky's financial position and operation. See note 13 for the impact of restated prior year amounts.

2, DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

The City mainlains 3 eash and investment pool thal is available for use by all the funds, except far Debt Service Funds, Water Werks
Entesprise Fund, and component entities. Under Wisconsin Statutes, one-thind of all interest on peoled cash and investments is allocated to
the Public Debt Amostization Fund. The remaining two-thirds is credded to the General Fund. Each fund type's portion of peoled cash and
nvastments is included in the cash and cash equivalents §ne on the Combined Balance Sheel The Debt Service Funds, Water Works
Entemprise Fund, and componant units mantain separate cash and investmenls. In addition, investments am separdtely held by several
other City funds. No violalions of Iagal provisions for deposits and investments were comeritied during the year.

Deposits

Al Oecember 31, 2001, the reported amount of [he City's depostts and cash on hand for the primary government was $60,237,0D0 aad the
related bank balanee was $62,305.000, The carying amounts of the City's depasits and cash on hand for the commponen! units were
511,041,000, and the related bank balance was $14,289,000. Bank balances of deposits for accounis maintained by the City Treasurer in the
amount of $1,800.000 are entirely insumed and $3,327,000 are collateralized by securities held in the pledging banks’ rust depatments in the
City's name. The remaining balance of $57,178,000 is oeither insured nor collateralized, nor was this amount significantly exceeded during
the year. Of the component units deposits not in the custody of the Cily Treasurer, 57,141,000 are entrely insured and $7.158.000 are
uninsuned and uncollateralized at the end of the year.

Cash equivalents and investments

The City's primary govemment and component units cash equivalents and invesimenis are calegorized as either (1) insured or registered or
securilies held by the City or s agent in Lhe Cily's name, {J) uninsured and unregistered with securnities held by the counterparty’s trust
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department or sgent in the City’s name or (3) uninsured or unregistered with securities held by the cobnlerparty, ar by its trus! department or
ageot but not in the City's name.

Cash and nwvestments with fiscal agents include $7,122,000 placed in trust for Housing Autherity debt retirement, $7,577,000 for
Redevelopment Authosity debt relirement and $1.086,000 for Milwswukes Economic Development Corporation,

Category Category Catsgory Reported Fair

Primary Government: n {2) (3) Amount Value
{Thousands of Dolfars)

U.S. Treasusy Obligalions _...o.....cc.reu.. 5 5 63,352 s $ 83352 5 63332

U.S. Agency Securities 1,01 1011 1,011

Municipal Bonds and Notes 7377 7.377 7,377

$ - $ 71,740 S - § 71740 $ A

Cash and Investments with Aiscal Agesls ... 29,342 29,342

Local Governvment Pooled - Investment Fund .. 3az.0M 382,071

Insitutional Money Market Fund ....... 24 000 24,000

Defered Campensation inveshnants . _,......ocoue 374,371 374,371

Tedal Cash Equivalents and Investments ............. § 681,524 5 881524

Category Category Category Reported Fair

Component Units: m 2) {3 Amount Value
{Thousands of Doliars)

U, 5. Treasury Obligations $ 447 9 S 6408 S 65449 s 6,449

Cash and Investments with Fiscal Agents ............. 15,9685 15,965

Locat Government Pooled - Investment Fund ......... 34,851 34 E51

Total Cash Equivalents and favestments ... S 4N ] - 5 6,008 $ 57285 § 57.285

The padled investments have not been categorized based on custodial disk because they are not secunities. The relationship between the
City and the investment agent is a direct contractual relationship, and the investments are not supported by a tansferable instroment Lhat
evidences ownesship or creditorship. The Local Govemment Poadled — Investment Fund is an extemal investment pool administered by the
State of Wisconsin, The fair vaiue of the CRty's investment in the fund is the same as the vahue of ihe pooled shares. Althaugh not subject to
direct regutatary oversight, the fund is administered in accordance with the peovisions of Sectian 25.50 of the Wisconsin Statutes.

3. PROPERTY TAXES

The City's propery axes are lavied on or belore December 31, on the assessed (taxable) value as of the prier January 1, for all general
property located in the City. Taxes become a lien against the property upen filing the rell in the Office of the City Clerk.  This generally takes
plate in Decernber, The taxes are due January 31, but may be paid in len monthly instalmenls without interest from Jaruary through
October, Foreciosure can be commenged afler one year from dale of delinquancy.

The City purchasas property taxes receivabie from other taxing authorities al the unpaid amounts to facilitate the collection of the laxes. The

purchases are a financing arrangement and are not included in property tax sevenues. Also, delinquenl water and sewer charges and special
assessment receivablas are transfeaed to the General Fund at the unpaid amounts.

Al December 31, 2001, delinquent property taxes Inclixle delinquant sewer and water charges and special assessments by year lavied, tax
deeded property, and allowance for uncollectible taxes. Thesa detinquent property taxes are reported as part of taxes receivable in the
General Fund and Spedial Revenue Fund - Delinquent Tax and consist of the following:
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Furchased
City Taxes
Levy Receivable Total
{Thousands of Lollars)
15996 and prior $ 1,482 S 2516 § 5 3959
1997 IM 557 891
1998 488 820 1,308
1909 987 1,728 2,715
2000 4,483 8,283 12,766
Total delinquent property taxes receivable s 7775 5 13,904 $ 21,679
Property taxes receivable on foreciosed propemty .......eoeverievnnee- 15,849
Less: Allowance for uncolleciibie taxes (12,075)
Net delinquent property taxes recelvable, intiuding tax deeded property $ 25,452

4. DEFERRED REVENLUE

Deferred revenue is meorded in e govemmental funds for amounts not yet avabable and for resources received pricr (o being eamed by the

City. Related revenus is recognized when these amounts become avaiiable or when eamed. The composition of the defemred revenue
balances in the governmental funds is as follows:

Special Debt Capital
General Revenue Service Projects Total
{Thousands of Dolars)
Delinquent property taxes . . s g ] $ s H] 9
Uneamed mevenue ... 1,823 6,426 8,245
Long-termn receivables ... 6,307 36,636 6,032 48,975
Unbilled special assessments . 8978 B,978

$ 1,832 $ 12733 $ 36,636 $ 15,010 § 65,211

5. DEBT

General obligation leng-erm debt, which includes $23,832,000 designaled for local improvement projacts and special assessment use,
consisted of 54 separate issues from 1990 lhrough 2001 with appicable interest rates ranging between 3.40% to 10.00% as of December 31,
2001, Trust and Agency Fund bonds and notes payable consists of revenue anticpation notes maturing in 2002 with spiit interest rates of
2.7-3.5%. Changes in debt for 2001 were as follows:
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General Obhgation Bonds and Noles:
City

Miwaukee Public Schools

Enterprise - Cily (fncuding cument maturites) ..o

Totat |

Deferred gain /{loss)

Total Genesal Obligation Debt .....

Sewel Mainlenance
Bond anficipation note ...

Revenuebonds .iecec

Tetal Sewer Maintenance

Water Works
Revenue Bonds .........

Trust and Agency Funds:
Bonds and notes payable ...............

Companent Uniks Long-Term Debt l'ndudmg current maturitiesk
Bonds and notes - other .

Revenue bonds - HACM

Revenue bonds - RACM ::'....

Tatal Component Units Long-Term Debt (inciuding cument
maturities)

Total Debt ..

Balance New Bakance
01-01-01 fssues  Repayments 12-35-01
{Thousands of Doliars)
$ 430,689 § 114,249 § 78204 S 466,837

91,314 23,590 15,812 99,592
82,737 10,441 16,224 76,954

$ 805,240 $ 148,380 $ 110,237 $ 643,383
85 {228) 10 {153)

$ 605,325 $ 148,152 % 110,247 $ 643.730
$ 6258 $ - $ 6,258 $ -
- 20,095 - 23,095

5 6258 S 29.09% s 5258 3 29.09%
$ 16773 $ - % Td4 $ 15,029
$ 110,000 $ 112,000 $ 110.000 $ 112,000
§ 2236 $ 85272 5 1,3€ $ 10,192
28983 2388 6,594
4,299 1,468 5.767

5 15518 5 10,740 § 3705 $ 22553
$ 753,874 $ 295987 $ 230,954 $ 822,907

Certain pricr year balances for the companent units have been agusted (o comespond with the proper diassiication reflected in the Combined

Balante Sheet

Primary Government Long-Term Debt

General Obligation Bonds and Noles are secured by Lhe full faith and unlimited taxing pawer of the City. The bonds and notes in the General
Long-Termn Chigations Account Group will be relired by fulure propedy tax levies and other resources accumulated in the Debt Service
Funds. The bords and notes in he Parking, Water Works, and Port of Milwaukee Enterprise Fimds wil be retired by revenues from \hese

operalions or, i the revenues are not sufficient, by fulure lax levies.

General long-term obligations do not include $83,065,356 of City of Mitwaukee Industrial Development Revenue Bonds issued in accordance
with the Wisconsin Statutes. These cbligations are primarily secured by revence agreements on the assodialed projects and, togather with

the mterest cbligation, are payable solely by the developers, ang do not constiute indebtedness of the City.
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Use of Public Debt Amartization Fund for reliement of the public dett is govemed by lhe Wisconsin Statutes. The Statutes provide that
when total printipal and accrued interest in the Public Debt Amorization Fund & subsiantialty equal to the oulstanding general obligation
bonds and notes, the mmiﬂzhefundshllbeappﬁedtonnkeannualhhre:tarﬂpﬁ:dpalpamntsonmadebltommmy. The
Statutes provide, in part, that “The Public Debt Commission may, however, at any time, apply the fund, not to exceed i any one year 40
percent of the balance in said fund on the preceding Decernber 31, to acquire for cancallation general obligation bonds ar notes prior to their
rnatui‘tydalesatpﬁoe;mtbemedpﬁndpalplwmedmmtodaieofmamrﬂy. but the fund shall not be decreased below
$2,000,000 as a result of such purchases and canceliations.” Principal sources of revenue are one-hind of all interest on general City
investments and interest on Fund investments. As adhorized by the Statyes, the Public Debl Amorization Fuod may purchase for
investment of for cancallation, notes issued by (he General Fund to fung operalians.

Through 2001, $201,138,120 has besn borrowed for thirty-eight tax incremental districts (TID), Totai debt sesvice requirernents associated
with this debt issues amount to $316,922,538. Tax increments received through 2001 lotal $201,515,073. In any year in which TiD debt
sefvice requirernents for the ensuing year are greater than total tax increments received, the shofall is funded by the property tax fevy.

Under the Wisconsin Statules, the City is requined, if requested by the Board of Milwaukaa Public Schools, and if approved by referendum, to
issue genera! obligation honds to finance purchases of schog! sttes and to construct or remadel school buikdings. Mo such bonds are
curently autstanding The 593,551,254 of Mitwaukee Public School konag-tetin debt cutstanding it December 31, 2001 consists of 3 partion of
the City’s general obligation bonds and notes, which has been designaled for school purposes. Under the Wisconsin Statutes, the City has
Tile fo the land and buildings of the Miwaukee Public Schools. However, the City does not control the use of the zssels or receive the
proceeds upon disposition of the assets. At June 30, 2004, the historical costs ¢f the tand and builkfings as reportad by Milwaukee Public
Scheols was approxintately $526,500,000. These assets are exciuded from the finandiat statements of the Ciy.

During 2001, the City issued $112,000,000 in short-term cevenue anticipation notes on behalf of the Miwaukee Public Schools. These notes
bear interes at the rates of 2.7%, 3.25% and 3.5% and will mature on August 29, 2002. The lizbility and related cash to repay the revenue
anlidpation notes ane recorded in the Board of Schoo! Directors {agency) fund.

The Sewer Maintenance Fund Bond Anticipation Mote was issved for the purpose of financing the cost of improvements to the City's
sewerage system pending the issuance of sewerage system revenus bonds. Interest payments are based cn the Slate of Wisconsin Local
Governmen! investiment Pool rate and are payable seminnually. The debt was pald upon maturity on December 15, 2001.

The Water Warks Revenue Bonds wem issued for the purpose of providing for the payment of the cost of constructing improvements to the
Water Syslem of the Municipality, pursuant to Article X1, Section 3, of the Wisconsin Constitution, Section 66.065 Wisconsin Statutes, and is
payable only from the income and revenues derived from the operation of the Water Syslem of the Municipality. This Bond issuance does
not constiude an indebtedness of the City of Milvaukee within the meaning of any constitutional or stabutory debt fimitation or provision.

Wisconsin Statules limét direct general obligation borrawing in the amount equivalent to 7% of the equalized valuation of taxable property.
The Statutes further provide that within the 7% fmitation, bamowing for schoal esnstiuclion purposes may nat exceed 2% of the equalized
valuation ane borrowing for general ity purposes may not exceed 5% of the equalized vatuation. At December 31, 2001, the City's legal
debt margin was $760,522,000, Of this amount, $389,077.000 was for school pumroses and $372.659,000 was for City purpases. The ralio
of aggregate indebtedness of all taxing authorities focated within the City's boundaries to the equalized value of the taxable property was
approxdamately §.7%, including 3.5% refated 1o direct CRy indebledness at December 31, 2001,

The malurlties of the outstanding principal and related interest requirements are as follows:

Tokal

Genaral Obligation Debt Revenus Bonds Payable Debt

Year Principa) Interest Principal Interest Service
{Thousands of Dollars)

2002 $ 78,509 § 3640 § 763 5 1,770 $ 112,682

2003 bR ————— §9,500 28,365 1,785 1.733 101,483

2004 ... 82,517 25,071 1.840 1.676 .,104

2005 ... 59,887 21,906 1,906 1.609 85,308

2006 52.630 18,788 1,983 1,532 74,933

Thereafter ... . 320,240 73,524 36,847 12,259 442,870

Totals S 643283 $ 199,294 § 45124 $ 20,579 $ 508,380
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During 2001, the Cty defeased $102,000,000 of Revanue Anlicipation Notes which come due in the first half of 2002 by placing funds in an
irevocable trust with a inancial institution. Accordingly, thesa obligations have been removed as liabilities of the General Fund.

In June 2001, the City issued two series of general obiigation refunding bords. The first, Series of 2001-A {tax-exempf)} was in the par
amount of $26,035,000 and carried interest rales between 4 and §% to advance refund $24.980.000 of existng debt.  The second issue,
Series of 2001-B (kxable) was In the par amount of $4,690,000 and carmied interest rates between 4 and 5.625% 1o advancs refund
54,570,000 of existing taxabie debt. Together, the net proceads of these two issues {inchrding original issuance premium, but exdusive of
acaued inlerest, underwrier's discount and issuance expenses) totaled $30,931,000. The net proceeds wam wtilized to purchase United
States Govemment securities that were imevocably placed in trust with an escrow agent for the pupose of paying all fture debt sarvice on
the refunded City bonds. As a result, the miunded City bonds are considered to be defeesed and the Eabilty for those bonds has been
removed from the General Long-Term Accourt Group. The City executed the two refundings solely for Lhe purpase of reducing its total dabt

service payment over the remaining Kfe of the refunded bonds. The present value savings of the two refunding issues totaled $603,000 or
2.04% of the r=funded bonds.

At December 31, 2001, a total of $53,120,000 in outstanding general obligation bonds is cansidered defeased.

Component Units Long-Term Debt

TheHotsingmrnnr':tyaondsandNotasamsemmdbyaEanunsnrevenmofmeHousthuthoriyLmlrmneHousumgmm The
Housing Autherity Bonds and Noles are not a general abfigalion of the C2y, nor am they guaranteed by the City. As such, they are not
backed by the general credit or taxing powers of the City.

Approximatsly 53,845,000 of Redevelopment Authority bonds am payable from net raveniues eamed from ceftain veterans housing projeds
administered by the Housing Authadity. Such revenues are pledged by the Housing Authority pursuant to a cooperalion agreement entesed
into by the Redevelopment Authexity and the Housing Authaty, Under the lerms of the agreement. only those revenves eamed by the
spedified projects are pledged to repay the debt The Redevelopment Authonty bonds are ol general obligations of the City. nor ame they
guaranteed by the City. As such, they are nat backed by the genera! credit or taxing powers of the City.

The maturities of the ouistanding principal and refated interest requirements for the componark units are as foilows:

Bonds and Notes Payable Revenun Bonds Payable Tatal
Year Principal Interest Pringipal Interest  Debt Service
{Thousands of Doliars)

2002 ... § 112 3 28 § 900 $ 274 $ 2974
2003 ... 20 28 840 222 1,210
2004 22 28 1,510 179 1,739
2005 23 28 1,515 15 1.741
2006 25 27 570 45 667
Thereafter ..... . 2330 284 6.806 24 16,104
TOEIS e v $ 10192 $ 1023 $ 12,361 & BbS $ 24435

€. RETIREMENT PLANS

Pension Benafits

Pian Descriplian - The City makes conlribulions to lhe Employes’ Retirement System of the City of Miwaukee (the "System’), a cost-sharing
multiple.empioyer defined benefi pension plan, on behalf of all efigible Clty employees. The System provides 2Erement, disability, zad
death benefits to plan members and beneficiaies. The City Charter assians the authority o establish and amend benefit provisions. The
System issues a publicly available financial repont that includes financial statements and required supglementary informalion for the System.

Thal seport may be oblained by wriling Lo the Employes' Retitement System of the City of Mikwaukee, 200 East Walls Street, Room 610,
Miwaukee, Wi 53202

Funding Folicy - Plan members are required {0 contribule, or have contibuted on lheir behalf, 3 percentage of their annual eamable
compensation equal o 5.5%. 6%, 7%. and 7% for general City employees, polica officers, firefighlers, and elected officials, respectively. The
City is required to contribute the actuarially determined amount. The City Charter assigns the aulhority to establish and amand contiibubion
vequirernents. The City's contributions to Lhe Syslem for the years ending December 31, 2001, 2000, 1999, and 1998 were 520,288,000,
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520,633,000, 519,261,000, $19,265,000, respecively, equal lo the sequired contributions on behalf of the plan members for each year, {See
Note 1)

Other Postemployment Benefits

The City provides medical Insurance benefils for substantialy all reliress in acoofdance with terms set forth i labor cantracts or by Comemon
Councd resolution. Retirees are efigible to enrall in any of the group plans offered by the City. Aside from the Basic Plan, this indudes any of
the Health Maintanance Organizations (HMO) plans cumrently offer=d to actve employees.

'l'heCiyptavidesfuIIhealthinstnnnemmagetogmcnymloymwhnreﬁreaiagess.bmlmmanagess.wﬂhwyeamof
creditabla =arvice or age 60, but less than age 65, with 15 years of creditable service until the age of 65. In azrdance with a “percentage
formuia” as provided in kabor agreements, the City providas between 65% and 100% cf the cost of the Basic Plan coverage for firefighters
and palice oficers who retire with 25 years of ceditable sesvice and having alfained 3t least the age of 52 but less than 60, Upon reaching
the age of 60 but price lo the age of 65, the City provides fut health insurance coverage (or firefighters with single enroltnent skatus and
police officers with single encoliment status. The City conlribution for firefighters between the ages of 60 and B5 with family encelirment status
is the greater of 100% of the cost of singés enmliment in the Basic Plan or an amount determined using the “percentage formuiz.* The

“percentage formula™ used to delermine the City contribufion @ the labor agreements is based on the amount of unused sick leave at
irement,

Aﬁeraﬂainighagoofﬁsmdhavimmmedam‘uimumoHSyea.rsofcraditaHeseruice.aUrelireesareeligbletoenroﬂina
“subsidized plan® for medical insurance. Under this plan, the City conbibutes 25% of the base rate lowarnd refirees enrolled in the Basic Plan,
wihile the reliree pays 75% of the base mte and 100% of the major medical rate. For those relirees enrolied in an HMO, the City confributes a
25% subsidy of the applicable HMO premium.

Medical insucance for retirees is financed on a pay-as-you-go basis, Appraximalely 5,004 employeas are eligible 10 receive these benefits.
For2001, the City paid approximataty $17,127,000 toward medical insurance for its relirees.

In addition 1o medical insurance, the City allows its employses to continue life insurance coverage unger the Group Life Insurance Plan
offered lo active employees in accordance with Seclion 350-25 of the Code of Ordinances. The base amount of coverage for general City
employees is equal to the employee’s annyal basic salary to the next higher thousand doliars. The base amount of coverage for firefighters
and pofice officers is equal to one and ane-haX the empioyee's annual basic salary to the next higher thousand dallars,

General City employees retiring at age 55 or older with 20 years of service or al age 60 regardiess of years of service and covered under the
group life insurance plan al relirement are efigible {0 continue coverage at the level on the date priar to their date of seliremenL.  Firefighters
and police officers retiring at age 52 or older with 20 years of service or al age 57 regardiess of years of service and covered under Lhe group
I¥e insurance plan al relitement are efigible to continue coverage up to their base amound of coverage an the date prior ko their date of
refirernent. Prior to age 65, all retirees are required to pay the full premium rates as estabshed by the msurance camier, less an adjustment
for estimated dividends. The rates established are group rates appiied consistently {o all employees, without regard to age or health. Upen
maching Lhe age of 65, those retirmas sl part of the group ffe plan have their coverage Rduced in accordance with the reduction schedie in
effect on their last day physically at work, with the City assuming all future premiums.

For 2001, the groups rate for [ife insurance for the City poputation as a whole was approximately fifty cents per month per 51,000 of coverage
zfier estimated dividends. The effect on this rate as a result of including retirees in the pool s not determinable. Group life insurance for
reirees age 65 or older are financed on 2 pay.as-you-go basis and cannot be readily separated from amounts paid on behalf of aclive
employees. The City estimates $925,000 cut of a total 53,393,000 for group life insurance for 2001 is atibutable to approximalely 5,014
relirees on the basiz of the common group Ife mie.

Terminal Leave Payments

Upan retienent, employees receive a portion of their unused sick leave as terminal leave, in accordance with labor contracts and Section
350-33 of the Code of Ordinances. Farefighters whose notmal hours of work exceed 40 hours per week receive between $45 and $65 for
each work shift equivalent of unused sick leave. FireRghters whose normal hours of work average 40 hours per week receive between 521
and $30 for each work shift equivalent of unused sick feave. Police officers recaive payment for up to 55 days of unused sick keave at base
pay. Management pay plan employees are entilled to paymant of 30% of unused sick leave (maxifmum 560 hours) plus one-half of the sick
feave days accummilated during the last twelve manths of service for up to six additional days for a toltal maximum of 42 days at the rate of
pay at retirement.  Substantiafty 3l remaining City empioyees neceive up lo 30 days for unused sick leave zs tesminal leave, although some
bargaining units receive sightly different benefts in accordance with related labor agreements. in 2001, approximately $8,573,000 was pawd
for sick Jeave from all umds, At December 31, 2004, accumulated sick leave eamed bul not taken totaled approximalely $105.481,000
delermined on the basis of curent salary rates.

Teminat leave pay is funded on @ pay-as-you-go basis and provided for in the salary budgels of the respeciive depariments annually, In
2001 terminal leave payments tolaled $2,102.000 o employees retiring during the year. As of December 31, 2001, the City has accrued
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approximately $19,230,000 in the Genesal Long-Term Obfigations Account Group for Riture teminal leave payments, This amount is
included under the unfunded compensated absences of $33.360,000, with the remainder accrued vacation ieave of $14,130,000.

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION FOR ENTERPRISE FUNDS AND COMPORENT UNITS
The City maintains six anterprise funds within its piimary government as follows:

Metropolitan Sewerage District User Charge Fund (MSDUC)
Parking Fund

Port of Milwaukee (Part}

Sewer Maintenance

Sold Waste

Water Works Fund (Watar)

Selecied inforrnation for 2001 with respect to these enterprises was as follows:

Sewer Solid
MSDUC Parking Port Maintenance Waste
(Thousands of Dabars)
Qperating revenues ......ooveeeeeee $ 30,098 $ 35739 5 3985 $ 18,8399 $ 36,584
Depradgiation .......ccoeeeemeea 2,137 714 3119
Other opergling expense . 29,822 18,240 2,147 14,093 34 662
Operating income (J058) .onoconvceeeen. 276 15,262 1,124 1,687 1,922
Other nonoperating revenues
(OXPENSES) et et rene (1391 (1.118} (1om)
Operating ranstersin ..., 1,381 158
Qparating transfersout . __ (20,422) {1,657} {57)
Capital conibutlons ......ccommveeeesivaine 3,583
Net income (1058 «oovvvevecei e 276 (1.477) (1.493) 1,587 1,865
Property, Plant and Equipment;
Additions 2,592 190,255
Tota) assels 9,314 54793 20,509 229,542
Working capital e cececriverra e, 1,408 2,652 15 (3.43g)
General long-lerm debt
General obligation ......oecvesceoeee 25473 3,543
Revenue bongds ......coooeeovvveceene 29,095
Fund equity 1,408 27,943 16,440 185,662

The discretely presented component units include five enterprise funds as follows:

Pabst Theater (Pabst)

Milwaukee Economic Develogsnant Carporation (MEDC)
Housing Authority (HACM)

Redevelopment Authority (RACM)

Neighborhiood Improvement Development Corporalion (NIDC)

Component uait disclosures for tha 2001 Balance Sheels are as folows:

Water

§ 61,71
8917
41,824
10,970

(1.829;
7.47¢
(2.317)

9,243
8,217

387,198
23,480

48,548
15,266
316,772

Total

% 187016
14,887
140,788
31,341

(a.438)
9018

(29,513)
3,593
10,001

201,084
R
701,356
24119

77,564
44,361
548,225
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Pabst MEDC HACM RACN NIDC Total
{Thousands of Dollars)

Assets:
Due from primary govemment _............. w 3 $ § 5 $ 973 s 973
CQlher current 255818 occomvcvnrnraren. 174 50,389 33373 49,516 16052 154,504
Property, plant and equipment (net) ......... 9,834 24 220,718 6,757 54 237,387
Cther longem 35818 ..o 3838 117 8.165 7421 261 16,352
Total assats - 5103% $ 50,530 $ 267,256 $ 63.694 S 17340 S 409.216

Liabilties:

Cument labifites ......covemrmimeeinecinene . 5 889 5 118 5 14422 $ 16,587 S 4,000 $ 3Boe
Bonds and notes payable - long term ........, 15,014 4,867 135 881
Due lo the primary govermment 1416 1,005 17.511 2,362 22394
Cther long-term bablties oo, g3 523 13.414 2,390 380 16.800
Total fabiies $ 982 $ 2057 $ 43855 5 41,455 $ 6742 § 95091

Equity:
Contributed capitat S 994% § 5453 $ 248,358 $ 12,304 $ 13415 $ 289516
Retained eamings {defict) ..........covveeren. {532) 43.020 £24,997) 5.93% 2817 24.609
Total equity . $ 9414 S 40473 3 223401 § 22,239 $_10.598 5 314,125
Tatal iabikties and equity .....o.ccovveee. $ 10,396 $ 50,530 $ 267.256 § 63,694 S 17,340 § 409,216

Component unit disclosures for the 2001 Statement of Revanues, Expenses, and Changes in Equity ane as foliows:

Pabst MEDC HACM RACM HIDC Totl
{Thousands of Gollars)

Operaling ravenues ....cceveeecevccveeeees. $ 499 5 229 $ 18,582 $ 3,195 5 4 § 22157
Operating expenses;

Degprecation 202 11 15,240 88 4 15,555

Other 754 640 44,380 3,042 7.159 60.975
Operaling income {J088) ——.cveeevetrcrcnnnri s (457} 1,640 {48,038) 66 {7,584) {5437
Other nonoperating revenue (expensa) ... 88 @n 51,781 6,343 £,030 64,145
Operating transfers " 150 150
Capital conbributions ..o 2641 400 3,041
Net incorne (loss) forthe vear ..., 2422 1,543 4,143 6,409 {1.554) 12.963
Retomed eamings {deficl) - beginning

(restated) {2.954) 41 477 (29.140) 3.526 (4.463) 11,645
Retzined eamings {defcil) -ending ......... § {532) $ 43020 5 (24,997 $ 9935 S (2.817) $ 24609

The retained eamings balance for the Neighbarhood Improvement Development Corporation of the City of Milwaukee has been adjusied as
of January 1, 2001 to reflect an increase of 586,000 due to miscelanecus adjustments recorded lo the 2000 compenent unil financial
statements subsequent to the issuance af the City's Decamber 31, 2000 Comprehensive Antwal Financial Repart

B. FUND EQUITY
Reserved for tax stabilization
The Reserved for Tax Stablization, $40,122,000 at December 31, 2001, is govemed by the City's Code of Ordinances. AI Gener! Fund

approprialion balances not encumbered or camied over are reserved Far tax stabilization in subsequent years. The 1olal amount that can be
withdrawn from the Reserved foc Tax Stabilization in any cne year is an amount that prevents an increase of mare than three pement in the
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CRy’s property tax rate, as defined, and is anticipated to be avallable as of Apiil 15 of the year covered by the budget. Such amount must be
Included in the adopied budget, which requires a majarily affirmative vote of the Comenon Council Fund withdrawals not needed to stabilze
the tax rate can be made for up to 50% of the avallable balance, but require 3 three-fourths affimalive vote of the Common Coundl.

Fund deficit

The Capital Projects Fund - Special Assessments fund deficit of $12,385,000 is the result of expending funds for conslruction in advance of
collecting assessments from the property owners. Upon prjact completion, the properties are assessad, thus reducing this deficit

Retained deficit
Current and pfior years' iosses in the iollowing proprietary funds have resulted in cumatative retained deficits with a fund equity (defict), net

of retained deficits, as indicated below. The City provides needed capital lo the Enterprise Fund - Port of Miwaukee and Pabst Theater
component it

Net
Income Retained Fund
{Loss) Deficit Equity
{Thousands of Doilars)

Enterprise Fund - Port of Milwzukee o § (1,493) $ (12703} S 15,440
Pabst Theater Component Linit . z422 {932} 9,414
Housing Autherity of the Gity of Milwaukee Component Uni 4,143 {24,997 223,401
Neighborhood Improvement Development Corporation Component Unit  .oovveerove oo {1,554) {2,817) 10,598

Contributed capital
The changes in the City’s caniributed capital accounts for its proprietary funds and component units were as follows:

Enterprise Component

Funds Units Total

{Thoussnds of Dollarx)
Beginning balance $ 123,743 £289.516 $413.259
Additions .- - 179871 - - 178,871
Ending balance § 303,614 $ 289,516 $ 593,130

During 2001, the City contributed $179,871,000 (net bock value) of infrastruciura assels to the Sewer Mainlenanee Fund. The zbove was
determined Huough an independent thind party study,

- INTERFUND RECEVASLE AND PAYABLE BALANCES AND NET TRANSFERS

The incividual intedfund receivable and payable balances at December 31, 2001, and the net contributions, resifuat and operating iransfers
for 2001 were as follows:
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Net Net
tnterfund Interfund Net Residual Qperating
Fund Receivables Payables Contributions Transfers Transfers
{Thousands of Daflars)
General Fund $ 23588 s $ 5 15808 $ 24111
Special Revenve Funds:

Grant and Ald Projects 7.570) {56)

Community Devalopment Block Grant ........... (973)

Delinquent Tax {13,045}
Debt Service:

General Obligation Debt ...... {1,154) {419) 12,058
Capitdl Projects FUMKIS ..o emmevarismransr e {817 (3.,484) {2.883)
Enterprise Funds:

Melropolitan Sewerage District User Charge ... 355

Parking 3,594 {12,041)

Port of Milwaukee (264} 309 (1,499)

Sewer Maintenance - 209 (12,051)

SoEAWaste ... e enasinas {1,865) (5N

Water Works . (1,883 102
Trust and Agency FURAS ..o veseenite e e 13 104
Component Unns:

Pabst Theater 150

TOMHS oo recrrmr e s s ar e renrasarsneatarsnaars § 24,552 § (24,552) § 3903 S {3.903) $ -
10. GENERAL FIXED ASSETS

Changes in General Fixed Assets for the year ended December 31, 2001, were as follows:
Balance Balance
01-05-01 Additions Deletions 12-31-01

{Thousands of Dollars)

tand ..o $ 39694 5 $ S 33,694
Buiklings 132,870 132870
Machinery and equipment . 93,534 5,212 1393 97.353
Construction work in progress £3,088 21,306 1.455 82,939
TOMBIS e e ree e trere s s eceeeaee soen s st e s o et vt $ 329,186 $ 26518 $ 2848 $ 352.856

11. COMMSTMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Claims and cther legal proceedings

The City is involved it numerous lawsuits arising in the nomal course of business, ncluding claims for property damage, personal injury and
personngl practices, disputes over conlract awands and property condemnalion proceedings, and suits contesting the legality of certain axes.
Undes the Wisconsin Statutes, the amount recoverable by any person for any damages, injuries or death in any action founded an fact
against the City, agencies, officials, officers or employees cannot excmed $50,000, with certain exceptions. in addition, the City is subject to
environmental remediation fiabiliies. The amaunt of such liabilities i not known. In the opinion of management, any additional lawsyfts not
provided for in the General Long-Tem Obligations Account Group and environmentas emediation liabiities will not have a materia! adversa

eflect an the City's financial position as of December 31, 2001.
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The City is seff-insured for workers' compensation, employee Basic Plan health and dental insurance, uminsured molorist motor vehicle
coverage for City employees, ahd general fiability ciaims. Liabilities are reported when it is prubable that a loss has occutred and the amaunt
of that loss can be reasonably estimated. These losses include an estimate of daims that have been incumed but nat reported. Liabiftes are
based on the estimaled ulimate cost of seftling (he claims, ncluding the effects of inflation and cther economic and sodal fadars, Claims
2 paid in the General Fund and are recarded as expendRtures when paid. Expenditures recorded in the General Fund in 2001 wera
$72,845,000 (S57,906,000 of incumed claims less $14,932,000 reconded as long-term obligations).

At December 31, 2001, the amoun! of unfunded claims and judgment liabiltes is 535,945,000 and is included in unfunded claims and
judgments in the Geneml Long-Term Obligaticns Account Group and consists of legal §23,025,000, environmenta! $2,730,000,
unemployment $304,000, workers’ compensation $3,851,000 and health insurance $6,535,000. Changes in lhe balance of claims liablities
during 2001 consist of a reduction in legal reserves doe to the Global Pension Settiement and a change in estimation of the City's reserve for
health insurance. These changes are detaiied as foliows:

(Thousands of Dollars)
Balance December 31, 1898 ¥ 586&1
Claims and changes in estenates ..., 31825
Claim payments (46,356)
Balance Decambet 31, 1999 $ 43,520
Claims and changes N eSEMAIES 1o o e eresem et e 14,9339
Claim payments (21.514)
Balance Detember 31, 2000 $ 35,945

The Mitwaukee Police Association filed suit against the City and the Milwaukee Employes’ Retirement System as a resuli of a City Qrdinance
passed in 1995 that merged the Retirement Fund with the Duty Disabiiity Fund. Actuarial reports indicated that if the sepamate funds were
merged, thers were sufficient assels within the Employes” Retirement System to fund all retirernent and disabibty Nabilities without cumently
requiing additional conbibutions. In 1996, the Circult Count granted summary judgment 10 the plaintiff declaring the merger to be
uncongtitutional. The court stayed enforcement of its order, insofar as any additional cantribition of the City was concemed, to give the City
the opportunity to appeal. In 1698, tha Court of Appeals moddied the Circult Court's judgment; and the City's pelition to the Wisconsin
Supreme Court to accept @ discretionary appeal of the Cowt of Appeals’ decision was denied. As a resull, the City was required to make
contributions (¢ fund an unfunded Eability in the Duty Disabilty Fund.,

The CRy has been nolified of an Equal Employment Oppoctunity Commission {EEQC) investigation conducted of Ihe Fire and Police
Commiission and the Miwavikee Police Depaitment. The inwestigation resuled in a finding of probable cause of discrimination based on race,
in the areas of hiring, discipline, rstaliation and leans and condlions of employment. The EEOC sought $5,000,000 in total memedies tor the
dass claims and appraximatety 52,000,000 Lo the individual hirdag charging partiss. Additionaly, the EEOC requested remedies for the
individual charging parties totaling approximately $2,500,000 and an additional $1,000,000 in compensation to the class members.

The EEQC referred the matter to the United States Depactment of Jusor who conducted a further investigation and stated by letter dated
January 2, 2001 that suit has been authorized against the City of Miwaukee and the Fie and Police Commission on the basis of the
informalion provided by the EEOC and upon the further information oblzined from the nvestigatian performed by the Department of Justice.
The City has bagun, and wil continve lo communicate with the Department of Justice in an efiort (¢ explone possible settiement, however & is
presenlly unknown whether setflement can or will be effectusted. The Department of Justica has requesied $6,150.000 in compensatory
damages for @ class of victims.

The City has also been nolified of 2 second EEOC investigation conducied of the hiing and employment praclices for the Milwaukee Fire
Depanrnent based upon charges filed by the Brotherhood of Firafighlers which allege discrimination on the basis of race wilh respect to
hiring, prosotion, terms and condilions of employmant and discipline, On Decaraber 10, 1999 the EEOC issued a Reasonable Cause
Determination filing in mspect to this investigation, resulting in 2 demand fom the EEQC for a class-wide back-pay claims of $12,700,000
with respect to the alleged victims. As of December 31, 2001, the City has recorded 3 reserve in the General Long-Temn Obligations Account
Group related to the above two cases,

Environmental Liabilies

The City is exposed to numerous environmental Giabiliies, the most significant of which relate lo seven landfils. Two of the seven landfilis
have been closed. Of the remaining four fandfills that are no longer accepting waste, the Wiscansin Oepartment of Nalwral Resources has
impased closure requirernents on the North Cofiege Avenue Site, which the City substantially closed during 2000. The Hartung landfill, which
is used exclusively for clean I, is expacted lo be closed within three years. The City has acerved $2,730,000 in the General Long-Temn
Quligations Account Group for tandfif closwre refated to the four siles. These amounts are basad upon what it would coslt to perform alt
dosure aclivities in 2001, Actual costs may be higher due to inflation, changes in technology, ar changes in regulations.
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GASE Statement No. 18 “Accounting for Munivipal Sclid Waste Landfli Closure and Postcosure Care Costs™ establishes rquirements for
disclosure of cdlesure: and postoiesum requirernents for all municipal solid waste kandfls receinng solid waste alter Oclober 9, 1951, The
City's landfils have nol accepled waste of this lype since 1976 and Is therefore not required to accrue for dosure and postclosure care in
accordance with GASE Statement No, 18.

Intergovernmental grants

Intergavernmeral awards received by the City are subject to aud® and adjustment by the funding agency or their representatives. If gran!
revenues are received for expenditures, which are subsequently disaliowed, the Gy may be required ta repay the revenues to the funding
agency. in the opinion of management, kabillfies resulting from such disallowed expenditures, i any, witl aat be material to the accompanying
financial stalernents at December 31, 2001

Conduit Debt Obligations

From tima to time, the City, as well as the Housing Authority and the Redevelopment Authority, has issued revenue bonds in order to povide
financing to privele sector enliies for the purpose of acquiring, constructing, or rehabiRtating housing wnits and for retifing the existing deb!
associated with housing units. These obgatians are primarily secured by morigage o revenus agreements on the associated projects and,
together with tha imerest cbigation, is payable solely by the devalopers from ls2sed renlals and other funds or revenues. In addition, these
cbligations do not constifute: indeblednass of the Cily, as the City has no responsibility for the deb! beyond the resounces provided by related
leases of leans. Accondingly, the boads are not reported as Eabifties in the accampanying financial statements, Tha aggregate amaunt of al
revenue bonds oulstanding at December 31, 2001 ls 583,066,356, $56,491.000, and $256,000,000 for the City, Housing Authority, and
Redevelopment Authority. respectively.

Job Opportunity Bond Program

The Redevelopment Authority of the City of Mitwaukes has issuved certain Ecoromic Bevelapment Bonds under the Job Opporiunity Bond
Program, Additional bonds may akso be issued under this Program.  These bonds are payable from 2 revenue fund to which the Authority
has pledged and appropriated revenues to be received by the Authordty frofm revenue agreements. In the event of an insufficiency of such
fevenues, hese bonds are payable out of a program reserve fund and 3 common reserve fund maintained with respect to the program. In
the: evenl amounts avaiable in these reserve funds fall below specified levels, the City has agmed, pursuant to the terms of the first
amendmant {0 the cooperation and pledge agreement, to consider making loans to the Autharity to assist the Authority in maintaining the
reserve funds at required levels. To date, the City has not loaned any funds for this pwpese. This obligation is not enforceable by the
Authory, the Trustee or the owners of the bonds against the City or the Common Council of the City or against any individusl of the Council
of the City or any offices or agent of the City.

12 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In March of 2002, the City issued $32,220,00( in general obligation comorate purpose bonds for various public improvemen! projects of the
City, $16,025,000 of general abligation short-tesm promissery notes lor the purpese of financing year 2001 real and personal property tax
feceivables and improvements 1o pubic buidings, and $102.000,000 of Revenue Anticipation Notes for the purpose of financing the City's
operaling budget on an inlerfim basis pending receipt of state shared revenue payments due in Navember, 2002

In April 2002, the Common Councd of the City of Milwaukse approved an agreement 1o transfer the City's interest in Lhe Caplain Frederick
Pabst Theater fo The Cudahy Foundation, a tax exempt Wisconsia Charitable Trust. )

13. RESTATEMENT

The beginning retained earmigs balance of the enteprise funds for 2001 has been restated by 57,535.000 to capitalize foced assel
acquisitions that were impropedy expensed in 2000 in the Sewer Maintenance (enterrise) fund. The net effect of this change was to
increase: construction in process and retained eamings al January 1, 2009 i lhe enlerprise funds from $9,827.000 to $17,365,000 and
$228,937,000 10 $236.475,000, respectively.

Addtionally, the prior year {2000} summarized lotals for the combined balance sheel, combined statement of revenues, expenses and
changes in retained eamings, and the combined slalement of cash flows have also been restated lo increase capital assats and retained
eamings at December 31, 2000, and reduce oparating expesses for the year then ended by $7,538,000.



CITY OF MILWAUKEE Exhibit A

GENERAL FUND
COMPARATIVE BALANCE SHEET
DECEMBER 31, 2001 AMD 2000
{Thousands of Dallars)
200 2000
ASSETS
Cash and cash equwalenis ..., S 29,769 5 9240
Reteivables {nel):
Taxes “ 21,09 23,152
AoCotnts oo v 19,014 18,918
Uabilled accounts 1,835 ae9
Notes and loans 670 768
Accrued mierest 604 961
Due from other funds 230838 M7
Due from component BHS ...cocoorvoimiecranien 3.395 4,892
Due fromn clher govermmmantal agencies 981 1,383
Other recaivables 12,22 12,694
lnveriory of materials and supplies 5,652 5,988
laventery of property for resale 2% 26
Prepaid dlems e B R AP RS bt et e 1.019 366
Restricied Assels:
IOVESHTIENMS oot ce e et roe e e st E g1t b4 b b aresresm s e mms e s e ea s et e et pans 281 281
Total Assets § 120,547 $ 9515
LVIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE
Liabilities:
Aczounts payable " $ 21,716 & 23,180
Arxrued wages [ 28,155 21277
Due to other funds 253
Deferred revenve ... 1,832 1,971
Totat Liabilities T $ 51,703 35268
Fund Batance;
Reserved for encumbrances, prepaids, and camyovers 5 22460 5 8886
Reserved for imentory — 5678 6,014
Resarved for morigage lrust — 281 281
Reserved for environmental mmedsation ... 03 304
Reserved for tax siabiization - 2002 (2001) 11,000 5,500
Reserved for tax slabiization - 2003 (2002) and subsequent years® budgets ... 29122 17,809
Tolal FURD BAIANCE .1 mceceemcsmiae s ettt oot s b8t s et em s st m e s e as et e are eme e 3 63844 $_388%4
Totzal Liabilities 2nd Fund Balance 5 120,547 $ 591575



CITY OF MILWAUKEE Exhibit B
GENERAL FUND
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANGE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001
WITH COMPARATIVE ACTUAL AMOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMRER 31 . 2000

{Thousands of Dolars}
2001 2000
Revenues:
Properly taxas 5 115,804 S 99,456
Olher taxes 12,688 12,808
Licenses and permits . 10,485 10,154
Inlergovernmental ., . 278,968 278,434
Charges for servicas e 54,534 45,383
Fines andforfells ... ora e 4,408 18,036
RNBE ettt i e vmmemsos st b b e st esne s st s oo s . 12,408 14,358
Total Revenues $ 492,356 $ 477.629
Expenditures:
Current:
General government ........ S 162.628 S 157,615
Public safely e 209,521 220,879
Public works [ 87,453 100,696
Health ... 11,237 11,353
Culture and recreation . 16,548 17,584
Consenation and development R 7,922 7.502
Tola! Expenditures 5 495,709 S 515639
Excess of Revenues over {under) Expenditures ....... & (3.353) 5 (38010
Other Financing Sources (Uses);
Proceeds of bonds and notes . $ 7.oMm $ 1312
Operating transfers in S 24,365 11.213
Qperaling transfers out [ {104) {338)
Operating transfers o component units {15Q) {150)
Contributions received ., 6875 836
Conwibutions used __,., {462) {635)
Tofal Other Financing Sources (Uses) evtresreeress oo s 31395 S 11,888
Excess of Revenues and Other Sources over (under)
Expenditures and Olher Uses .......... . 5 28,042 s (26,127)
Fund Balance - January 1 30,894 65,023
Residual Equity Transfers from Other Funds ... " 1,921 2
Residual Equity Transfers to Other Funds ............, (13) {9)
Fund Balance - December 37 $ 68,844 $ 38,894




CITY OF MILWAUKEE ExhibitC
GENERAL FUND
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANGE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001
WITH COMPARATIVE ACTUAL AMOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000
{Thousands of Doltars)
2000
Actual on Variance - Actual on
Amesnded Budgetary Favorahle Budgetary
Budget Basis {Unfavorable} Basis
Revenues:
Property taxes § 118,804 $ 118,804 5 - §$ 98455
Other taxes 12,113 12,688 &75 12,808
Licenses and pemits 8817 10,485 1,668 10,154
Inemgovernmental 278732 278,969 237 278434
Chames for sefvices h5.401 54594 {807) 45,353
Fines and forfells 5510 4408 {1,102) 18,036
Other 13,085 12,408 {677 14.358
Total Revenues - 3 492 462 $ 492,356 & {108) $ 477629
Expenditures:
Cument
General govemmant $ 171,803 $ 162,628 $ 8175 5 157,615
PubRC SaMRNY . s e e et e e e e e et tre e 210,274 209,521 753 220,879
Public works 87,574 £7,453 129 100,696
Health 11,370 11,237 133 11,363
Culture and reaaabon 17,351 16,5948 ap3 17,584
Conservation and development 8,688 7,922 768 1.502
Total Expenditures $ 507,060 3 495,708 3 11,381 5 515639
Excess of Revenyes over (under) Expenditares ......ooeeeeeee $ (14,5389) $  (3.3583) $ 11,245 5 [38.010)
Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Proceeds of bonds and noles $ s s 5 80N
Operaling transfers in ... 22,708 24,365 1,657 11,213
Operating transfers out .., . {104} {104) - {338)
Operating fransfers 1o COMPONENt UNES ............couvemreeromerireeonsnnesns {150) {150) - {150)
Contributions received B75 &75 - 536
Contributions used (463) {462) 1 (685)
Use of fund balance - reserved for tax stabfzabion . _...c..couvecrnnen. 5,500 . - 11,250
Total Other Financing Sowces (Uses) 5 28,166 $ 29824 $ 1,658 S 29897
Excess of Revenues and Cihwes Sources over [Lmder)
Expenditures and Other Uses $ 13,568 3 26471 $ 12,803 $ (8113)
Fund Balance - .lanuary 1 {Excludes Reserved for
Tax Stabilzalion) ... P Ao e b st e per e b e are s 40,465 40,455 - 55,085
Residual Equity Transfers from Other Funds .....ovevee oo 10 1,921 1,911 2
Residuat Equity Transfers 10 OMher FUndS . ceenrsrson {13) (13) [£)]
Fund Batance - December 31 3 54043 $ 68,844 $ 14,801 $ 46,365




CITY OF MILWAUKEE Exhibil D
GENERAL FUND
SCHEDLUILE OF REVENUES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL.
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001

{Thousands of Doljars)
Variance -
Amended Favorable
EBudget Actual  {Unfavorable)
Property Taxes:
Ganeral i § 02,86t 3 82,851 5 -
Provision for Employees’ Retirement 15943 35,943 -
Total Propesty Taxes § 118,808 $ 118,804 5 -
Other Taxes:
Faymeat in lieu of taxes S 11,004 $ 11,253 $ 253
Interest on city tax cedificates and olher taxes 1,109 1,425 3G
Total Other Taxes § 12,113 $ 12589 $ &5
Licenses and Permits:
Licenses:
Business and occupalional $ 2917 § 3,539 5 622
Other ... 28 3 3
Permils:
Buiding ......... 4,974 5873 B899
brc. 111+ 184 225 41
Cther ... 714 Bi7 103
Tolat Licenses and Permits $ BB17 $ 10,485 S 1.668
InMemgovemmentai:
State Shares Revenues:
Stale shared taxes 5 243,550 $ 243,680 5 130
Local sireet akls 27,700 20,705 ]
Payment for monicipal services 1,800 2,007 207
Other 5682 5576 {105)
Total Imergovernmental § 278732 $ 278,969 § 237
Charges for Services:
.General government R $ 33,850 § 35155 5(3,708)
Putili safety ; 5812 7.245 1,433
Public works 7.093 £,688 1,585
Health 955 Tz (238)
Culture and recrealion ....c..ovevieersveense , 2,125 2285 170
Consenvation and GeVEIODIMEIT e aieim e eome e same e g e crmressoess bpps sasbie 556 494 {62)
Total Charges for Services R $ 55401 % 54,594 S {@on
' Fines and Forfeds:
MUNCIpal TOWIL it eare e sams s s it s v e par $ 5510 $ 4408 ${1.102)
Cther:
Interest on temporary investments ....... rereeeanas 5 6300 $ 4802 $(1,488)
Misceflaneous F— 6,785 7.606 821
Total Othes % 13085 S 12,408 5 (B7TH
Total $ 492452 $ 492,356 $ (1086)




CITY OF MILWAUKEE Exhibit E
GENERAL FUND
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND AGTUAL
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001
{Thousands of Dollars)
2001 Achual
Salaries Other Variance -
Amended and Operating Favorable
Budget Wages Costs  Equipment Total {Urfavorable)
General Goveinment:
Defered Compansation _.vcveceeee. 5 a8y $° 118 4 612 b3 2 $ 733 254
Zo0ing AGPRALS  ...iviiuririematess e 226 174 4% 215 1
Intern Program 52 &2 52
Mayar 930 B21 49 g 879 a1
Common Councl - City Clark  __............ 6,793 4,798 1332 216 €.346 47
Municipal Caut . 3,007 1,650 1,206 2 2,898 109
City Attormmey 9,011 4428 3,869 193 8,490 521
Administration .. ... 8,348 4623 3455 B85 8,183 185
Employee Relations .......eevus 76,339 3110 72,904 13 5,027 312
Election Commission .. ..ocvonrunane. as9 414 401 815 74
Complrolier .., 27,885 2,600 25038 45 27,684 201
Cily TrRRASUIET ..o carecreece s 3,752 1,435 2019 9 3,463 289
Assessors Office e, 3,498 3,130 352 3,482 16
Public Dedt Cotnrnission ... ..., 523 106 e L | 455 58
Employee Retirement Administration .. 20,976 1,582 13,643 a1 15.306 5570
Interest EXPENSe — oo 7,610 7610 7.610 -
Contingent Funds - Unallocated ... 588 588
Comwention & Travel - Unallocated ..., 32 32
Expert Witness - Unaliocated ... 357 357
Total General Government ............. 3 171,803 § 29,082 $ 132890 $ 65 $ 162,628 S 9175
Putlic Satety:
Fire ard Police Commission ... & 845 5 635 ? 190 3 4 S 829 S 16
Fire Depariment _......ccoeooeeceememuee 64,646 57,722 3401 3,166 64,289 sy
Polica Depatment ......ccieiimeemees 132,439 120,857 9,763 1,467 132,207 232
Neighborhood Services ... 12,344 7.220 4,945 3 12.156 148
Total Public Salely ...viemvecreenn. 9 210,274 5 185,534 $ 18319 § 45668 $ 209,521 $ 753
Public Works:
General Office . S 3533 3 2700 s 755 s 71 5 35% s 7
Infrastructure 18,853 12,268 6476 100 18,845 9
Support Senices ... e 29,704 16,625 10,805 2,170 25,600 104
Sanitation . 27,145 27,745 27,145 -
Fomsty ... 8,339 7.350 B34 154 8,338 1
Tolal Public Works ... 5 BV, 574 5 35,943 $ 46015 & 2485 $ 87,453 % 121
Health % 11,370 § 9079 5 2147 3 11 § 11.237 3 133
Culture and Recrealion:
Public Library 8 17.3%1 5 11683 $ 3.0 $ 2238 § 16,848 S 403
Conservation and Development:
Department of City Development ...... 5 B.683 5 25% $ 4988 3 - 5 7922 $ 768
Total $ 507,060 $ 273,261 % 207,380 $ 10,068 § 455709 $ 11,351
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CITY OF MILWAUKEE Exhibit F
DEBT SERVICE FUNDS
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
DECEMBER 31, 2001
WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR DECEMBER 31, 2000
{Thausands of Dolars)
General
Obligation  Public Debt Totals
Debt Amortization 2001 2000
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 43270 $ 7,163 § 50433 § 3451
Investmnents 65,519 £5,519 67,985
Receivables (nel):
Accounis - 3,202
Motes and laans ......, 17637 17,637 18,866
Accrued interest Bt 167 228 178
Due from other funds - as7
Due from component units 18,995 18,899 12,354
Totz) Assets $ 79,957 $ 72,849 $ 152,816 $ 137,503
LIARILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:
Due to other funds " $ 1154 s P O11% $ 1,840
Deferred MeVEIUE ..o eceeniaiisese e e 35,636 36,636 31,220
Total Liabilties - $ 37,830 $ - $ 37.830 5 33,0680
Fund Balances:
Reserved for debl service - 2002 {2001) $ 42,137 $ 5 42137 $ 30436
Reserved for future retirement of general obligabon debt ............... 72,849 72,849 74,007
Total Fund Balances ... 5 42,137 2 72.849 $ 114,986 $ 104,443
Total Liabilitias and Fund Balances § 79,967 § 72839 $ 152,816 $ 137,503




CITY OF MILWAUKEE Exhibit G
DEBT SERVICE FUNDS
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
FCR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 231, 2001
WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMSBER 31, 2000
{Thousands of Dollars)
General
OCbligation Public Debt Totals
Debt Amortizaton 2001 2000
Revenves:
Praperty Taxes:
General propedy taxes _..... $ 59,49t s S 59491 $§ 48,973
Tax incgements ..., 10,200 10,200 8,702
Total Property Taxes S 6969 5 - $ 6969 $ S7675
Other Taxes:
inlerast cn delinquent taxes ... $ $ 1.358 $ 1,253 £ 1051
Other:
IMerest on fund investments $ 2,084 $ 5106 ¥ 790 § 11,382
Inlerest en general INVESIMENS ..o e s snes s e enarae 2,352 2352 4128
Interesl on special assessments " a3 2 M7
Premium and acorued interest on bonds and notes sold ..., 7.05% 7.055 5,305
Capitatized interest 2.750 2,750 842
Revenuea from other agencies S 6,659 6.658 8,559
Total Ciher ... - § 18.552 5 7,790 $ 26342 $ 31.164
Totai Revenues $ 83243 $ 9,143 $ 57,39 § 898%
Expenditures:
General Government
Puyblic Debt Commission...... cccce e sariorans S $ 2 S 2 L
Dett Service:
Principal relirement 63,254 8,650 71,9504 70,143
interesl ... TNt PRLee s e SR bR S A raE RSk Aret san 24,927 1,654 26,581 23,733
Total Expenditures ...... $ 88181 $ 10.306 $ 98.487 5 G3.876
Excess of Revenues over (under) Expenditures ....ecocceveeee. $ 62 $ (1.158) $ (1.088) $ (3.,985)
Other Financing Sources {Uses): .7
Proceeds of bonds and notes 5 23.216 S 3 232 $
Paymen to refunded bond escrew agent {23,216} {23,216}
Operaing ransfers i ....oocvevivecceceene, 28,585 28,685 25,584
Openling lansfers out ... {16.628) {16,628) (20,380
Total Other Finandng Sources (Uses) § 12,058 $ - $ 12,058 ¥ 6197
Excess ef Revenues and Olher Soustes gver {undear)
Expenditures and Other USes ... icerienerisvesenssersnsssamems s 12,120 $ (1,156) $ 10982 $ 221
Fund Balances - January 1 ..., 30,435 14,007 104,443 105,170
Resigual Equity Translers from Other Funds ....cvvoe s e temcrecanne 3404 3.484 462
Restdual Equity Transfers 19 Other Funds ... cvineeisr e reserees {3.903) (3.903) (3.400)
Fund Balapces - December 31 $ 42137 5 72845 $ 114,986 5 104,443




CITY OF MILWAUKEE Exhibit H

CAFITAL PROJECTS FUNDS
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
DECEMBER 231, 2001
WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR DECEMBER 31, 2000
{Thousands of Doliars)
Buildings
and
Bridges Groungs Sewers
ASSETS
Cashand cash equivalents $ 3,664 $ 15,520 $ 385
Recaivables (ney):
Accounts 1,430
Specizl gssessments ... ———
Due from other governmentat agancies ..., 3,001 445
Invenlary of materiats and suppbes 203
Prepaid iterns
Total Assets § 6,665 $ 15520 $ 2463
UABLLITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Lizbildjes:
Accounts payable ........ S $ 1 5 8.108 5 1057
ACCIUBA WAGES o rroe e e e s e 10 49 14
Due to other funds - .
Due to other govermnmental agencies ., 709 k]|
Defemad mvenue " 1274 &6
Ohher payables . .
Total Liabilittes 1,994 $_ 857 § 1,788
Fund Balances:
Reserved for encumbrances, prepaids and CRITYOVETS  ..\ivviiierieienn S 4671 S 7363 3 472
Reserved for inventocy - 203
Lnreserved:
Spedal assessment {defci)
Total Fund Balanees {Defcit) 5 4,671 $ 7.363 $ 675
Total CGiablfities and Fund Balance § 6,655 $ 15,520 $ 2483




Urban
Renewal

§ 3128

342

3 3470

$ 378

$ 3376

§ 3470

Streels

5,663

$ 7513

a3t
617
4,045
839

$ 1,055

$ 1055

$ _7.519

Tax
ntremental
Districts

$ 5192

$ 5192

18

$ 4921

§ 4921

$ 5192

Special

13610

£ 13,610

s 137

1,200
12,436
12,222

$ 25,995

{12,385)
$(12,385)

3 13.610

Exhibit H (Conbnusd)

Tolals

2003 2000

5 27,689 § 41,912
2,285 1,647
13,610 13,233
10.451 7,155
203 159
e 1
€ 54,439 $ 64,147
§ 10406 $ 12,738
42¢ 20

617 -
8284 2,553
15,010 13,209
12,222 12,694

$ 44,963 $ 41,415
5 21,658 $ 34,278
203 199
{12.385) _(t1.745)
5 95476 $ 22,732
§ 54439 $ 64,147



CITY OF MILWAUKEE

CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001

WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000

{Thousands of Doliars}

Revenues: -
Property taxes e ettt eann
Spetial assessments ...
intergovemmental
Other

Tolal Revenues

Expenditures:
Capital outlay

Excess of Revenues aver (under) Expendilures .........cuieee.

Other Finanding Sources {Uses):
Proceeds of bonds and noles .............
Operating transfers cut

Tolal Other Financing Sources (USES) ...vuireercocoeeeeeeeeeeereees e

Excess of Revenues and Qther Sources over {(under)
Expenditures and Other Lises

Fund Baflances (Deficits) - January 1

Residual Equity Transfers to Qther Funds

Fund Balances {Deficits) - December 31

&

Buildings

Groumds

§ 1824

$ 27,350

§ 27350

$ (8171}

15,834

$ 7.363

Exhibit i

Sewers

1,529

5 1885

11420

$ (9.555)

S (6.010)

6,685

$ 675



Urban
Renewal

3 3.tie

Streels

7,606
1.216

$ 9.009

26,617

£{17,608)

$ 13593

$ 13,593

$ 4.05)

5,070

$ 1,055

Tax
Incremental
Districts

% 24.850

§ w797
608
3484

$ 4921

Special
Assessments

3807

5 3807

4,447

$ &)

$ 2883

§ (640

(11,745)

${12,385)

Exhibit t (Continued)

Totals

2001 2000

$ 2161 $ 2,587
3.807 3,930
B,504 8,319
6,265 1.947

% 20737 $ 16,783
104,479 77529
$(B3,742) $(80,845)
S 76,853 S 78.940
{2.883) {1,885)

$ 73970 $ 77.055
$ 877y $ 16,209
22732 6,085
(3.484) {452)

$ 8476 § 22,732




CITY OF MILWAUKEE
GENERAL LONG-TERM QBLIGATIONS ACCOUNT GROUP

RESOURCES AVAILABLE AND TO BE PROVIDED FOR THE
FPAYMENT OF GENERAL LONG-TERM OBUIGATIONS

Resources avalable in Debt Service FURdS ..vvveroecens

Rescurces to he Provided lor
Retirement of general obligation debt .......cee—ooccueee..

" Unfunded compensated absences

Unfunded claims and judgments

‘Total Resourtes Available and 1o be Provided ...

GENERAL L ONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS PAYABLE

General cbligation debt

Unfunded compensaled abSENCES .....cccevvieercvesrnsmenossenens

Unfunded claims and judgments

Exhibif )
STATEMENT OF GENERAL LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMEBER, 3%, 2001
{Thousands of Dollers)

Debt

Service
Balance  Obligations  Obligations Funds Batance
01-01-01 Incurred Retired Operations 123101
$ 117,488 $ $ s 11386 $ 128,874
405,015 137,933 84,013 {11,386) 437,555
30,534 5,306 2,480 33,360
43,520 14,5939 21,514 36,945
$ 586,557 $ 158,184 $ 118,007 $ - $ 635,734
$ 522,503 § 137,939 § 94,013 $ 3 566,425
30,534 5,306 2,480 33,360
43,520 14,938 21.514 36,945
§ 586,587 $ 158,184 $ 118,007 5 - $ 636,734

Taokal General Long-Term Obligations Payable ...
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Cash and cash equivaients .....

WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR DECEMBER 31, 2000

ASSETS

-

CITY OF MILWAUKEE
ENTERPRISE FUNDS

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

DECEMBER 31, 2001

{Thousands of Daflars)

lnvestments

Receivables (nel):
Accounts ™

Unbilled gcoounts

Accrued interast

Dud from olher funds

trventary of materials 2nd supphies

Prepaid fems
Delerred charges

Olher assets

Restricted Axsals:

Cash and cash equivalents

I

tand |,

Buiklings

Infrastruciure

Improvemeanis other than buildings
Machinery and equlipment

Fumilure and fumishlags

Conslruclion wark In progress

Nonulility property

Accumulaled depreciatian

Total Asasts

LIABILITIES ARD FUND EQUITY

Liabiliies:

Accounts payable
Attrued wages

Accryed expenses

Due Lo other flynds

General chligation debt payable - current

Deferred revenue

Bond anlicipation noles payable
General obligabion debt .

Revernuve bonds payable

Tolal Ligbilities ...

Fund Equity:
Contribited capial

Relained Eamings:
Unresarved {dahci)

fleserved for restricted assets ...,

Totat Fund Equity

Total Liabilitics and Fund Equity

Metropolitan
Soweage
District User
Charge

$ 3072

4,029
1858

355

$ 9314

& 7,898

§_7.906

1408

5 1408

3 %314

Exhibit K-1

Parking

5 7539

9,854
48,326

5,669
474

(17.069)

3 54793

¥ 923
ik

150
81

21,963

$ 26,850

$ 22,158

5785
$ 27,843

$ 54,792



Port of
Milwaukee

8,260
9699

17,681
4834
3

0,910

$ 20,509

¥ 124

264
353

3,150

T 40689

529143
(12,703)
§ 16,440

$ 20,509

Sewer
Maintemancs

8,758
2,012

209

23,365
265,855
1,035

47
8,578

$ 229,542

$ 1198
12,031

29,095
s_43000

§ 179,656

23,365
$ 165,662

{17,359)

¥ 225,542

Satid

B-51

Water
Works

5 15,452

11,291
5727
36

2613
29

67
1,585
22,430

255131
187 521

10,167
40

(126,431)

$ 387,996

3 2433
2236

1883
5,796

42,752
15,266
$ 70,426

S 728657
244,115
s 316772

§ 387,158

Exhibit K-1 (continued)

Tolals

2000

2001 {Restated)

$ 26003 $ 20022

- 4,000

24,972 22,112

9,597 10,047

36 29

564 614

2,616 2,183

28 106

wn? 2

as7 a3
23,385

19.719 19,719

£0,455 78,323
265,856

278,481 271,541

153,864 192,747

78 189

20,145 17,365

540 540

246,498 _153.4%)

$ 701,356 § 487,226

$ 12636 % 13,135

3,445 3236
865

14,198 4733

9,659 9496

61 51

- 6258

67,205 74,070

44,361 16.029

LRE:RE] $ 327,008

$ 303,614 $ 123743

221,246 236,475
23,385

$ 548.225 §.350.218

$ 701,356 $ 487,226



CITY OF MILWAUKEE
ENTERPRISE FUNDS
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN RETAINED EARNINGS (DEFICIT)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001
WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000

{Thousands of Dollars)
Metropolitan
Sewerage
District User
Charge
Operating Revenues:
Chages for Services:
Water sales $
Slatutary sewer user fee 28,510
Sower maintenance f2e
Solid waste fee
Rent
Fire ptoleclion service
Parking melers
Parking pemils ...
Vehicie lowang R -
Qther 1,588

Total Operating Revenues - $ 30,098
Operating Expenses:

Milwaukee Melropolitan Sewerage Dislrict Charga $ 24871
Employee sarvicas .

Adminsiative and general SR U — 189
Deprediation

Transmission and distribution " 1,725
Sesvicas, supplies and malerials

Payment In lieu of taxes

Waler treatment

Watler purniping

Billing and coBection 3,037

Totad Operating Expenses $ 29,822

Qperaling Incama — § 276
Nonoperating Ravenuas (Expensas):

Interest income b
Interest expense

Net gain {oss) on sale of fixed asscls

Ciher . - -

Tolal Nonoperaling Revenues {Expenses) e e pae e v s e on e e mrme e rhmoneg et H -

Incoma bafore Operating Transfers $ 276
Operaling Transfers In
Operaling Transfers Oul ......... [

Nel Income (Loss) befora Capital Conlri:uhons § 276
Capitat Contributions .

Net Income (Loss) 5 276
Retained Eamings (Defic) - Jamaary 1 ........... 1,132
Residual Equity Transfers to Qlher Fuods ret et e
Retained Eamings (Deficit) - December 31 $ 1408
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Pardng

6,571
A7e
1890

.82
19,573

3 35,738

5,190
2,137

11,840
1,210

§ 20,317

$ 15,362

(1.381)

§ (1391
$13.8M

1,381
(20.422}
§ (5.070)

3,533
5 (1.477)

7.262

§ 5785



Exhibit K-2 {continued)

Totals
Port of Sewer Solld ' Water 2000
Mitwaukee Maintepance Waste Works 2001 (Restatad)
5 3 3 § 54681 ¥ 54.68) § %625
28,510 29,206
18,815 18,815 15,582
36,584 36,584
3,985 10,556 7,937
5,138 5,138 5,088
2,779 3,492
1,893 1,303
3823 377
84 ) 1,852 23237 5,847
5 31685 5 18.899 $ 35584 § 61,711 $ 187,018 § 125357
s 3 $ 3 3 24871 $ 26211
1,315 6,284 20,784 33,583 11,054
5,013 5,202 4,365
714 3,119 8,917 14,857 11,786
14,757 16,492 15,682
832 7.809 13,868 34,349 13,221
T2 8,922 9,156
8,295 §,295 7,919
4590 4,990 5,051
1,047 4,004 3,532
$ 285 5 17,212 $ 34,662 3 5)241 $ 155,675 $ 109,482
5 1124 $ 1687 5 1822 $ 10,970 5 313401 $ 15875
s 5 $ 5 B17 $ 617 5 1132
(158) (99) {3.006} 14.654) (4.940)
- {439)
(360) () 560 {401 402
$ (L) $ oo $ - $_ {1829 5 {4439 5 {3.848)
$ 6 $ 1537 $ 1922 § 5in 5 26903 § 13027
159 7479 9,018 2457
(1,@9 (5!} !'1'3!!} 529,5131 {12,348}
$ {1,493 $ 1587 $ 1865 $ 9243 $ 6408 $ 10,146
3,593
5 {1.453) $ 1587 5 1.B55 $ 9243 % 10,001 S 10,146
{11,210) 4419 . ZHen2 238473 225,329
(1.865) _ __{1:855)
$ (12, 703) $ 5006 L - § 244115 $ 244 511 $ 235475



CITY OF MILWAUKEE
ENTERPRISE FUNDS
COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001
WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000

(Thousands of DoBars}

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Operaling iRCOME {J0SS) ... .ccuvmrin s srsnrrrsssirerns
Adjustmenats lo Recondile Operaling Income (Loss) lo Cash Provided by (Used for)

Operating Adtivilies:
Depredialion ...oenncoveine
Qther nonoperaling revenues (BXPENEES] ..iiveiviiimi et eisasrsrror s rerassssasas snseecs
(Increase) decrease In receivables ...
{Increase} decrease [n due from other funds
(Increasa) decrease In invantory of matenals and supplies
{Increase} deaease In prepald lems .
{increase} decrease in deferred charqes
{Increass) decrease ln other assets
Increase (decreasa) in accounts payable
Incraase (decrease) in AcCrmied WaGES ... ..ccriccicses et e e e .
Increase {Jecrease) in ACCIUED BXPENSES  ..uiiciiceeeieeiereeen e cn e s mesmcmeesmessenese asenss
Increase (dociease) in dve lo other funds ..

Increase (decsease) In defemed revenue

Net Cash Provided by {Used far) Operaling Aclivilies ...

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANGING ACTIVITIES:
Operating translers 10 other ITUNAS ... i e s e aeceie oo e
Residual Equity transfer 1o other fUnOS .. e e e aesi et ab e es e

Net Cash Provided by {Used for) Noncapilal Financing Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Capital contrbulions ...,

Proceeds from bond anlicipalion noles

Proceeds (rom sale of bonds and noles ... o

Proceeds from sale of revenue Bonds b
BONO ISSUANGE OO5EE ..ot cirr et et mr e e e e e e srame e eime e e b 4 e bege e P b babe
Acquisiian of property, plant and equipment ..........

Retiremenl of bonds, noles and revenue bonds .

Paymenl to relunded bond escrow agent teamrevane e e e res aarrnan
IALBEBSE PARD . oo et ettt et er e s e e e e e e ena £ eseasraer e frn smnbaras s e shed 1 e amn
Sale of land and ciher assets ...

Transfer to fiscal agent ...

Transfer from fscal agent .................

Operating trensfers to olher funds .

Repais and restoralions ... e e

Net Cash Provided by (Used for) Capital and Relaled Financing Activities ..............

Metrapolilan
Sowerage
District User
Charge

$ 276

2,150
47

{544}
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Parking
$ 15,352

2,137

30

484
50

(8N
10

$ 17.586
5 (19,041)

$(19,041)

$ 3,59
6,503
{2.592)
{3,5%4)

(4,555}
{1,381)

§ (1,925)



Exhibit K-3 (continued)

Totals
Port of Sewer Solid Water 2000
Mitwaukes Malntanance Waste Works 2001 {Restated}
$ 1124 $ 1,687 £ 1822 5 10,970 £ 3134 $ 16875
714 3,118 8917 14,887 11,786
560 560 425
(660) {4,053) 152 (2,411) (2.375)
3 50 (158)
{433) (433} 522
[ 41 77 19
2 (367) {365} (2)
616 G116 5268
3B (474) {3) {499) 2,328
(EH) 7 82 209 50
466 866
264 10,154 (566) 9,465 {2,258)
10 {36)
$ 1481 $ 11012 $ 1922 § 20,336 S 54,373 § 27,464
$ (1.657) s L 150 5 $ (20,755) § {(3,152)
{1,865} {1,865) -
$ (1657) $ - 5 (1,922 5 - $_{22,620) $ (3152
5 434 5 s $ $ 4,028 § 3450
- 6,258
711 3126 10,440 4,69
29,862 29,962 -
{#18) {416)
(10,384) (7.555) (20.531) (22,048
{309) {6,258) (5,622 (15,783 {8.950)
(8) (3.128) (7,689)
(158) (99} {3.008) {4,644) (4,953)
- %
{29,975} {29,975)
6,258 6,258
158 102 260 2N
Q 339 {1,394) (422
5 (566 5(11,012) 3 - S (16,081} $ (29,584} $ (21,477



CITY OF MILWAUKEE
ENTERPRISE FUNDS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001

WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000
{Thousamds of Doliars)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Interest iRCOME  .......cvmiiiiineien

Ingease In fiscal agentfunds ....oviiieiiiniian

Purchase of investmen!s

Proceeds from the sale and maturity of investmants

Net Cash Provided by {Used for) Invesling Activities

Nel Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents ..........

Cash and Cash Equivalents at January 1 ... e s e s smn s

Cash and Cash Equivatents at December 31

Cash and Cash Equivalents at December 31 Cansist of
Unrestiicled Cash ...,

Restricted Cash

Non-cash Adlivities:

The Post of Milwaukee disposed of 530 fully depreciated fixed assets during the year.

Melropolitan
Seworagoe
District User
Charge

$ 3,072

5 3072

Exhibit K-3 (continued)

Parking

$ [3,280)

10,819

$ 7,538

$ 7539

$ 7.539

During the year, water mains and related propery, insteled by others were deeded lo the Waler Werks in the amount of S662.

Dunng the year, lhe ¢ty transfemad $179,071,000 {nel book value) of infrastructure assels Io the Sewer Maintenance Fund.



Exhibit K-3 {continued)

Totais

Port of Sewer Solld Water 2000

Milwaukeo Maintenancse Waste Works 2001 {Restatad)

& LY 3 S 612 s &12 S 1,102
23,365 23,365

- {4,000}

4,000 4,000 -

$ - 3 23,365 s - $ 4612 $ 27.977 % (2,898)

$ (742) $ 23,365 3 - % B8GT $ 30,146 3 {53)

742 7,325 20,022 20.085

L - $ 23,365 $ - $ 15,192 $ 50,168 $ 20,022

$ - 3 5 . $ 16,192 $ 25,803 § 20,022
23.365 23.365

5 - 5 23,365 $ - $ 165192 % 50,168 $ 20,022
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HAWKINS, DELAFIELD & WOOD
67 Wall Street
New York, New York 10005

QUARLES & BRADY LLP
411 East Wisconsin Avenue
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202-4497

Mr. W. Martin Morics

City Comptroller of the
City of Milwaukee

Milwaukee, Wisconsin

Dear Sir:

CITY OF MILWAUKEE, WISCONSIN
SEWERAGE SYSTEM REVENUE BONDS,
SERIES 2003 84, $33,885,000

At your request we have examined into the validity of an issue of $33,885,000
principal amount of Sewerage System Revenue Bonds, Series 2003 84 (the “2003 Bonds™), of
the City of Milwaukee, Wisconsin (the “City”). The 2003 Bonds are dated as of their date of
delivery, and are issued as fully registered bonds which when issued will be available for
individual purchasers in book-entry form only in the denominations of $5,000 or any integral
multiple thereof. The 2003 Bonds mature on June 1 in each of the years and in the principal
amounts set forth below, bearing interest from their dated date, payable on December 1, 2003
and semiannually thereafter on December 1 and June 1 of each year, at the rate per annum stated

opposite such year, as follows:

Interest
Year Amount Rate

2005 $1,310,000
2006 1,345,000
2007 1,380,000
2008 1,415,000
2009 1,455,000
2010 1,500,000

2011 1,545,000
2012 1,600,000
2013 1,655,000

2014 1,710,000

C-2

[nterest
Year Amount Rate

2015 $1,780,000
2016 1,850,000
2017 1,925,000
2018 2,005,000
2019 2,090,000
2020 2,190,000
2021 2,280,000
2022 2,375,000
2023 2,475,000



The 2003 Bonds maturing on and after June 1, 2014 are subject to opticnal
redemption prior to their stated maturities on any date on and after June 1, 2013 upon the terms
and conditions and at the prices set forth therein.

The 2003 Bonds recite that they are issued for the purpose of financing
improvements to the Sewerage System and pursuant to resolutions adopted by the Common
Council of the City on August 2, 2001, March 4, 2003 and April 15, 2003, respectively
(hereinafter referred to collectively as the “Resolution™), the provisions of Chapter 66 of the
Wisconsin Statutes and acts supplementary thereto, the Charter of the City, and a resolution duly
passed by the Commissioners of the Public Debt of the City. The 2003 Bonds further recite that
they are payable solely from and equally and ratably secured solely by the net revenues derived
by the City through the ownership and operation of the Sewerage System of the City which, by
the terms of the Resolution, are pledged to the payment thereof, subject to the provisions of the
Resolution permitting the application of such revenues to the purposes and on the terms and
conditions set forth in the Resolution.

We have examined (i) the Constitution and statutes of the State of Wisconsin; (ii)
the Charter of the City; (iii) certified copies of the Resolution and a certified transcript of
proceedings relating to authorizing the issuance of the 2003 Bonds; (iv) such other papers,
instruments, documents and proceedings as we have deemed necessary or advisable; and (v) a
specimen 2003 Bond.

We have relied upon such transcript of proceedings as to the matters of facts
stated therein without independent verification. We have not been engaged nor have undertaken
to review the accuracy, completeness or sufficiency of the Official Statement or other offering
material relating to the 2003 Bonds, and express no opinien relating thereto.

In our opinion, the 2003 Bonds have been duly authorized and issued in
accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State of Wisconsin and the Charter of the City
and constitute valid and legally binding special obligations of the City, payable solely from and
secured solely by the net revenues of the Sewerage System of the City pledged to the payment
thereof by the Resolution subject to the prior payment from such revenues of the expenses of
operation and maintenance of such Sewerage System and on a parity with other Bonds heretofore
or hereafter issued under the Resolution by the City, payable from the net revenues of the
Sewerage System.

It is to be understood that the rights of the holders of the 2003 Bonds under the
2003 Bonds and under the Resolution and the enforceability thereof may be subject to judicial
discretion, to the valid exercise of the sovereign police powers of the State of Wisconsin and to
valid bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other laws affecting creditor’s
rights.

It is also our opinion that, under existing statutes and court decisions and
assuming continuing compliance with certain tax covenants as described herein, interest on the
2003 Bonds is excluded from gross income for Federal income tax purposes pursuant to Section
103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code™), and is not treated as a
preference item in calculating the alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals and
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corporations under the Code; such interest, however, is included in the adjusted current earnings
of certain corporations for purposes of calculating the alternative minimum tax imposed on such
corporations. In rendering this opinion, we have relied on certain representations, certifications
of fact, and statements of reasonable expectations made by the City and others in connection
with the 2003 Bonds and have assumed compliance by the City with certain ongoing covenants
to comply with applicable requirements of the Code to assure the exclusion of interest on the
2003 Bonds from gross income under Section 103 of the Code.

We express no opinion regarding any other Federal or state 1ax consequences with
respect to the 2003 Bonds. We have rendered this opinion under existing statutes and court
decisions as of the issue date, and assume no obligation to update this opinion after the issue date
to reflect any future action, fact or circumstance, or change in law or interpretation, or otherwise.
We express no opinton on the effect of any action hereafter taken or not taken in reliance upon
an opinion of other counsel on the exclusion from gross income for Federal income tax purposes
of interest on the 2003 Bonds.

Very truly vours,
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APPENDIX D
SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE BOND RESOLUTION

The Bond Resolution contains terms and conditions relating to the issuance of the Bonds, including the
Series 2003 Bonds, including various covenants and security provisions, cenain of which are summarized below.
This summary does not purport to be comprehensive or definitive, and is subject 1o all of the provisions of the Bond
Resolution, to which reference is hereby made. This summary uses various terms defined in the Bond Resolution.
Capitalized terms used in this “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE BOND RESOLUTION are as
set forth in the Bond Resolution.

Pledge Made in the Bond Resolution

The Bonds are limited special obligations of the City payable solely from and secured by the funds pledged
therefor pursuant to the Bond Resolution. The City has pledged as security for the payment of the principal and
Redemption Price {if any) of, and interest on, the Bonds in accordance with their terms and provisions of the Bond
Resolution, subject only to the provisions of the Bond Resoclution permitting the application thereof for the purposes
and on the terms and conditions set forth in the Bond Resolution: (i) the proceeds of sale of the Bonds pending
application thereof in accordance with the provisions of the Bond Resolution or of a Series Resolution, (ii) the Net
Revenues, and (iii) all Funds and Accounts held under the Bond Resolution other than (a) the Rebate Fund, and
(b) the Subordinate Obligation Fund, including the investments, if any, in suck Funds and Accounts; and the
Bondholders shall have a lien on, and a security interest in, such proceeds, Net Revenues, and Funds and Accounts
for such purpose and subject to such provisions of the Bond Resolution. Such lien and security interest for the
payment of Bonds shall be prior and superior to the lien and security interest for the payment of Subordinate
Ohligations. The Bonds are additicnally secured by a mortgage lien upon the Sewerage System which shall be
perfected by the recording of the Bond Resolution in the records of the City.

The pledge of, and lien en, and security interest in, the proceeds of the Bonds and the Net
Revenues as received by the City and the Funds and Accounts in the Bond Resolution, other than the Rebate Fund
and the Subordinate Obligation Fund, shall be valid and irrevocable: (i} from and afier the time that, if required by
State law, a financing statement is filed with respect to such pledge, lien and security interest as required by State
law, and, upon such filing; or (ii), if no financing statement is so required by State law, upon delivery of the
proceeds of a Series of Bonds, and all the Net Revenues as received by the City and the Funds and Accounts of the
Bond Resolution, other than the Rebate Fund and the Subordinate Obligation Fund, shall immediately be subject to
the lien of the pledge without any physical delivery thereof or further act, and the lien of the pledge shall be valid as
against, and prior to the lien of, all parties having claims of any kind in tort, contract or otherwise against the City
irrespective of whether such parties have notice thereof.

Additional Bonds

One or more Series of Bonds {exclusive of Refunding Bonds), may be issued at any time and from time to
time for any lawful use or purpose relating to the Sewerage System, including, without limitation, payment of all or
a portion of the Costs of Improvements, but only upon compliance as to each such Series with the provisions as set
forth in the Bond Resoluticn, including providing, among other things, the following documents or moneys or
securities:

Either (I) 2 Written Certificate of an Authorized Officer of the City based: (i) on audited figures, provided
that such audited figures are for the most recent Fiscal Year for which an audit is available, and are for a
period ending within 18 months of the date of issuance of the proposed Series of Bonds: or (ii} on figures
taken by an independent certified public accountant from the City’s books and records, showing that the
Net Revenues for any consecutive twelve {12) months® period out of twenty-four (24) months immediatelv
preceding the month in which such Bonds are issued were not less than the greater of: {x} the sum of (1) the
maximum Aggregate Debt Service on all Bonds then Outstanding and on the proposed Series of Bonds in
any Fiscal Year and the twelve {12) month period selected, and (2) the Required Deposits for such Fiscal
Year or the twelve {12) month period selected; and (y) 1.20 times the maximum Aggregate Debt Service on
all Bonds then Quistanding and on the proposed Series of Bonds in any Fiscal Year and the twelve {(12)
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month period selected, plus 1.20 times the aggregate Support Facility Reimbursement Obligations
outstanding as of the date of the Written Certificate of the City, or (II)a Written Certificate of an
Authorized Officer of the City or Certificate of the Consulting Engineer that the Net Revenues to be
derived in each of the five (5) Fiscal Years following the earlier of: (i) the end of the period during which
interest is capitalized or, if no interest is to be capitalized, the Fiscal Year in which the proposed Series of
Bonds are issued, and (ii) the date on which substantially all Improvements to be financed with the
proceeds of the proposed Series of Bonds are expected to commence operations, or, if the proceeds of such
Series of Bonds will not be used to fund the Costs of Improvements, the Fiscal Year in which the proposed
Series of Bonds are issued, are estimated to be not less than the greater of: (x) the sum of (1) the maximum
Aggregate Debt Service on all Bonds then Outstanding and on the proposed Series of Bonds in any such
Fiscal Year, and (2) the Required Deposits for any such Fiscal Year; and (¥) 1.20 times the maximum
Aggregate Debt Service on all Bonds then Outstanding and on the proposed Series of Bonds in any such
Fiscal Year, plus 1.20) times the aggregate Support Facility Reimbursement Obligations outstanding as of
the date of such Written Certificate of the City or certificate of the Consulting Engineer, as the case may be.

If any changes have been made and are in effect at the time of the issuance of the proposed Series of Bonds
in the Sewerage Service Charges (exclusive of changes in the rates and charges for the privilege of connecting to the
Sewerage Systemn) which were not in effect during all or any part of the periods referred 10 above, the Net Revenues
for either of such respective perieds may be adjusted to reflect the results which would have occurred in the Net
Revenues if such changes in the Sewerage Service Charges had been in effect during all of such respective periods.

Certain Adjustments

In determining Debt Service on Variable Rate Bonds then Quistanding and Variable Rate Bonds then
proposed to be issued for purposes of the Additional Bonds Requirement, the interest rate shall be calculated as:
(i) if any Variable Rate Bonds are then Outstanding and have been Qutstanding for at least twenty-four (24) months,
the highest average interest rate bome by such Variable Rate Bonds for any thirty {30} day period, or {ii} if no such
Variable Rate Bonds are then Outstanding, the Revenue Bond Index at the time of calculation.

Refunding Bonds

The City by means of a Series Resolution adopted in compliance with the provisions of the Bond
Resolution may issue a Series of Refunding Bonds at any tie for the purpose of refunding (including by purchase)
at any time all or any portion of Bonds Outstanding, including amounts to pay principal, redemption premium and
interest to the date of maturity or redemption (or purchase) and the expense of issuing the Refunding Bonds and of
effecting such refunding; provided, however, that the provisions of the Bond Resolution are complied with upon the
issuance of such Series, including all of the conditions described in “Additional Bonds™ described above, except that
the certificate described in “Additional Bonds™ above need not be complied with if the Refunding Bonds proposed
to be issued do not mature later than the Bonds to be refunded and Debt Service in any Fiscal Year on the Refunding
Bonds proposed 10 be issued does not exceed Debt Service in any Fiscal Year on the Bonds to be refunded by more
than ten percent (10%).

Separate Utility Systems

Nothing contained in the Bond Resolution shall prevent the City from authorizing and issuing bonds, notes,
warrants, certificates or other obligations or evidences of indebtedness, other than Bonds, to acquire or construct
facilities for the collection, treatment or disposal of sewage, and any incidental properties to be constructed or
acquired in connection therewith, which facilities shall be a separate utility system and which bonds or other
obligations or evidences of indebtedness shall be payable solely from the revenues or other income derived from the
ownership or operation of such separate system; provided, however, that the City will not issue bonds, notes,
warrants, certificates or other obligations or evidences of indebtedness for the purpose of acquiring or constructing
such a separate utility system unless and until a report of the Consulting Engineer shall be delivered to the
Compiroller to the effect that: {i) the plan for developing the separate utility system is consistent with sound
planning, and the separate utility system is of such character that it would be useful to the City; (ii} the separate
utility system can be economically and effectively utilized by the City; (iii) the cost of the services of the separate
utility system is reasonable in comparison to alternative sources; and (iv} in the opinion of the Consulting Engineer,
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the acquisition, construction or operation of such separate utility system will not result in a reduction of the
Revenues below the amounts covenanted by the Bond Resolution to be maintained.

Service to the City

The reasonable cost and value of services rendered to the City by the Sewerage System by furnishing sewer
services for public purposes, shall be charged against the City and shall be paid by it in quarterly installments as the
service accrues, out of the current tevenues of the City collected or in the process of collection, exclusive of the
revenues derived from the Sewerage System and out of the tax levy of the City made by it t0 raise money 10 meet its
necessary current expenses. The reasonable cost and value of such service to the City in each Fiscal Year shall be
the amount necessary in the Fiscal Year which, together with the other revenues of the Sewerage System, will
produce Net Revenues in each Fiscal Year equal to not less than 1.00 times the maximum aggregate Debt Service on
the Bonds then Outstanding plus 1.00 times the aggregate Support Facility Reimbursement Obligations then
Qutstanding. However, such payment out of the tax levy shall be subject to (a) approval of the Public Service
Commission, or successors to its function, if necessary, (b} yearly appropriations therefor and (¢} applicable levy
limitations, if any; but neither the Bond Resolution nor such payment shali be construed as constituting an obligatien
of the City to make any such appropriation over and above the reasonable cost and value of services rendered to the
City and its inhabitants or make any subsequent payment cver and above such reasonable cost and value. Such
compensation for such service rendered to the City shall, in the manner described above and in the Bond Resolution,
be paid into the Revenue Fund created by such Bond Resolution.

Funds and Accounts

The City has created a Revenue Fund into which ali Revenues collected by the City have been and shall be
deposited, from which the Revenues shall be appropriated and expended for operating expenses of the Sewerage
System, other purposes of the Sewerage System, and in which certain working capital and operating reserves for
purposes of the Sewerage System have been and shall be maintained. The Revenue Fund shall be considered to be a
fund held under the Bend Resolution for purposes of the pledge made in the Bond Resolution.

The Bond Resolution also creates and establishes the following additional funds of the City to be
maintained so fong as any Bonds are Qutstanding:

Operation and Maintenance Fund,

Rebate Fund;

Special Redemption Fund and Reserve Account therein;
Subordinate Obligation Fund; and

Surplus Fund.

The Operation and Maintenance Fund, the Special Redemption Fund and Reserve Account therein and the
Surplus Fund shall be considered to be funds held under the Bond Resolution for purposes of the pledge made in the
Bond Resolution.

The Bond Resolution also creates a Construction Fund into which the proceeds of revenue bonds of the
City issued to pay the costs of Improvements specified to be expended from such Construction Fund. The
Construction Fund shall be considered to be a fund held under the Bond Resolution for purposes of the pledge made
thereunder.

Revenue Fund

From and after the time of delivery of the first Bond executed and delivered under the Bond Resolution,
Revenues shali be collected by the City and deposited, as soon as practicable, into the Revenue Fund. From the
amounts deposited in the Revenue Fund, the City shall transfer to the Operation and Maintenance Fund sufficient
moneys to pay the current Operation and Maintenance Expenses of the Sewerage System, transfer to the Rebate
Fund such amount as is necessary 10 pay the rebate amount due the United States Treasury Department under
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Section 148 of the Code or to set aside as a reserve for such payment and make the transfers to other Funds and
Accounts as provided in the Bond Resolution.

In each month, the City, after making the transfer, if any, to the Operating and Maintenance Expenses for
such month and setting aside an amount sufficient to pay the Operating and Maintenance Expenses expected to be
incurred for the balance of such month and making the transfer, if any, to the Rebate Fund as provided in the Bond
Resolution, shall retain, apply or transfer on the fifth (5th) day prior to the end of each month, unless otherwise
provided below, a sufficient amount of moneys in the Revenue Fund in the following order of priority:

(1) To the Special Redemption Fund, if and to the extent required so that the balance therein shall
equal the Accrued Debt Service for ail Bonds Outsianding and the interest accrued on all Bond
Anticipation Notes cutstanding on said date;

(2) To the Reserve Account in the Special Redemption Fund, if and to the extent required by a Series
Resolution either (i) an amount such that the balance in the Reserve Account shall equal the Reserve
Account Requirement on said date, or (ii) 2n amount such that if the same amount were deposited in each
month the amount of any deficiency in the Reserve Account shail be eliminated at the end of the twelfth
{12th) menth following the first credit;

3) In the Revenue Fund, a reasonable and necessary amount for working capital and operating
TESErves;

{4 To the Subordinate Obligation Fund, the amount, if any, required to be deposited in such Fund
pursuant to the resclution authorizing issuance of the Subordinate Obligations payable from such Fund; and

(5) To the Surplus Fund, such amounts as shall remain in the Revenue Fund.

All reasonable and necessary Operation and Maintenance Expenses shall be paid from the Operation and
Maintenance Fund as the same become due and payable and, except for the Rebate Fund, prior to any transfer or
payment to other funds and accounts set forth therein.

The City may, if provided in a Series Resolution authorizing the Bonds of a Series, directly pay out of the
Revenue Fund reimbursements to Support Facility Providers whose Suppont Facilities have been drawn upon, after
payments have been made to the Special Redemption Fund.

Special Redemption Fund

The City shall pay out of the Special Redemption Fund to each Paying Agent: (i) on or before each interest
payment date for any of the Bonds or Bond Anticipation Notes the amount required for the interest payable on such
date; (ii) cn or before each principal payment date, an amount equal to the principal, if any, due on such date by
reason of maturity or by reason of the payment of any Sinking Fund Installment; and (jii) on or before any
redemption date for the Bonds, the amount required for the payment of the Redemption Price of and imerest on the
Bonds then 1o be redeemed. Such amounts shall be applied by each Paying Agent on and after the due dates thereof.
The City shall alsc pay out of the Special Redemption Fund the accrued interest included in the purchase price of
Bonds purchased for retirement.

Amounts accumulated in the Special Redemption Fund by reason of the payment of any Sinking Fund
Installment may be applied by the City, on or prior to the sixtieth (60th) day preceding the due date of such Sinking
Fund Installment, to: (i) the purchase of Bonds of the maturity for which such Sinking Fund Installment was
established, or (ii) the redemption of such Bonds at the applicabie Redemption Price, if then redeemable by their
terms. All such purchases of Bonds shall: (i) be made at prices not exceeding the applicable Redemption Price of
such Bonds plus accrued interest; (ii) be made as arranged by the City in such manner and from such sellers or
brokers at such prices as the City shall determine; and (iii) be made to insure that delivery of the Bonds so purchased
shall not occur later than the sixtieth (60th) day next preceding the redemption date to which the Sinking Fund
Installment is to be applied. The appticable Redemption Price of any Bonds (or principal amount of maturing
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Bonds) so purchased or redeemed shall be deemed to constitute part of the Special Redemption Fund until such
Sinking Fund Installment date, for the purpose of calculating the amount of such Account. As soon as practicable
after the sixtieth (60th} day preceding the due date of any such Sinking Fund Installment, the City shall proceed to
call for redemption on such due date Bonds of the maturity for which such Sinking Fuad Instaliment was established
{(except in the case of Bonds maturing on a Sinking Fund Installment date} in such amount as shall be necessary to
complete the retirement of the unsatisfied balance of such Sinking Fund Installment after making allowance for any
Bonds purchased or redeemed pursuant to the Bond Resclution which the City has applied as a credit against such
Sinking Fund Installment as provided in the Bond Resolution and as described above. The City shall pay out of the
Special Redemption Fund to the appropriate Paying Agents, on or before the redemption date, the amount required
for the redemption of the Bonds so called for redemption, and such amount shali be applied by such Paying Agents
to such redemption.

The amount, if any, credited to the Special Redemption Fund from a Series Interest Account (as hereafier
defined) in the Censtruction Fund shall be applied 1o the payment of interest on the Bonds as the same becomes due
and payable as provided in the Bond Resolution.

Upon any purchase or redemption as provided in the Bond Resolution and as described above of Bonds of
any Series and maturity for which Sinking Fund Instaliments shall have been established: (i) if the principal amount
of the Bonds so purchased is less than or equal to the next succeeding Sinking Fund Installment for such Series there
shall be credited to the next such Sinking Fund Instaliment an amount equal to the principal amount of the Bonds of
such Series so purchased; and (ii} if the principal amount of the Bonds so purchased is greater than the nexi
succeeding Sinking Fund Installment, there shall be credited toward each such Sinking Fund Installment thereafier
to become due an amount bearing the same ratic 1o such Sinking Fund Installment as the total principal amount of
such Bonds so purchased or redeemed bears to the total principal amount of all such Sinking Fund Installments to be
so credited or, at the option of the City, an amount equal to the next succeeding Sinking Fund Installment. The
portion of any such Sinking Fund Installment remaining after the deduction of any such amounts credited toward the
same {or the original amount of any such Sinking Fund Instaliment if no such amounts shall have been credited
toward the same) shall constitute the unsatisfied balance of such Sinking Fund Installment for the purpose of
calculation of Sinking Fund Installments due on a future date.

Moneys set aside from time to time with any Paying Agent for the purpose of paying the principal and
Redemption Price (if any) of, and interest on, the Bonds shall be held in trust for the Holders of the Bonds in respect
of which the same shall have been so set aside. Until so set aside, all moneys in the Special Redemption Fund shall
be held in trust for the benefit of the Holders of all Bonds at the time outstanding, equally and ratably,

When Bonds of a Series are refunded in whole or in part or are otherwise paid in accordance with the Bond
Resolution, moneys may be withdrawn from the Special Redemption Fund to pay or provide for the payment of such
Bonds or refunded Bonds, as the case may be; provided that immediately after such withdrawal or transfer there
shall be on credit 1o the Special Redemption Fund an amount equal 1o the Accrued Debt Service for the Bonds then
Outstanding after taking into account such refunding or payment.

Reserve Account

If on the day preceding any principal or interest payment date, the amount in the Special Redemption Fund
shall be less than Accrued Debt Service for all Bonds then Qutstanding, the City shall pay out of the Reserve
Account, to the exteat moneys are required to be on deposit therein, to each Paying Agent for such Bonds the
amount necessary to satisfy the deficiency for payment to the holders of such Bonds. Amounts so applied shall be
derived first, from cash or Investments Securities on credit to the Reserve Account and second, from draws or
demands on Support Facilities held as a part therecf, such draws or demands to be made pro rata among all such
support Facilities based on the respective available amounts thereunder and upon the terms and conditions set forth
in such Support Facilities.

Whenever the amounis en deposit in the Reserve Account shall exceed the Reserve Account Requirement,

if any, the City shall withdraw the amount of such excess and deposit such excess to the credit of the Special
Redemption Fund or the Revenue Fund, as the City shall determine.
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Whenever the amount (exclusive of Support Facilities) in the Reserve Account, if any, together with the
amount in the Special Redemption Fund, is sufficient to pay in full the principal or Redemption Price, if any, of and
interest on all such Outstanding Bonds in accordance with their terms, the funds on credit to the Reserve Account
shall be transferred 1o the Special Redemption Fund. Prior to said transfer, all Investment Securities held in the
Reserve Account shall be liquidated by the City to the extent necessary to provide for timely payment of the
principal or Redemption Price, if any, of and interest on such Bonds.

When Bonds of a Series are refunded in whole or in part or are otherwise paid in accordance with the Bond
Resolution, moneys may be withdrawn from the Reserve Account to pay or provide for the payment of such Bonds
or refunded Bonds, as the case may be; provided that immediately after such withdrawal or transfer there shall be on
credit to the Reserve Account an amount equal to the Reserve Account Requirement, if any, for the Bonds then
Outstanding after taking into account such refunding or payment.

Surplus Fund

The City shall transfer from the Surpius Fund: (i) to the Special Redemption Fund and the Reserve Account
therein the amount necessary (or all the moneys in the Surplus Fund if less than the amount necessary) to satisfy any
deficiencies in payments to such Funds required by the Bond Resolution; (i} in the event of any transfer of meneys
from the Reserve Account 1o the Special Redemption Fund or to the Reserve Account the amount of any resulting
deficiency in such Fund or Account; (iii} such amount as the City may, in its discretion, determine to set aside in
reserve for meeting the deficiencies referred to in clauses (i) through {ii) of this paragraph; and (iv) provided that all
transfers and reserves therefor referred to in clauses (i) through (iii) of this paragraph shali have heretofore been
made, to the Subordinate Obligation Fund the amount, if any, necessary to satisfy any deficiency therein.

Amounts in the Surplus Fund not required to meet a deficiency referred 1o in the Bond Resolution and as
described above shall be applied to any of the following purposes:

the Costs of Improvementis, or the provision of one or more reserves therefor;

the purchase at such price or prices as the City may deem advisable or redemption of any Bonds and
expenses of such purchase or redemption at any time; or

for any other purpose authorized by the laws of the State of Wisconsin in connection with the Sewerage
System, including reimbursement to the City of advances made by the City to the Sewerage Sysiem.

Construction Fund

As soon as practicabie on the date of delivery of the Bonds of a Series, there shall be deposited in the
Construction Fund the amount required 10 be deposited therein pursuant to the Series Resolution. In addition, the
City shall deposit in the Construction Fund such moneys other than proceeds of the Bonds as the City shali
determine to be proper or appropriate to pay the Costs of Improvements.

The Series Resolution authorizing the issuance of any Series of Bonds (exclusive of Refunding Bonds) may
create and establish one or more separate special Series Accounts in the Construction Fund, with such designation as
may be appropriate. In the event any interest on such Bonds is 1o be capitalized from the proceeds of such Bonds,
there shall be created in the Construction Fund a special Series Interest Account with such designation as may be
appropriate.

Meoneys, including proceeds of the Bonds of a Series, which are credited to the Construction Fund or Series
Account shall be applied to the payment of the Costs as shall be specified in the applicable Series Resolution. Any
balance remaining in the Construction Fund or such Series Account upon completion of payment of such Costs may
be used for any lawful purpose of the City; provided that the City shall have obtained an Opinion of Counsel that
any such application will not impair the exemption from Federal income taxation of interest on any of the Tax-
exempt Bonds.



Moneys credited to a Series Interest Account shall be used for the purpese of paying interest on the Bonds
of designated Series. On or before the fifth (5th) day preceding the end of the month next preceding the maturity of
an installment of interest on the Bonds for the payment of which moneys have been credited to a Series Interest
Account, the City shall transfer from a Series Interest Account for credit to the Special Redemption Fund an amount
which, together with any moneys theretofore held in the Special Redemption Fund, shall be sufficient tc pay such
next maturing installment of interest on such Bonds.

Payments from the Construction Fund shall be as specified in the Series Resclution authorizing the
issuance of a Series of Bonds.

Moneys, including proceeds of the Bonds, in the Construction Fund, pending their application as provided
in the Bond Resolution and Series Resolution shall be subject to a prior and paramount lien and charge in favor of
the Holders of the Bonds, and the Helders of the Bonds shall have a valid claim on such moneys for the further
security of the Bonds until paid out or transferred as provided in the Bond Resolution. In the event that there is an
insufficiency in the Special Redemption Fund to pay Debt Service after all ransfers, have been made pursuant to
and in accordance with the Bond Resolution, the City shall transfer from the Construction Fund such amount (or all
remaining amounts in such Construction Fund) as is deemed necessary by the Comptroller of the City for deposit in
the Special Redemption Fund, which, together with the amounts then on credit to the Special Redemption Fund, is
sufficient to pay Debt Service.

Operation and Maintenance Fund

Amounts in the Operation and Maintenance Fund and any subaccount therein, pending their application,
shall be subject to a prior and paramount lien and charge in favor of the Holders of the Bonds, and the Holders of the
Bonds shall have a valid claim on such moneys for the further security of the Bonds until paid out or transferred as
provided in the Bond Resolution. In the event that there is an insufficiency in the Special Redemption Fund to pay
Debt Service after all transfers have been made pursuant to and in accordance with the Bond Resolution, the City
shall transfer from the Operation and Maintenance Fund such amount as is deemed necessary by the Cemptroller of
the City for deposit in the Special Redemption Fund, which, together with the amounts then on deposit in the Special
Redemption Fund, is sufficient to pay Debt Service,

Amounts in the Operation and Maintenance Fund shail be used to pay Operation and Maintenance
Expenses.

Investment of Funds

Moneys in the Special Redemption Fund shall, to the fullest extent practicable and reasonable, be invested
and reinvested solely in noncallable Investment Securities which shall mature or be subject to redemption at the
option of the holder thereof on or prior to the respective dates when the moneys in the Special Redemption Fund
will be required for the purposes intended. Moneys in the Reserve Account not required for immediate disbursement
for the purpose for which the Reserve Account is created shall, to the fullest extent practicable and reasonable, be
invested and reinvested sofely in, and obligations deposited in the Reserve Account shall be, noncallable Investment
Securities which shall mature or be available at par at or prior to three (3} years from the date of investment thereof.

Moneys in the Revenue Fund not required for immediate disbursemens for the purpose for which such Fund
is created shall, 10 the fullest extent practicable and reasonable, be invested and reinvested to the extent allowed by
law, solely in, and obligations deposited in such Fund shall be, Investment Securities which shall mature or be
subject to redemption or payment at the option of the holder thereof, not later than such times as shall be necessary
1o provide moneys when needed to provide payments from such Fund.

Moneys in the Construction Fund not required for immediate disbursement for the purposes for which said
Fund is created shall, to the fullest extent practicable and reasonable, be invested and reinvested 1o the extent
allowed by law, solely in, and obligations deposited in such Fund shall be, Investment Securities which shall mature
or be subject to redemption or payment at par at the option of the holder thereof not later than such times as shall be
necessary to provide moneys when needed to provide payments from such Fund or Account.
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To the extent permitted in the Bond Resolution, all income received from the investment or reinvestment of
moneys in the Funds and Accounts established thereunder shall be deposited in the respective Fund and Account
from which such investments are made and applied as a credit against the next succeeding deposit or credit required
to be made pursuant io the Bond Resoiution; provided, Aowever, that, except as to the Subordinate Obligation Fund,
all or a portion of the income received from the investment or reinvestment of moneys in any such Fund and
Account may be deposited in the Revenue Fund or the Construction Fund, including a Series Interest Account
therein; and provided further, however, that all income received from the investment or reinvestment of moneys in
any Series Interest Account shall be credited to the Special Redemption Fund.

Nothing in the Bond Resolution shall prevent any Investment Securities acquired as investments of funds
held under the Bond Resolution from being issued or held in beok-entry form.

Neither the Comptroller of the City nor any Paying Agent shall be liable for any depreciation in value of
any investments made by the City.

COVENANTS

The City has covenanted and agreed in the Bond Resolution with the holders of all Bonds issued pursuant
to the Bond Resolution as follows:

Maintenance of the Properties of the Sewerage System; Keeping the Sewerage System in Good Repair.
The City will: (i) maintain, preserve and keep, or cause to be maintained, preserved and kept, the properties of the
Sewerage Svystermn and all additions and betterments thereto and extensions thereof, and every part and parcel thereof
in pood repair, working order and condition; (ii) from time to time make, or cause to be made, all necessary and
proper repairs, renewals, replacements, additions, extensions and betterments thereto, so that at all times the
business carried on in connection therewith shall be properly and advantageously conducted; and {iii) comply, or
cause 10 be complied, with the terms and conditions of any permit or license for the Sewerage System or any part
thereof issued by any Federal or State governmental agency or body and with any Federal or State law or regulation
applicable to the construction, operation, maintenance and repair of the Sewerage System or requiring a license,
permit or approval therefor.

Rates and Charges. The City will fix, charge and collect such Sewerage Services Charges as shall be
required in order that in each Fiscal Year the Net Revenues shall be not less than the Net Revenue Requirement for
such Fiscal Year. The failure in any Fiscal Year to comply with the foregoing rate covenant does not constitute an
Event of Default if the City shall comply with requirements described in the next paragraph.

Prior to the end of each Fiscal Year the Commissioner of Public Works of the City shall complete a review
of the financial condition of the Sewerage System for the purpose of estimating whether the Net Revenues for such
Fiscal Year and for the next succeeding Fiscal Year will be sufficient to comply with the rate covenant described in
the Bond Resolution and described above and shall by a Written Centificate of the City make a determination with
respect thereto. Such review shall take into consideration the completion of any uncompleted Improvement and the
issuance of future Series of Bonds if necessary to finance the completion of such Improvements. Such Written
Cenificate shall set forth a reasonably detailed statement of the actual and estimated Revenues, Operation and
Maintenance Expenses, Aggregate Debt Service, and any other estimates or assumptions upon which such
determination was based, and shall be filed with the City Clerk on or before July 1 in each year. If it is determined in
such Written Certificate that the Revenues may not be so sufficient, the Commissioner of Public Works of the City
shail forthwith make a study for the purpose of determining a schedule of Sewerage Service Charges which, in the
opinion of the Commissioner of Public Works, will cause sufficient Revenues to be coliected in the following Fiscal
Year to comply with such rate covenant in and will cause additional Revenues to be collected in such following and
later Fiscal Years sufficient 1o eliminate the amount of any deficiency at the earliest practicable time, or the
Commissioner of Public Works may elect to cause the Consulting Engineer to make such a study and render such
opinicn. The Common Council shall as promptly as practicable but no later than the one hundred twenty (120) days
following such determination by the Commissioner of Public Works, or receipt of the Consulting Engineer’s
recommendation, adopt and place in effect a schedule of Sewerage Service Charges as so determined or
recommended in accordance with the Bond Resolution.
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Sale, Lease or Other Disposition of Properties of the Sewerage System. The properties of the Sewerage
System shall not be sold, mortgaged, leased or otherwise disposed of except as described below.

The properties of the Sewerage System may be sold, leased, or otherwise disposed of in their entirety if,
simultaneously with such sale, lease or other disposition thereof, provision is made for the payment of all
Bonds then Qutstanding and such Bonds are ao longer deemed Outstanding within the meaning of the
Bond Resolution.

Any portion of the properties of the Sewerage System may be sold, leased, or otherwise disposed of on
such terms and conditions as may be determined by the City if the value of such portion of the properties as
of the date of such sale, lease or disposition does not exceed five percent (5%) of the net book assets of the
Sewerage System as of the last day of the preceding Fiscal Year as shown in the most recent audited
financial statements of the City. Any part of the properties of the Sewerage System having a value as of the
date of the sale, lease or disposition which exceeds five percent (3%) of the net book assets of the Sewerage
System as of the last day of the preceding Fiscal Year as shown in the most recent audited financial
statements of the City may be sold, leased, or otherwise disposed of if the Consulting Engineer shall certify
to the City in writing that the terms and conditions of the proposed sale, lease or other disposition of any
such properties are fair and reasonable, and that the estimated Revenues to be derived from the remaining
properties of the Sewerage System, after taking into consideration the use by the City of the proceads of
such proposed sale, lease or other disposition of such properties, will be sufficient to enable the City to
comply with all covenants and conditions of the Bond Resolution. Proceeds of any sale, iease or other
disposition of any portion of the properties of the Sewerage System pursuant to this paragraph shall be paid
into the Special Redemption Fund and applied to the purchase or redemption of Bonds or inte the Revenue
Fund and applied by the City for the purpose of constructing extensions, betterments or improvements to
the Sewerage Systern as the City shall determine.

Buildings and any other portion of the works, plant and facilities of the Sewerage System and real and
personal property comprising a part thereof, which, in the opinion of the Commissioner of Public Works,
shall have become unserviceable, inadequate, obsolete, worn out, or unfit to be used in the operation of the
Sewerage System, or no longer necessary, material te, or useful in such operation may be sold, leased, or
otherwise disposed of. Proceeds of any such sale, lease or other disposition of any portion of the properties
of the Sewerage System pursuant to this paragraph shall be paid into the Revenue Fund.

If permitted by the laws of the State, the City may transfer without consideration the properties comprising
the Sewerage System to a public corporation or political subdivision of the State; provided such corporation
or subdivision assumes all of the City’s or the City’s obligations and duties under the Bond Resolution,

In the event that any part of the properties of the Sewerage System shall be transferred from the City
through the operation of law (including condemnation), any moneys received by the City as a result thereof
shall be paid: (i) if such proceeds are not in excess of $250,000, into the Revenue Fund; or {ii) if such
proceeds are in excess of $250,000: (a) into the Special Redemption Fund and or (b) into the Construction
Fund and used to finance Improvements,

Insurance. Except as provided for in the next paragraph, the City shall keep, or cause 10 be kept, the
works, plants and facilities comprising the properties of the Sewerage System and the operations thereof insured to
the extent available at reasonabie cost with responsible insurers, with policies payable to the City, against nsks of
direct physical loss, damage to or destruction of the above-ground structures, and the equipment and contents
therein, of the Sewerage System arising from accidents, casuzlties or negligence, and other causes customarily
insured against, at least to the extent that similar insurance is usually carried by utilities operating like properties,
including liabitity insurance and workman’s compensation insurance; provided however, that any time while any
contractor engaged in constructing any part of the Sewerage System shall be fully responsible therefor, the City shall
not be required to keep such part of the Sewerage System insured. All policies of insurance shall be for the benefit
of the Holders of the Bonds and the City as their respective interests may appear.

In the event of any Joss or damage to the properies of the Sewerage System covered by insurance, the City
will: {i) with respect to each such loss, promptly repair and reconstruct to the extent necessary to the proper conduct
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of the operations of the Sewerage System the lost or damaged portion thereof and shall apply the proceeds of any
insurance policy or pelicies covering such loss or damage for that purpose to the extent required therefor, unless, in
case of loss or damage invelving $3250,000 or more, the City shall determine that such repair and reconstruction not
be undertaken; and (ii) if the City shall not use the entire proceeds of such insurance to repair or reconstruct such
lost or damaged property, the proceeds of such insurance policy or policies or any portion thereof not used for such
repair or reconstruction, as the case may be, shall be paid into the Revenue Fund. If the City does not obtain
insurance from responsible insurers as provided for in the Bond Resolution, and the City fails to carry insurance
against any of the risks normally insured against by operators of facilities similar to the Sewerage System, it must
secure the concurrence of an independent insurance consultant. In making its decision whether to concur, the
independent insurance consultant shall: (i) make an estimate of the added financial risks, if any, assumed by the City
as a result of the failure to insure; {ii) consider the availability of commercial insurance, the terms upon which such
insurance is available and the costs of such available insurance, and the effect of such terms and costs upon the
City’s costs and charges for its services; and (iii) determine whether the added financial risk, if any, being assumed
by the City is prudent in light of the savings to be realized in light of the general availability of insurance.

The City may include insurance required by the Bond Resolution as part of a blanket insurance policy of
the City.

Consulting Engineer. The Common Council or the Commissioner of Public Works may from time to time
retain and appoint, as Consulting Engineer, an independent consulting engineer or engineering firm or corporation
having special skill, knowledge and experience in analyzing the operations of sewerage systems, preparing rate
analyses, forecasting the loads and revenues of sewerage systems, preparing feasibility reports respecting the
financing of sewerage systems and advising on the operation of sewerage facilities, who shall be available to advise
the City, upon request, and to make such investigations and determinations as may be necessary from time to time
under the provisions of the Bond Resolution.

Books of Account; Annual Audit. The City will maintain and keep proper books of account relating to the
Sewerage System and in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Within two hundred forty (240)
days after the end of each Fiscal Year, the City shall cause such books of account to be audited by an independent
certified public accountant. The audit required by the Bond Resolution may be part of a comprehensive audit of the
City; provided that the Sewerage System in such audit is treated as an “enterprise fund™ and the revenues and
expenses of the Sewerage System are stated in 2 manner which permits identification by caregory of the sources and
uses of the Revenues. A copy of each audit report shall be prepared in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles and shali be filed promptly with the Commen Council.

Punctuai Payment of Bonds. The City will duly and punctually pay, or cause to be paid, but only from the
Revenues, income and cother funds specified in the Bond Resolution, the principal and Redemption Price (if any) of,
and interest on, each and every Bend on the dates and at the places, and in the manner provided in the Bonds
according to the true intent and meaning thereof, and the City shall faithfully do and perform and at all times fully
observe and keep any and all of its covenants, undertakings, stipulations and provisions contained in the Bonds and
in the Bond Resolution.

Payment of Taxes and Other Claims. The City shall from time to titne duly pay and discharge, or cause to
be paid and discharged. all taxes, assessments and other governmental charges, or payments in lieu thereof, lawfully
imposed upon the properties of the Sewerage System (or any part thereof) or upon the Net Revenues or income
received therefrom when the same shall become due, as well as ali lawful claims for labor, material and supplies,
which, if not paid, might become a lien or charge upon said properties or any part thereof, or upon the Revenues
derived from the ownership or operaticn of the Sewerage System, or which might in any way impair the security of
the Bonds, except any such assessments, charges or claims which the City shall in good faith contest as to validity.

Extension of Payment of Bonds. The City will not, directly or indirectly, extend or assent to the extension
of the maturity of any of the Bonds or the time of payment of any claims for interest by the purchase of such Bonds
or claims for interest or by any other arrangement and in case the maturity of any of the Bonds or the time for
payment of any such claims for interest shalt be extended, such Bonds or claims for interest shall not be entitled, in
case of any default under the Bond Resolution, to the benefit of the Bond Resolution or to any payment out of any
assets of the City or the funds (except funds held in trust for the payment of particular Bonds or claims for interest
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pursuant to the Bond Resolution)} held by the Paying Agents, except subject to the prior payment of the principal of
all Bonds issued and Outstanding the maturity of which has not been extended and of such portion o: he accrued
interest on the Bonds as shall not be represented by such extended claims for interest. Nothing in the Bond
Resolution shall be deemed to limit the right of the City 10 issue Refunding Bonds as provided in the Bond
Resolution and such issuance shall not be deemed to constitute an extension of maturity of Bonds.

Sound Improvements and Extensions. The City shall not expend any of the income, revenues, receipts,
profits and other moneys derived by it from the ownership or operation of the Sewerage System for any renewals,
replacements, additions, betterments and improvements to, or extensions of, the Sewerage System which, in the sole
opinion of the Commissioner of Public Works, will not properly and advantageously contribute to the conduct of the
business of the Sewerage System in an efficient and economical manner unless required to do so to permit the
continued operation of the Sewerage System or to preserve or protect the Sewerage System.

Further Assurances. The City shall, at any and all times, insofar as it maybe authorized so to do, pass,
make, do, execute, acknowledpe and deliver all and every such further resolutions, indentures, acts, deeds,
conveyances, assignments, transfers and assurances as may be necessary or desirable for the better assuring,
conveying, granting, assigning and confirming any and all of the rights, Revenues and other funds hereby pledged or
charged with or assigned to the payment of the Bonds or intended so to be, or which the City or the City may
hereafter become bound to pledge or charge or assign.

Protection of Security. The City is duly authorized under all applicable law to create and issue the Bonds,
to adopt the Bond Resolution and to pledge the Revenues and other moneys, securities and funds purponied to be
pledged by the Bond Resolution in the manner and to the extent provided in the Bond Resolution. The Revenues and
other moneys, securities and funds so pledged are and will be free and clear of anv pledge, lien, charge or
encumbrance thereon or with respect thereto prior to, or of equal rank with, the pledge created by the Bond
Resolution, except as otherwise expressly provided therein, and ali action on the part of the City to that end has been
duly and validly taken. The Bonds are and will be valid and legally enforceable obligations of the City in accordance
with their terms and the terms of the Bond Resolution. The City shall at all times, 10 the extent permitted by law,
defend, preserve and protect the pledge of the Revenues and other moneys, securities and funds pledged under the
Bond Resolution and all the rights of the Bondholders hereto against all claims and demands of all persons
whomsoever.

Exclusion of Interest on Tax-exempt Bonds for Federal Income Taxation Purposes. In order to maintain
the exclusion from gross income for purposes of federal income taxation of interest on the Tax-exempt Bonds of any
Series, the City shall comply with the provisions of the Code applicable to such Bonds, including without limitation
the provisions of the Code relating 1o the computation of the vield on investments of the Gross Proceeds of such
Bonds, reporting of earnings on the Gross Proceeds of such Bonds, and rebates of Rebatable Amount to the United
States Treasury City. In furtherance of the foregoing, the City shall comply with the Tax Certificate relating to such
Bonds or such instructions as may be delivered by Bond Counsel at the time such Bonds are issued as to compliance
with the Code with respect to such Bonds, as such instructions may be amended from time to time, as a source of
guidance for achieving compliance with the Code.

The City shall not take any action or fail 1o take any action with respect 1o the application and investment
of Gross Proceeds of Tax-exempt Bonds or use, ownership or management of the Sewerage System or any facility
or project thereof or any Improvement thereto which would cause a failure to comply with the provisions of
Sections 103 and 141 to 150 of the Code, such covenant to be effective (i) throughout the term of such Bonds, and
(ii) through the date that the final rebate, if any, must be made to the United States Treasury City in accordance with
Section 148 of the Code with respect to such Bonds.

Notwithstanding any other provision hereof to the contrary, the City's failure to comply with the provisions
of the Code applicable to the Tax-exempt Bonds of a Series shall not entitle the Holder of Bonds of any other Series,
or any trustee acting on their behalf, to exercise any right or remedy provided to Holders of Bonds under the Bond
Resolution based upon the City’s or the City’s failure to comply with the provisions of the Bond Resolution or of the
Code.
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Annual Budget. As part of the City’s annual budgeting process, the City shall prepare and include a
budget for the Sewerage System for the ensuing Fiscal Year. Each budget shall: (i) set forth in reasonable detail
amounts required for repair, replacement or reconstruction of the Sewerage System and major or extraordinary
repairs, renewals or replacements of the Sewerage System, if any, for the period to be covered by such budget,
{ii} specify the amounts to be set aside for the purposes set forth in clause (i) hereof and the amounts 1o be deposited
in the Funds created under the Bond Resolution and the amounts to be maintained in the Revenue Fund for working
capital and operating reserves for such purposes for such peried, and (jii) project the amounts required for such
purposes for the next five Fiscal Years in such format as the Commissioner of Public Works shall determine. A copy
of each such report shall be filed and maintained in the records of the City.

Events of Default
Each of the following events constitutes an Event of Default under the Bond Resolution:

(2} if payment of the principal and Redemption Price {(if any) of any Bond, shall not punctually be
made when due and payable, whether at the stated maturity thereof or upon proceedings for the redemption
thereof (whether by volumary redemption or a mandatory sinking fund redemption or otherwise);

{b) if payment of the interest on any Bond shall not punctually be made when due;

() if the provisions of any Series Resolution with respect to mandatory Sinking Fund Installment
payments or the redemption of Term Bonds therefrom, as the case may be, shall not punctually be complied
with at the time and in the manner specified in such Series Resolution;

(d) if the City shall fail to duly and punctually perform or observe any other of the covenants,
agreements or conditions contained in the Bond Resolution or in the Bends, on the part of the City to be
performed, and such failure shall continue for ninety (90) days after written notice thereof from the Holders
of not less than twenty percent (20%) of the Bonds then Qutstanding; provided, that if such failure shall be
such that it cannct be corrected within such ninety {90} day period, it shall not constitute an Event of
Default if corrective action is imstituted within such period and diligently pursued until the failure is
corrected; and

(e) if the City shall: (i) admit in writing its inability to pay its debis generally as they become due; or
(i} file a petition in bankruptcy or seeking a composition of indebtedness under the provisions of any
Federal or state bankruptcy or similar law; or {iii) make an assignment for the benefit of its creditors; or
(iv) file a petition or any answer seeking relief under the provisions of any Federal or state bankruptcy or
similar law; or (v) consent to the appointment of a receiver of the whole or any substantial part of the
Sewerage System; or (vi) consent to the assumption by any court of competent jurisdiction under the
provisions of any other law for the relief or aid of debtors of custody or control of the City, or of the whole
or any substantial part of the Sewerage System.

Acceleration of Bonds

If an Event of Default shall happen and shall not have been remedied, then and in every such case the
Holders of not less than twenty-five percent (25%) in principal amount of the Bonds then Qutstanding, by notice in
writing to the City, may declare the principal of all the Bonds then QOutstanding, and the interest accrued thereon, to
be due and payable immediately, and upon any such declaration the same shall become and be immediately due and
pavable. The right of the Holders of not less than twenty-five percent (25 %) in principal amount of the Bonds then
Outstanding to make any such declaration, however, shall be subject to the condition that if, at any time after such
declaration, but before the Bonds shall have matured by their terms, all overdue instaliments of interest upon the
Bonds, together with interest on such overdue instailments of interest to the extent permitted by law and all other
sums then payable by the City under the Bond Resolution (except the principal of, and interest accrued since the
next preceding interest date on, the Bonds due and payable solely by virtue of such declaration) shall either be paid
by or for the account of the City or provision satisfactory to the Holders of a majority in principal amount of the
Bonds then Outstanding shall be made for such payment, and all defavits under the Bonds or under the Bond
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Resolution (other than the payment of principal and interest due and payable solely by reason of such declaration)
shall be cured or be secured to the satisfaction of the Holders of a majority in principal amount of the Bonds then
Outstanding or provision deemed by such Holders of the Bonds to be adequate shall be made therefor, then and in
every such case the Holders of a majority in principal amount of the Bonds then Qutstanding, by written notice 1o
the City, may rescind such declaration and annul such default in its entirety, but no such rescission shall extend to or
affect any subsequent default or impair or exhaust any resulting right or power.

Application of Revenues in an Event of Default

During the continuance of an Event of Default as defined in ftems (a) through (¢) of the Events of Default
described above or of any other Event of Default resulting in an Event of Default as defined in items (a) through (c)
of the Events of Default described above, the Revenues received by a receiver appointed pursuant to the Bond
Resolution as the result of the 1aking of possession of the business and properties of the Sewerage System, shall be
applied by the receiver: first, to the payment of all necessary and proper Operation and Maintenance Expenses of the
Sewerage System and all other proper disbursements or liabilities made or incurred by the receiver; second, to the
then due and overdue payments into the Special Redemption Fund, including the making up of deficiencies therein;
and last, for any lawful purpose in connection with the Sewerage System.

In the event that at any time the funds held by the receiver are insufficient for the payment of the principal
and Redemption Price (if any) of, and interest then due on, the Bonds, such funds (other than funds held for the
payment or redemption of particular Bonds and ali Revenues and other moneys received or collected for the benefit
or for the account of Holders of the Bonds by the receiver shall be applied as follows:

{1) Unless the principal of ali of the Bonds shall have become due and payable,

First, to the payment of all necessary and proper Operation and Maintenance Expenses of the
Sewerage Systemn and all other proper disbursements or liabilities made or incurred by the
TECEIVET;

Second, to the payment to the persons entitled thereto of all installments of interest then due
{(including any interest on overdue principal) in the order of the maturity of such installments,
earliest maturities first, and if the amounts available shall not be sufficient to pay in full any
installment or instailments of interest maturing on the same date, then to the payment thercof
ratably, according to the amount due thereon, to the persons entitled thereto, without any
discrimination or preference; and

Third, to the payment to the persens entitled thereto of the principal and premium, if any, due and
unpaid upen the Bonds at the time of such payment without preference or priority of any Bord
over any other Bonds, ratably, according to the amounts due respectively for principal and
redemption premium, without any discrimination or preference.

2) If the principal of all of the Bonds shall have become due and pavable,

First, to the payment of all necessary and proper Operation and Maintenance Expenses of the
Sewerage System and all other proper disbursements or liabilities made or incurred by the
receiver;

Second, to the payment of the principal and interest then due and unpaid upon the Bonds without
preference or priority of principal over interest or of interest over principal, or of any installment
of interest over any other installment of interest, or of any Bond over any other Bonds, ratably,
according 1o the amounts due respectively for principal and interest, to the persons entitled thereto
without any discrimination or preference.

Whenever moneys are to be applied pursvant to the foregoing paragraphs, such moneys shall be applied by
the receiver at such times, and from time to time, as it in its sole discretion shall determine, having due regard to the
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amount of such moneys available for application and the likelihood of additional moneys becoming available for
such application in the future.

If and whenever all overdue installments of interest on all Bonds, together with the reasonable and proper
charges, expenses, and liabilities of the Holders of the Bonds, their respective agents and attorneys, and all other
sums payable by the City under the Bond Resolution including the principal and Redemption Price (if any) of all
Bonds which shall then be payable, shall either be paid in full by or for the account of the City or provision
satisfactory to the receiver shall be made for such payment, and all defaults under the Bond Resolution or the Bonds
shall be made good and secured to the satisfaction of the receiver or provision deemed by the receiver to be adequate
therefor, the receiver shall pay over to the City all of its moneys, securities, funds and Revenues then remaining
unexpended in the hands of the Bondholders® Committee described in the Bond Resolution, control of the business
and possession of the property of the City shall be restored to the City, and thereupon the City shall be restored to its
former positions and rights under the Bond Resolution, and all Revenues shall thereafter be applied as provided in
the Bond Reseclution. No such payment over to the City by the receiver or resumption of this application of
Revenues as provided in the Bond Resolution, shall extend 1o or affect any subsequent default under the Bond
Resolution or impair any right consequent thereon.

Suits at Law or Equity and Mandamus; Appointment of a Receiver

If an Event of Default shall happen and shali not have been remedied, then and in every such case, but
subject to the provisions, limitations and conditions as set forth in the Bond Resolution so far as the remedies
thereunder are concemned, the Holder of any Bond at the time Outstanding shall be entitled, for the equal benefit and
protection of alt Hoiders of the Bonds similarly situated, 1o proceed, protect and enforce the rights vested in such
Holder by the Bond Resolution by such appropriate judicial proceeding as such Helder shall deem most effectual to
protect and enforce any such right, either by suit in equity or by action of law, whether for the specific performance
of any covenant or agreement contained in the Bond Resclution, or in aid of the exercise of any power granted in the
Bond Resolution, or to enforce any other tegal or equitable right vested in the Holders of Bonds by the Bond
Resclution or by law; provided, however, that no judicial proceeding shall be brought secking the appointment of a
receiver to take possession of the Sewerage System or to manage, receive and apply the Revenues unless the
Holders of not less than a majority in principal amount of the Bonds then Qutstanding or a Bondholders’ Committee
representing the Holders of not less than a majority in principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding shall have
joined in or consented 1o such proceeding.

Remedies Not Exclusive; Waivers of Default; Abandonment of Proceedings; Adverse Determination

No remedy by the terms of the Bond Resolution conferred upon or reserved to the Holders of the Bonds is
intended to be exclusive of any other remedy, but each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in
additien to any other remedy given thereunder to the Holders of the Bonds or now or hereafter existing at law or in
equity or by statute.

No delay or omission of any Holder of Bonds (o exercise any right or power arising upon the occurrence of
a defanlt under the Bond Resolution. including an Event of Default, shall tmpair any right or power or shall be
construed to be a waiver of any such default or to be an acquiescence therein. Every power and remedy given by this
Article to the Holders of Bonds may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient by
such Holders,

In case the Holders of the Bonds or a Bondholders’ Committee formed pursuant to the Bond Resolution
shall have proceeded to enforce any right under the Bond Resolution and such proceedings shall have been
discontinued or abandoned for any reason, or shall have been determined adversely to the Holders of the Bonds or
such Bondholders” Committee, then and in every such case the City and the Holders of the Bonds shall be restored
to their former positions and rights under the Bond Resolution, and all rights, remedies and powers of the Holders of
the Bonds shall continue as if no such proceedings had been taken.
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Amending and Supplementing of the Bond Resolution

Amending and Supplementing of the Bond Resolution Without Consent of Holders of Bonds. The City,
from time to time and at any time and without the consent or concurrence of any Holder of any Bond, may adopt a
Series Resolution (i) for the purpose of providing for the issuance of Bonds pursuant to the Bond Resolution; (ii} to
make any changes, modifications, amendments or deletions hereto which may be required to permit the Bond
Resolution to be qualified under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 of the United States of America; or {iii) if the rights
of the Holders of the Bonds then Outstanding shall not be materially adversely affected thereby, 2 Supplemental
Resolution for any one or more of the following purposes:

1. to make any changes or corrections in the Bond Resolution as to which the City shall have been
advised by counsel that the same are verbal corrections or charges or are required for the purpose of curing
or correcting any ambiguity or defective or inconsistent provision or omission or mistake or manifest error
contained in the Bond Resolution, or to insert in the Bond Resolution such provisions clarifying matters or
questions arising under the Bond Resolution as are necessary or desirable;

2. to add additional covenants and agreements of the City for the purpose of further securing the
payment of the Bonds;
3. to surrender any right, power or privilege reserved to or conferred upon the City by the terms of

the Bond Resolution;

4, to confirm as further assurance any lien, pledge or charge, or the subjection to any lien, pledge, or
charge, created or to be created by the provisions of the Bond Resolution;

5. to grant to, or to confer upon, the Holders of the Bonds any additional rights, remedies, powers,
authority or security that lawfully may be granted to or conferred upon them; and

6. to modify in any other respect any of the provisions of the Bond Resolution,

Except for Series Resolutions authorizing the issuance of Bonds pursuant hereto, the City shall not adopt
any Supplemental Resolution described above and as provided for in the Bond Resolution unless in the Opinion of
Counsel {which opinion may be combined with the opinion required by the Bond Reselution} the adoption of such
Supplemental Resolution is permitted by the purposes described above and as provided for in the Bond Resolution
and the provisions of such Supplemental Resolution do not materially adversely affect the rights of the Holders of
the Bonds then Outstanding.

The City shall furnish a notice of each amendment or supplement described above and a copy of the
Supplemental Resolution effecting such amendment or supplement to each Rating Agency which has rated the
Bonds at least fifteen (15) days prior to the effective day of the Supplemental Resolution.

Amendment of Bond Resolution With Consent of Holders of Bonds. With the consent of the Holders of
not fess than a majority of the Bonds then Qutstanding, the City from time to time and at any time may adopt 2
resolution amendatory hereof or supplemental for the purpose of adding any provisions to, or changing in any
manner or eliminating any of the provisions of, the Bond Resolution, or modifying or amending the rights and
obligations of the City thereunder, or modifying or amending in any manner the rights of the Holders of the Bonds
then Outstanding; provided however, that without the specific consent of the Holder of each such Bond which
would be affected thereby, no Supplemental Resolution amending or supplementing the provisions hereof shall:
(1) change the fixed maturity date for the payment of the principal of any Bond or the dates for the payment of
interest thereon or the terms of the redemption thereof, or reduce the principal amount of any Bond or the rate of
interest thereon or the Redemption Price {or the redemption premium} payable upon the redemption or prepayment
thereof, or (2) reduce the aforesaid percentage of Bonds, the Holders of which are required to consent to any
Supplemental Resolution amending or supplementing the provisions of the Bond Resolution; or (3) give to any
Bond or Bonds any preference over any other Bond or Bonds secured hereby; or (4) authorize the creation of any
pledge of the Revenues and other moneys pledged thereunder, prior, superior or equal to the pledge of and lien and
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charge thereon created for the payment of the Bonds except to the extent provided in the Bond Resolution; or
(5) deprive any Holder of the Bonds in any material respect of the security afforded by the Bond Resolution;
provided further, however, that without the specific consents of the Holders of not less than & majority in principal
amount of the Term Bonds then Outstanding and affected thereby, no Supplemental Resolution amending or
supplementing the provisions of the Bond Resolution shali (a) change the amount of any Sinking Fund Instaliments
for the retirement of Term Bonds or the due dates of such installments or the terms for the purchase or redemption
thereof from such installments, or (b) reduce the aforesaid percentage of Term Bonds, the Holders of which are
required to consent to any such Supplementa! Resolution. (Nothing in this paragraph, however, shall be construed as
making necessary the approvai of the Holders of the Bonds of the adoption of any Supplemental Resolution). A
modification or amendment with respect to the Revenue Fund or the Special Redemption Fund or Reserve Account
shatl not be deemed a change in the terms of payments; provided that no such modification or amendment shall,
except upon the consent of the Holders of all Bonds then outstanding affected thereby, reduce the amount or
amounts required to be credited to the Special Redemption Fund or Reserve Account. If any Series of Bonds is
insured as to payment of principal and interest, the insurer of such Series of Bonds shall be considered the Holder of
such Bonds for purposes of the Bond Resolution.

The City shall furnish a notice of each amendment or supplement and a copy of the Supplemental
Resolution effecting such amendment or supplement to each Rating Agency which has rated the Bonds at least
fifteen (15) days prior to the effective day of the Supplemental Resolution.

Discharge of Liens and Pledges; Bonds No Longer Outstanding and Deemed to be Paid

Except as otherwise provided in the Bond Resolution with regard to Option Bonds, the obligations of the
City under the Bond Resolution and the liens, pledges, charges, trusts, covenants and agreements of the City made
or provided for therein, shall be fully discharged and satisfied as to any Bond and such Bond shall no longer be
deemed to be Outstanding;

{i) when such Bond shall have been canceled, or shall have been surrendered for cancellation or is
subject to cancellation, or shall have been purchased by or behalf of the City from moneys held under the
Bond Resolution; or

(i) as to any Bond not canceled or surrendered for canceliation or subject to cancellation or so
purchased, when payment of the principal and Redemption Price (if any)} of such Bond, plus interest on
such principal to the due date thereof (whether such due date be by reason of maturity or upon redemption
or prepayment, or otherwise) either (a) shall have been made or caused to be made in accordance with the
terms thereof, or (b} shall have been provided for by irrevocably depositing with the Paying Agent for such
Bond, in trust, and irrevocably appropriating and setting aside exclusively for such payment, either
(1) moneys sufficient to make such payment or (2) noncallable Refunded Municipal Obligations or
noncallable Government Obligations, maturing as to principal and interest in such amount and at such
times as will insure, together with any cash deposit, the availability of sufficient moneys to make such
pavment, whichever the City deems to be in its best interest, and, if the City determines it to be in its best
interest as verified by an independent nationally recognized firm of certified public accountants in a repon
delivered to the City and the Comptroller of the City, and all necessary and proper fees, compensation and
expenses of the Comptraller of the City and the Paying Agents pertaining to the Bond with respect to which
such deposit is made shall have been paid or the payment thereof provided for to the satisfaction of the
Comptroiler of the Ciry and said Paying Agents,

At such time as a2 Bond shall be deemed to be no longer Qutstanding, as aforesaid, such Bond, except for
the purposes of any payment from such moneys, Refunded Municipa! Obligations or Government Obligations, shall
no longer be secured by or entitled to the benefits of the Bond Resolution.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of a Bond which is to be redeemed or otherwise prepaid prior to
its stated maturity, no deposit under clause (b} of subparagraph (ii) of the second paragraph above shall constitute
such payment, discharge and satisfaction as aforesaid until such Bond shall have been irrevocably designated for
redemption or prepayment and proper notice of such redemption or prepayment shall have been previously given in
accordance with the Bond Resolution or provision shall have been irrevocably made for the giving of such notice.
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All income from all Refunded Municipal Obligations and Government Obligations in the hands of the
Paying Agents which is not required for the payment of the Bonds and interest and premium thereon with respect to
which such meneys shall have been so deposited, shall be paid to the City for deposit in the Revenue Fund free and
clear of any trust, lien, security interest, pledge or assignment securing any Bonds or otherwise existing under the
Bond Resolution.

All moneys, Refunded Municipal Obligations or Government Obligations set aside and held in trust
pursuant to the provisions of the Bond Resolution for the payment of Bonds (including interest and premium
thereof, if any) shall be applied to and used solely for the payment of the particular Bond (including interest and
premium thereof, if any) with respect to which such moneys and Investment Securities have been 50 set aside in
trust. If moneys, Refunded Municipal Obligations or Government Obligations have been deposited or set aside with
a Paying Agent for the pavment of a specific Bond and such Bond shall be deemed to have been paid and to be no
longer Outstanding, but such Bond shall not have in fact been actually paid in full, no amendment to the Bond
Resolution shall be made without the consent of the Holder of each Bond affected thereby.

The City may at any time surrender to a Paying Agent for a Series of Bonds for cancellation by it any
Bonds of such Series previously executed and delivered, which the City may have acquired in any manner whatever,
and such Bonds upon such surrender for cancellation shall be deemed to be paid and no longer Quistanding.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE

This Continuing Disclosure Certificate (the “Certificate”), dated as of
July 10, 2003, is executed and delivered in connection with the issuance by the City of
Milwaukee, Wisconsin (the “City”), of $33,885,000 principal amount Sewerage System Revenue
Bonds, Series 2003 (the “Bonds”), and pursuant to resolutions adopted by the Common Council
of the City on August 2, 2001, March 4, 2003 and April 15, 2003, respectively, and a resolution
adopted by the Commissioners of the Public Debt of the City on June 20, 2003 (collectively, the
“Resolution”) Capitalized terms used in this Certificate shall have the respective meanings
specified above or in Article I hereof. Pursuant to the Resolution, the City agrees as follows:

ARTICLE I

Definitions

SECTION 1.1  Definitions. The following terms used in this Certificate shall
have the following respective meanings:

(1) “Annual Financial Information” means, collectively, (i)the financial
information and operating data with respect to the City for each fiscal year of the type contained
in the Official Statement under the headings “THE SEWERAGE SYSTEM”, “SEWERAGE
SYSTEM REVENUE BOND INDEBTEDNESS”, “SEWER MAINTENANCE FUND
RESTATED STATEMENT OF REVENUES”, “EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN RETAINED
EARNINGS”, “RESTATED STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS”, “SEWER MAINTENANCE
FUND DISTRIBUTION OF MAJOR ASSETS”, “SEWER MAINTENANCE FUND PRO
FORMA OPERATIONS AND DEBT SERVICE-LEVEL DEBT SERVICE” thereunder, and
information contained in Appendix B to the Official Statement; and (ii) information regarding
amendments to this Certificate required pursuant to Sections 4.2(c) and (d) of this Certificate.
Annual Financial Information shall include Audited Financial Statements, if available, or
Unaudited Financial Statements.

The descriptions contained in clause (i) above of financial information and
operating data constituting Annual Financial Information are of general categories of financial
information and operating data. Where such descriptions include information that no longer can
be generated because the operations to which it related have been materially changed or
discontinued, a statement to that effect shall be provided in lieu of such information.

(2) “Audited Financial Statements” means the annual financial statements, if
any, of the City, audited by such auditor as shall then be required or permitted by State law or the
Resolution. Audited Financial Statements shall be prepared in accordance with GAAP for
governmental units as prescribed by GASB; provided, however, that the City may from time to
time, if required by federal or State legal requirements, modify the basis upon which its financial
statements are prepared. Notice of any such modification shall be provided to each NRMSIR and
the SID, and shall include a reference to the specific federal or State law or regulation describing
such accounting basis. “Audited Financial Statements “ includes the City’s Comprehensive
Annual Financial Report for a fiscal year if one is prepared by the City for such fiscal year.
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3) “Counsel” means Hawkins, Delafield & Wood and Quarles & Brady LLP
or such other nationally recognized Bond Counsel or counsel expert in federal securities laws, in
each case acceptable to the City.

4) “GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles for
governmental units as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board.

(%) “Material Event” means any of the following events with respect to the
Bonds, whether relating to the City or otherwise, if material:

(1) principal and interest payment delinquencies;
(i)  non-payment related defaults;

(i11)  unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial
difficulties;

(iv)  unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial
difficulties;

(v) substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to
perform;

(vi)  adverse tax opinions or events affecting the tax-exempt status of
the Bonds;

(vil)  modifications to rights of Bondholders;

(viil) Bond calls other than scheduled mandatory sinking fund
redemptions;

(ix)  defeasances;

(x) release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the
Bonds; and

(xi)  rating changes.
(6) “Material Event Notice” means notice of a Material Event.

(7) “MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board established
pursuant to the provisions of Section 1513(b)(1) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

(8) “NRMSIR” means, at any time, a then-existing nationally recognized
municipal securities information repository, as recognized from time to time by the SEC for the
purposes referred to in the Rule. The NRMSIRs as of the date of this Certificate are Bloomberg
Municipal Repository, DPC Data Inc., FT Interactive Data and Standard & Poor’s J.J. Kenny
Repository. Filing information relating to such NRMSIRs is set forth in Exhibit 1 hereto.

9 “Official Statement” means the “final official statement” as defined in
paragraph ()(3) of the Rule.
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(10)  “Rule” means Rule 15¢2-12 promulgated by the SEC under the Securities
and Exchange Act of 1934 as amended (17 CFR Part 240, §240.15¢2-12), as in effect on the date
of this Certificate, including any official interpretations thereof issued either before or after the
effective date of this Certificate which are applicable to this Certificate.

(11)  “SEC” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

(12)  “SID” means, at any time, a then-existing State information depository, if
any, as operated or designated as such by or on behalf of the State for the purposes referred to in
the Rule. As of the date of this Certificate, there is no SID.

(13)  “State” means the State of Wisconsin.

(14)  “Unaudited Financial Statements” means the same as Audited Financial
Statements, except the same shall not have been audited.

(15)  “Underwriter” means ABN AMRO Incorporated, as the successful bidder
for the Bonds.

ARTICLE II

The Undertaking

SECTION 2.1  Purpose. This Certificate shall constitute a written undertaking
for the benefit of the holders of the Bonds, and is being executed and delivered solely to assist
the Underwriter in complying with paragraph (b)(5) of the Rule.

SECTION 2.2 Annual Financial Information. (a) The City shall provide
Annual Financial Information for the City with respect to each fiscal year of the City,
commencing with fiscal year beginning January 1, 2003, by no later than six months after the
end of the respective fiscal year, to each NRMSIR and to the SID.

(b) The City shall provide, in a timely manner, notice of any failure of the
City to provide the Annual Financial Information by the date specified in subsection (a) above to
each NRMSIR, to the MSRB and to the SID.

SECTION 2.3  Audited Financial Statements. If not provided as part of Annual
Financial Information by the dates required by Section 2.2(a) hereof, the City shall provide
Audited Financial Statements, when and if available, to each NRMSIR and to the SID.

SECTION 2.4  Notices of Material Events. (a) If a Material Event occurs, the
City shall provide, in a timely manner, a Material Event Notice to each NRMSIR, to the MSRB
and to the SID.

(b) Upon any legal defeasance of the Bonds, the City shall provide notice of
such defeasance to each NRMSIR, to the MSRB and to the SID, which notice shall state whether
the Bonds to be defeased have been defeased to maturity or to redemption and the timing of such
maturity or redemption.

SECTION 2.5  Additional Disclosure Obligations. The City acknowledges and
understands that other federal and State laws, including but not limited to the Securities Act of
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1933 and SEC Rule 10b-5 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, may apply to
the City, and that under some circumstances compliance with this Certificate, without additional
disclosures or other action, may not fully discharge all duties and obligations of the City under
such laws.

SECTION 2.6  Additional Information. Nothing in this Certificate shall be
deemed to prevent the City from disseminating any other information, using the means of
dissemination set forth in this Certificate or any other means of communication, or including any
other information in any Annual Financial Information or Material Event Notice, in addition to
that which is required by this Certificate. If the City chooses to include any information in any
Annual Financial Information or Material Event Notice in addition to that which is specifically
required by this Certificate, the City shall have no obligation under this Certificate to update such
information or include it in any future Annual Financial Information or Material Event Notice.

SECTION 2.7  No Previous Non-Compliance. The City represents that since
July 3, 1995, it has not failed to comply in any material respect with any previous undertaking in
a written contract or agreement specified in paragraph (b)(5)(i) of the Rule.

ARTICLE III

Operating Rules

SECTION 3.1  Reference to Other Documents. It shall be sufficient for
purposes of Section 2.2 hereof if the City provides Annual Financial Information by specific
reference to documents (i) either (1) provided to each NRMSIR existing at the time of such
reference and the SID, or (2) filed with the SEC; or (ii) if such a document is an Official
Statement, available from the MSRB.

SECTION 3.2  Submission of Information. Annual Financial Information may
be provided in one document or multiple documents, and at one time or in part from time to time.

SECTION 3.3  Material Event Notices. Each Material Event Notice shall be so
captioned and shall prominently state the title, date and CUSIP numbers of the Bonds.

SECTION 3.4  Transmission of Information and Notices. Unless otherwise
required by law and, in the City’s sole determination, subject to technical and economic
feasibility, the City shall employ such methods of information and notice transmission as shall be
requested or recommended by the herein-designated recipients of the City’s information and
notices.
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ARTICLE IV

Termination, Amendment and Enforcement

SECTION 4.1 Termination.

(a) The City’s obligations under this Certificate shall terminate upon legal
defeasance, prior redemption or payment in full of all of the Bonds.

(b) This Certificate or any provision hereof shall be null and void in the event
that the City (1) delivers to the City an opinion of Counsel, addressed to the City, to the effect
that those portions of the Rule which require the provisions of this Certificate or any of such
provisions, do not or no longer apply to the Bonds, whether because such portions of the Rule
are invalid, have been repealed or otherwise, as shall be specified in such opinion, and
(2) delivers copies of such opinion to each NRMSIR and the SID.

SECTION 4.2  Amendment.

(a) This Certificate may be amended, by written certificate of the Comptroller
of the City, without the consent of the holders of the Bonds, if all of the following conditions are
satisfied: (1) such amendment is made in connection with a change in circumstances that arises
from a change in legal (including regulatory) requirements, a change in law (including rules or
regulations) or in interpretations thereof, or a change in the identity, nature or status of the City
or the type of business conducted thereby, (2) this Certificate as so amended would have
complied with the requirements of the Rule as of the date of this Certificate, after taking into
account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule, as well as any change in circumstances,
(3) the City shall have received an opinion of Counsel addressed to the City, to the same effect as
set forth in clause (2) above and further to the effect that the amendment does not materially
impair the interests of the holders of the Bonds, and (4) the City delivers copies of such opinion
and amendment to each NRMSIR and the SID.

(b) In addition to subsection (a) above, this Certificate may be amended and
any provision of this Certificate may be waived, without the consent of the holders of the Bonds,
if all of the following conditions are satisfied: (1) an amendment to the Rule is adopted, or a new
or modified official interpretation of the Rule is issued, after the effective date hereof which is
applicable to this Certificate, (2) the City shall have received an opinion of Counsel to the effect
that performance by the City under this Certificate as so amended or giving effect to such
waiver, as the case may be, will not result in a violation of the Rule, and (3) the City shall have
delivered copies of such opinion and amendment to each NRMSIR and the SID.

(©) To the extent any amendment to this Certificate results in a change in the
types of financial information or operating data provided pursuant to this Certificate, the first
Annual Financial Information provided thereafter shall include a narrative explanation of the
reasons for the amendment and the impact of the change.

(d) If an amendment is made to the accounting principles to be followed in
preparing financial statements, the Annual Financial Information for the year in which the
change is made shall present a comparison between the financial statements or information
prepared on the basis of the new accounting principles and those prepared on the basis of the
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former accounting principles. Such comparison shall include a qualitative and, to the extent
reasonably feasible, quantitative discussion of the differences in the accounting principles and
the impact of the change in the accounting principles on the presentation of the financial
information. Notice of any such amendment shall be provided by the City to (i) either the MSRB
or each NRMSIR; and (ii) the SID.

SECTION 4.3  Benefit; Third-Party Beneficiaries; Enforcement. (a) The
provisions of this Certificate shall constitute a contract with and inure solely to the benefit of the
holders from time to time of the Bonds. Beneficial owners of the Bonds shall be third-party
beneficiaries of this Certificate.

(a) Except as provided in this subsection (b), the provisions of this Certificate
shall create no rights in any person or entity. The obligations of the City to comply with the
provisions of this Certificate shall be enforceable by the holders of the Bonds, including
beneficial owners thereof. The rights of the holders of the Bonds to enforce the provisions of
this Certificate shall be limited solely to a right, by action in mandamus or for specific
performance, to compel performance of the City’s obligations under this Certificate and the
Resolution. In consideration of the third-party beneficiary status of beneficial owners of the
Bonds pursuant to subsection (a) of this Section 4.3, beneficial owners shall be deemed to be
holders of the Bonds for purposes of this subsection (b).

(b) Any failure by the City to perform in accordance with this Certificate shall
not constitute a default under the Resolution and any rights and remedies provided by the
Resolution upon the occurrence of a default shall not apply to any such failure.

(©) This Certificate shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the
laws of the State, and any suits and actions arising out of this Certificate shall be instituted in a
court of competent jurisdiction in the State; provided, however, that to the extent this Certificate
addresses matters of federal securities laws, including the Rule, this Certificate shall be
construed in accordance with such federal securities laws and official interpretations thereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Certificate as of the
date first above written.

CITY OF MILWAUKEE, WISCONSIN

By:

Comptroller
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EXHIBIT A
to Continuing Disclosure Certificate

Filing information relating to the Nationally Recognized Municipal Securities
Information Repositories approved by the Securities and Exchange Commission (subject to

change):

Bloomberg Municipal Repository

100 Business Park Drive

Skillman, New Jersey 08558
Telephone: (609) 279-3225

Fax: (609) 279-5962

E-mail address: munis@bloomberg.com

DPC Data Inc.

One Executive Drive

Fort Lee, NJ 07024

Telephone: (201) 346-0701

Fax: (201) 947-0107

E-mail address: nrmsir@dpcdata.com

FT Interactive Data

Attention: NRMSIR

100 Williams Street

New York, New York 10038

Telephone: (212) 771-6899

Fax: (212) 771-7390 (secondary market
information)

(212) 771-7391 (primary market information)
E-mail address: NRMSIR@FTID.com

Standard & Poor’s J.J. Kenny Repository

55 Water Street, 45™ Floor

New York, New York 10041

Telephone: (212) 438-4595

Fax: (212) 438-3975

E-mail address: nrmsir_repository@sandp.com

An updated list of NRMSIRs may be found at the Securities and Exchange

Commission website (Www.sec.gov).
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Exhibit F
Financial Guaranty Insurance

.
Company FGIC

125 Park Avenue
New York, NY 10017
(212) 312-3000

(800) 352-0001

A GE Capitai Company

Municipal Bond
New Issue Insurance Policy

Issuer: Policy Number:

Control Number: 0010001

Bonds: Premi@
&

Financial Guaranty Insurance Company (“Financial
consideration of the payvment of the premium and terms of this Policy, hereby unconditionally and
irrevocably agrees to pay to State Street B Company, N.A., or its successor, as its agent {the
“Fiscal Agent™), for the benefit of Boo { tiyffortion of the principal and interest on the above-described
debt obligations (the “Bonds™) which 1Z\become Due for Payment but shall be unpaid by reason of
Nonpayment by the Issuer,

New York stock insurance company, in

Financial Guaranty will make such payments to the Fiscal Agent on the date such principal or interest becomes
Due for Payment or on the Business Day next following the day on which Financial Guaranty shall have
received Notice of Nonpayment, whichever is later. The Fiscal Agent will disburse to the Bondholder the face
amount of principal and interest which is then Due for Payment but is unpaid by reason of Nonpayment by the
Issuer but only upon receipt by the Fiscal Agent, in form reasonably satisfactory to it, of (i) evidence of the
Bondholder's right to receive payment of the principal or interest Due for Payment and (ii) evidence, including
any appropriate instruments of assignment, that all of the Bondhelder’s rights to payment of such principal or
interest Due for Payment shall thereupon vest in Financial Guaranty. Upen such disbursement, Financial
Guaranty shall become the owner of the Bond, appurtenant coupon or right 1o payment of principal or interest
on such Bond and shall be fully subrogated to all of the Bondholder's rights thereunder, including the
Bondholder’s nght to payment thereof.

This Policy is nen-cancellable for any reason. The premium on this Policy is not refundable for any reason,
including the payment of the Bonds prier to their maturity. This Policy does not insure against loss of any
prepayment premium which may at any time be payable with respect to any Bond.

As used herein, the term “Bondholder™ means, as to a particular Bond, the person other than the Issuer who, at
the time of Nonpayment, is entitled under the terms of such Bond to payment thereof. “Due for Payment”
means, when referring to the principal of a Bend, the stated maturity date thereof or the date on which the same
shall have been duly called for mandatory sinking fund redemption and does not refer to any earlier date on
which payment {s due by reason of call for redemption (other than by mandatory sinking fund redemption),
acceleration or other advancement of maturity and means, when referring to interest on a Bond, the stated date

FGIC is a registered service mark used by Financial Guaranty fnsurance Company under license from its parent company, FGIC Corporation.
Form 9000 (10:93) Page | of 2




Financial Guaranty Insurance N
Company G C
125 Park Avenue ' F ' :
New York, NY 10017

(212) 312-3000
(800) 352-0001

A GE Capital Company

Municipal Bond
New Issue Insurance Policy

for payment of interest. “Nonpayment” in respect of 2 Bond means the failure of the [ssuer to have provided
sufficient funds to the paying agent for payment in full of all principal and interest Due for Payment on such
Bond. “Notice™ means telephonic or telegraphic notice, subsequently confirmed in writing, or written notice by
registered or certified mail, from a Bondholder or a paying ageny fo\ the Bonds to Financial Guaranty.
“Business Day” means any day other than 2 Saturday, Sunday or nwhich the Fiscal Agent is authorized
by law to remain closed.

In Witness Whereof, Financial Guaranty has ca his wbe affixed with its corporate seal and to be
signed by its duly authorized officer in facsiggjl ¢ effective and binding upon Financial Guaranty by
virtue of the countersignature of its duly %t e resentative.

President
Effective Date: Authorized Representative

State Street Bank and Trust Company, N.A., acknowledges that it has agreed to perform the duties of Fiscal
Agent under this Policy.

7

Authorized Officer

FGIC is a registered service mark used by Financial Guaranty Insurance Company under license from its parent company, FGIC Corparation.
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Financial Guaranty Insurance .
Company G

125 Park Avenue F IC
New York, NY 10017

(212) 312-3060
(800) 352-0001

A GE Capitat Company

Endorsement
To Financial Guaranty Insurance Company
Insurance Policy

Policy Number: Control Number:  0G1000]

o\

It is further understood that the term “Nonpayment™ in respect

interest made to a Bondholder by or on behalf of the issu,

Bondholder pursuant to the United States BankruptG
*juripic

nd which has been recovered from such

ﬁ@‘i includes any payment of principal or

final, nonappealable order of a court having corr%;

NOTHING HEREIN SHALL BE CON WAIVE, ALTER, REDUCE OR AMEND COVERAGE
IN ANY OTHER SECTION OF THE P . [F FOUND CONTRARY TC THE POLICY LANGUAGE,
THE TERMS OF THIS ENDORSEMENT SUPERSEDE THE POLICY LANGUAGE.

In Witness Whereof, Financial Guaranty has caused this Endorsement to be affixed with its corporate seal and
to be signed by its duly authorized officer in facsimile to become effective and binding upon Financial Guaranty
by virtue of the countersignature of its duly authorized representative.

President
Effective Date: Authorized Representative

Acknowledged as of the Effective Date written above:

Authorized Officer
State Street Bank and Trust Company, N.A., as Fiscal Agent

FGIC is a registered service mark used by Financizl Guaranty [nsurance Company under license fTom its parent company. FGIC Corporalion.

Form E-G032 {10/93% Page 1 of 1
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	Definitions
	Definitions.  The following terms used in this Certificate shall have the following respective meanings:
	“Annual Financial Information” means, collectivel
	“Audited Financial Statements” means the annual f
	“Counsel” means Hawkins, Delafield & Wood and Qua
	“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting princi
	“Material Event” means any of the following event
	principal and interest payment delinquencies;
	non-payment related defaults;
	unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;
	unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;
	substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;
	adverse tax opinions or events affecting the tax-exempt status of the Bonds;
	modifications to rights of Bondholders;
	Bond calls other than scheduled mandatory sinking fund redemptions;
	defeasances;
	release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds; and
	rating changes.

	“Material Event Notice” means notice of a Materia
	“MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking 
	“NRMSIR” means, at any time, a then�existing nat�
	“Official Statement” means the “final official st
	“Rule” means Rule 15c2�12 promulgated by the SEC�
	“SEC” means the United States Securities and Exch
	“SID” means, at any time, a then�existing State �
	“State” means the State of Wisconsin.
	“Unaudited Financial Statements” means the same a
	“Underwriter” means ABN AMRO Incorporated, as the


	The Undertaking
	Purpose.  This Certificate shall constitute a written undertaking for the benefit of the holders of the Bonds, and is being executed and delivered solely to assist the Underwriter in complying with paragraph (b)(5) of the Rule.
	Annual Financial Information.   The City shall pr
	
	
	The City shall provide, in a timely manner, notice of any failure of the City to provide the Annual Financial Information by the date specified in subsection (a) above to each NRMSIR, to the MSRB and to the SID.



	Audited Financial Statements.  If not provided as
	Notices of Material Events.    If a Material Eve
	
	
	Upon any legal defeasance of the Bonds, the City shall provide notice of such defeasance to each NRMSIR, to the MSRB and to the SID, which notice shall state whether the Bonds to be defeased have been defeased to maturity or to redemption and the timing



	Additional Disclosure Obligations.  The City acknowledges and understands that other federal and State laws, including but not limited to the Securities Act of 1933 and SEC Rule 10b-5 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, may apply to th
	Additional Information.  Nothing in this Certificate shall be deemed to prevent the City from disseminating any other information, using the means of dissemination set forth in this Certificate or any other means of communication, or including any other
	No Previous Non-Compliance.  The City represents that since July 3, 1995, it has not failed to comply in any material respect with any previous undertaking in a written contract or agreement specified in paragraph (b)(5)(i) of the Rule.

	Operating Rules
	Reference to Other Documents. It shall be suffici
	Submission of Information.  Annual Financial Information may be provided in one document or multiple documents, and at one time or in part from time to time.
	Material Event Notices.  Each Material Event Notice shall be so captioned and shall prominently state the title, date and CUSIP numbers of the Bonds.
	Transmission of Information and Notices.  Unless 

	Termination, Amendment and Enforcement
	Termination.
	
	
	The City’s obligations under this Certificate sha
	This Certificate or any provision hereof shall be



	Amendment.
	
	
	This Certificate may be amended, by written certi
	In addition to subsection \(a\) above, this Ce�
	To the extent any amendment to this Certificate results in a change in the types of financial information or operating data provided pursuant to this Certificate, the first Annual Financial Information provided thereafter shall include a narrative explan
	If an amendment is made to the accounting principles to be followed in preparing financial statements, the Annual Financial Information for the year in which the change is made shall present a comparison between the financial statements or information pr



	Benefit; Third�Party Beneficiaries; Enforcement.�
	
	
	Except as provided in this subsection (b), the provisions of this Certificate shall create no rights in any person or entity.  The obligations of the City to comply with the provisions of this Certificate shall be enforceable by the holders of the Bond
	Any failure by the City to perform in accordance with this Certificate shall not constitute a default under the Resolution and any rights and remedies provided by the Resolution upon the occurrence of a default shall not apply to any such failure.
	This Certificate shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State, and any suits and actions arising out of this Certificate shall be instituted in a court of competent jurisdiction in the State; provided, however, that to the








